### UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE MINAS GERAIS programa de pós-graduação em saneamento, meio ambiente e recursos hídricos

# IDENTIFICATION, OCCURRENCE, ENVIRONMENTAL AND HUMAN HEALTH RISK OF PHENOLIC COMPOUNDS IN AQUEOUS MATRIX

Ramatisa Ladeia Ramos

Belo Horizonte 2019

Ramatisa Ladeia Ramos

## IDENTIFICATION, OCCURRENCE, ENVIRONMENTAL AND HUMAN HEALTH RISK OF PHENOLIC COMPOUNDS IN AQUEOUS MATRIX

Dissertação apresentada ao Programa de Pós-Graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais como requisito parcial à obtenção do título de Mestre em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos.

Área de Concentração: Meio Ambiente

Linha de Pesquisa: Caracterização, prevenção e controle da poluição

Orientadora: Dr. Míriam Cristina Santos Amaral Moravia

Co orientadora: Dr. Lucilaine Valéria de Sousa Santos

Belo Horizonte Escola de Engenharia da UFMG 2019 Ramatisa Ladeia Ramos

## IDENTIFICATION, OCCURRENCE, ENVIRONMENTAL AND HUMAN HEALTH RISK OF PHENOLIC COMPOUNDS IN AQUEOUS MATRIX

Master thesis presented to the Post-Graduate Program in Sanitation, Environment and Water Resources of the Federal University of Minas Gerais as a partial requirement to obtain the title of Master in Sanitation, Environment and Water Resources.

Focus area: Environment Studies

Research line: Characterization, prevention and control of pollution

Advisor: Dr. Sc. Míriam Cristina Santos Amaral Moravia

Co-advisor: Dr. Lucilaine Valéria de Sousa Santos

Belo Horizonte Escola de Engenharia da UFMG 2019

R175i	Ramos, Ramatisa Ladeia. Identification, occurrence, environmental and human health risk of phenolic compounds in aqueous matrix [recurso eletrônico] / Ramatisa Ladeia Ramos 2019. 1 recurso online (xii 140 f. :, color.) : pdf.
	Orientadora: Míriam Cristina Santos Amaral Moravia. Coorientadora: Lucilaine Valéria de Sousa Santos
	Dissertação (mestrado) - Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Escola de Engenharia.
	Anexos: f. 125-134.
	Bibliografia: f. 135-140. Exigências do sistema: Adobe Acrobat Reader.
	<ol> <li>Engenharia sanitária - Teses. 2. Meio ambiente - Teses.</li> <li>Cromatografia a gás - Teses. 4. Águas superficiais - Teses. 5. Avaliação de riscos – Teses. I. Moravia, Míriam Cristina Santos Amaral. II. Santos, Lucilaine Valéria de Sousa. III. Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais. Escola de Engenharia. VI. Título.</li> </ol>
	CDU: 628(043)

Ficha catalográfica: Biblioteca Profº Mário Werneck, Escola de Engenharia da UFMG



UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DE MINAS GERAIS Escola de Engenharia Programa de Pós-Graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos Avenida Antônio Carlos, 6627 - 4º andar - 31270-901 - Belo Horizonte – BRASIL Telefax: 55 (31) 3409-1882 - posgrad@desa.ufmg.br http://www.smarh.eng.ufmg.br

#### FOLHA DE APROVAÇÃO

Identification, Occurrence, Environmental And Human Health Risk Of Phenolic Compounds In Aqueous Matrix

#### RAMATISA LADEIA RAMOS

Dissertação defendida e aprovada pela banca examinadora constituída pelos Senhores:

Miriam ES Amoral Morania Profa MIRIAM CRISTINA SANTOS AMARAL MORAVIA hudane vaina de faira fantes

Profa LUCILAINE VALÉRIA DE SOUZA SANTOS

barrely acura borny

Profa LISÉTE CELINA LANGE

Adriana Aiken Olea\_\_\_\_\_ Profa Adriana Akemi Okuma

Belo Ruit Prof. BRUNO EDUARDO LOBO BAETA

Aprovada pelo Colegiado do PG SMARH

Prof. Antonio Teixeira de Matos Coordenador

Versão Final aprovada por

Mirism ES Amoral Morania

Prof<sup>a</sup>. Miriam Cristina Santos Amaral Moravia Orientadora

Belo Horizonte, 13 de março de 2019.

"Por vezes sentimos que aquilo que fazemos não é senão uma gota de água no mar. Entretanto o mar seria menor se lhe faltasse uma gota."

Madre Teresa de Calcutá

### Acknowledgment

God, almighty FATHER, for enlightening my ways and empowers me in all work. "The Lord is my shepherd, I have everything I need ..." (Psalm 23).

I thank my family and friends for all the encouragement, love and unconditional support. My mother, Délia, who I have extreme admiration and always encouraged me to fight for my dreams. I am blessed to have you in my life! To my brother, Júlio Ramissés, for all advices and motivation. My boyfriend and friend, Enrique, for the words of affection and incentive even with the distant. *In memorium*, I would like to express my gratitude to José, this work is for you dad!

To Dr. Míriam, for her dedication, patience, friendship, trust and opportunity to learn with a such great professor. Thank you to encouraging me and making me believe in my potential!

For all collaboration, I would like to thank Dr. Lucilaine. My friend Luiza and Bárbara who has always been available to help me, sharing her knowledge and support. You were wonderful to me especially in my first steps at DESA.

I would like to thank Victor, Yuri, Mateus and Fernanda for the help with all the tests I did, for contributing so much with this work. Without you, I wouldn't be able to accomplish this study. And also, the support of Amanda, Eduarda, Priscila, Gabriel, Cecília, Bia, Cíntia, Marina and Clara in some development stages of this project.

To all GEAPS colleagues, co-workers from the 4544 and 4542 lab and the technical Gabriel and Eriko, who always helped me with little favors that made a huge difference.

UFMG and DESA, its professors, postgraduate classmates, management, administration and technicians for professional preparation, personal growth and the great moments I had in these years of studies.

CAPES and FAPEMIG for the scholarship granted and FUNDEP for the financing the project.

PUC-Minas for all support with analyzes and the technique Thaís for her attention.

All water treatment plants that provided the superficial water, the general services of UFMG and the driver Walney for always been available for the adventures of collect the water.

FUNED and Otávio for the availability and help with the standards. The Chemical Analysis Laboratory (LAQ) of DEMET/UFMG for conducting some analysis.

Finally, thanks to all who directly or indirectly contributed to the conclusion of this research. "All paths are magical if they lead us into our dreams".

#### **RESUMO**

Nos últimos anos a ocorrência de micropoluentes, como os compostos fenólicos, tem se tornado uma preocupação em todo mundo devido à complexidade dos compostos e ao risco para o meio ambiente e para saúde humana. Dessa forma, o presente trabalho teve como objetivo investigar a ocorrência de 17 compostos fenólicos em águas superficiais e uma água tratada em estação de tratamento de água convencional (WTP). Além disso, foi realizada avaliação de risco ambiental (coeficiente de risco - HQ) e para a saúde humana (margem de exposição - MOE) desses compostos na água bruta e sua redução pelo processo de tratamento convencional e pela destilação por membrana de contato direto (DCMD). A metodologia para a quantificação dos fenóis baseou-se na técnica de extração em fase sólida (SPE) (cartucho C18) seguida por cromatografia gasosa com detector por ionização de chama (FID). Os ensaios demonstraram que houve influência da matriz na eficiência da SPE, mas o grau de recuperação para todos compostos fenólicos foi superior a 50% e houve maior recuperação dos compostos hidrofóbicos. Em geral, o método analítico utilizado foi capaz de determinar os fenóis nas amostras apresentando boa repetitividade, precisão, sensibilidade e limites de quantificação e detecção compatíveis com os apresentados na literatura. Dos 17 compostos fenólicos analisados 16 foram encontrados nas amostras coletadas no ano de monitoramento. Em relação à eficiência de remoção da WTP, ela não foi capaz de remover completamente os micropoluentes e, ao contrário, foi responsável pela geração de novas substâncias. Em geral, a avaliação de risco realizada para os compostos na água superficial foi altamente tóxica a qualquer nível trófico e apresentou um risco significativo para a saúde humana. Posteriormente, os resultados da redução do risco pela WTP não foram efetivos, visto a alta taxa de risco para a maioria dos compostos. No que se refere ao desempenho da DCMD, o fluxo de permeado ao longo do tempo teve uma queda de aproximadamente 0,7, sendo recomendado trabalhar com uma taxa de recuperação antes do decaimento do fluxo (RR <63%) para evitar incrustações e perda de desempenho. Porém, a condutividade permaneceu constante indicando a ausência de impurezas iônicas no permeado. Apesar dessa diminuição no fluxo, as taxas de retenção dos compostos fenólicos na água bruta foram superiores a 80%. A redução do risco também foi avaliada para a DCMD, provando que a tecnologia tem potencial para a remoção desses compostos.

**Palavras-chave**: compostos fenólicos; cromatografia gasosa; águas superficiais; tratamento convencional; avaliação de risco; destilação por membrana de contato direto.

#### ABSTRACT

In the recent years the occurrence of micropollutants, such as phenolic compounds, has become a worldwide concern due to the complexity of the compounds and the risks to the environment and to human health. Thus, the present work had as objective to investigate the occurrence of 17 phenolic compounds in surface waters and a water treated by a conventional water treatment plant (WTP). In addition, the environmental risk (hazard quotient - HQ) and human health (margin of exposure - MOE) assessments of these compounds in raw water and their reduction by conventional treatment process and by direct contact membrane distillation (DCMD) were performed . The methodology for the quantification of phenols was based on the solid phase extraction technique (SPE) (C18 cartridge) followed by gas chromatography with flame ionization detector (FID). The tests showed that was matrix influence on the efficiency of the SPE, but the degree of recovery for all phenolic compounds was higher than 50% and there was a greater recovery of the hydrophobic compounds. In general, the analytical method used was able to determine the phenols in the samples presenting good repeatability, precision, sensitivity, limits of quantification and detection compatible with those presented in the literature. In between the 17 phenolic compounds analyzed, 16 were found in the samples collected during the monitoring year. Regarding the WTP removal efficiency, it was not able to completely remove the micropollutants and, on the contrary, was responsible for the generation of new compounds. In general, the risk assessment for the compounds in surface water was highly toxic at any trophic level and posed a significant risk to human health. Subsequently, the results of WTP risk reduction were not effective, since a high-risk rate for most compounds was found. Concerning the performance of DCMD, the permeate flux over time dropped with the ratio of approximately 0.7. It is recommended to work at a recovery rate equivalent to the point before the flow decay (RR < 63%) to prevent fouling and loss of performance. However, the conductivity remained constant indicating the absence of ionic impurities in the permeate. Despite this decrease in flow, the retention rates of the phenolic compounds in the raw water were greater than 80%. The risk reduction was also evaluated for DCMD, proving that the technology has potential to remove these compounds.

**Keywords:** phenolic compounds; gas chromatography; surface water; conventional treatment; risk assessment; direct contact membrane distillation.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIS	T OF FI	IGURES	viii
LIS	T OF T	ABLES	X
LIS	T OF A	BBREVIATIONS, ACRONYMS AND SYMBOLS	1
1 (	СНАРТ	'ER I	6
1.1	BACK	GROUND	7
1.2	JUSTI	FICATION	18
1.3	OBJEC	CTIVE	19
	1.3.1	General objective	19
	1.3.2	Specific objectives	19
1.4	DOCU	MENT STRUCTURE	19
2 (	СНАРТ	ER II	32
2.1	INTRO	DUCTION	33
2.2	MATE	RIALS AND METHODS	35
	2.2.1	Sample collection	35
	2.2.2	Physicochemical characterization	37
	2.2.3	Phenolic compounds assess	37
	2.2.4	Reagent and standards	38
	2.2.5	Solid phase extraction	38
	2.2.6	Identification and quantification of phenolic compounds	38
	2.2.7	Validation of the analytical methodology	39
2.3	RESUI	LTS AND DISCUSSION	44
	2.3.1	Validation of SPE and chromatographic methodology	44
	2.3.2	Physical-chemical characterization of the samples	53
	2.3.3	Identification and quantification of phenolic compounds	55
2.4	CONC	LUSION	59

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

v

3 (	СНАРТ	ER III	69
3.1	INTRO	DUCTION	70
3.2	MATE	RIALS AND METHODS	72
	3.2.1	Sampling	72
	3.2.2	Selected compounds for monitoring	72
	3.2.3	Water characterization	73
	3.2.4	Instrumental analysis	73
	3.2.5	Risk assessment	74
3.3	RESUI	LTS AND DISCUSSION	75
	3.3.1	Quality of the studied waters	75
	3.3.2	Monitoring of phenolic compounds in the river and in the treated water by	
	conver	ntional process	80
	3.3.3	Environmental and human health risk assessment	88
3.4	CONC	LUSION	91
4 (	СНАРТ	ER IV	99
<b>4 (</b> 4.1	C <b>HAPT</b> INTRO	<b>ER IV</b>	<b>99</b> 100
<b>4</b> 4.1 4.2	C <b>HAPT</b> INTRO MATE	ER IV DUCTION RIALS AND METHODS	<b>99</b> 100 102
<b>4</b> 4.1 4.2	CHAPT INTRO MATE <i>4.2.1</i>	TER IV DDUCTION RIALS AND METHODS Sampling	<b>99</b> 100 102 102
<b>4 4</b> .1 4.2	CHAPT INTRO MATE 4.2.1 4.2.2	TER IV DDUCTION RIALS AND METHODS Sampling Physicochemical characterization of the water and flows	<b>99</b> 100 102 <i>102</i> <i>103</i>
<b>4 4</b> .1 4.2	CHAPT INTRO MATE 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3	TER IV DDUCTION RIALS AND METHODS Sampling Physicochemical characterization of the water and flows Selected compounds and instrumental analysis	<b>99</b> 100 102 102 103 103
<b>4 4</b> .1 4.2	CHAPT INTRO MATE 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4	<b>ER IV</b> DUCTION RIALS AND METHODS Sampling Physicochemical characterization of the water and flows Selected compounds and instrumental analysis Prior evaluation of DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds	99 100 102 103 103 104
<b>4 (</b> 4.1 4.2	CHAPT INTRO MATE 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5	TER IV DDUCTION RIALS AND METHODS Sampling Physicochemical characterization of the water and flows Selected compounds and instrumental analysis Prior evaluation of DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds Risk assessment	99 100 102 102 103 103 104 106
<b>4 4</b> .1 4.2 4.3	CHAPT INTRO MATE 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 RESUI	ER IV DUCTION RIALS AND METHODS Sampling Physicochemical characterization of the water and flows Selected compounds and instrumental analysis Prior evaluation of DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds Risk assessment	
<ul> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> </ul>	CHAPT INTRO MATE 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 RESUI 4.3.1	ER IV DUCTION RIALS AND METHODS Sampling Physicochemical characterization of the water and flows Selected compounds and instrumental analysis Prior evaluation of DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds Risk assessment TS AND DISCUSSION Flux and water quality	99 100 102 102 103 103 104 106 107 107
<ul> <li>4</li> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> </ul>	CHAPT INTRO MATE 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 RESUI 4.3.1 4.3.2	<b>ER IV</b> DUCTION         RIALS AND METHODS         Sampling         Physicochemical characterization of the water and flows         Selected compounds and instrumental analysis         Prior evaluation of DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds         Risk assessment         TS AND DISCUSSION         Flux and water quality         DCMD performance	99 100 102 102 103 103 104 106 107 107 108
<ul> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> <li>4.3</li> </ul>	CHAPT INTRO MATE 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 RESUI 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3	<b>ER IV DDUCTION RIALS AND METHODS</b> Sampling         Physicochemical characterization of the water and flows         Selected compounds and instrumental analysis         Prior evaluation of DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds         Risk assessment         LTS AND DISCUSSION         Flux and water quality         DCMD performance         DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds	99 100 102 102 103 103 104 106 107 107 108 109
<ul> <li>4</li> <li>4.1</li> <li>4.2</li> </ul>	CHAPT INTRO MATE 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 4.2.5 RESUI 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4	<b>ER IV</b> DDUCTION         RIALS AND METHODS         Sampling         Physicochemical characterization of the water and flows         Selected compounds and instrumental analysis         Prior evaluation of DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds         Risk assessment	99 100 102 102 103 103 103 104 106 107 107 107 108 109 111

4.4 CONCLUSION	
5 CHAPTER V	
5.1 MAIN RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS	
6 ANNEX	

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Main routes of introduction of phenolic compounds into the environment
Figure 1.2: DCMD configuration
Figure 1.3: Research structure    20
Figure 2.1: Schematic of sampling points
Figure 2.2: Peaks parameters used to calculate the resolution
<b>Figure 2.3:</b> Peaks parameters used to calculate the number of theoretical plates
Figure 2.4: Peak parameters used to calculate peak tailing
Figure 2.5: Compounds recovery in the SPE for the different solvents tested
<b>Figure 2.6:</b> Compounds recovery in the SPE for the different matrices
Figure 3.1: Schematic of sampling points    72
<b>Figure 3.2:</b> pH of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring76
Figure 3.3: Turbidity of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring77
<ul><li>Figure 3.3: Turbidity of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring77</li><li>Figure 3.4: True color of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring78</li></ul>
<ul><li>Figure 3.3: Turbidity of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring77</li><li>Figure 3.4: True color of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring</li></ul>
<ul> <li>Figure 3.3: Turbidity of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring77</li> <li>Figure 3.4: True color of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring78</li> <li>Figure 3.5: Apparent color of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring 78</li> <li>Figure 3.6: UV absorption of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring 79</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Figure 3.3: Turbidity of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring77</li> <li>Figure 3.4: True color of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring78</li> <li>Figure 3.5: Apparent color of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring 78</li> <li>Figure 3.6: UV absorption of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring 79</li> <li>Figure 3.7: Alkalinity of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring</li></ul>

Figure 3.9: Removal of each phenolic compound per month by the conventional water
treatment
Figure 3.11: Overall risk assessment
Figure 4.1: Semi-pilot DMCD unit: a) Schematic diagram and b) Unit photo104
Figure 4.2: Permeate flux and conductivity, feed temperature, flow rate set at 1.7 L min <sup>-1</sup> for
DCMD preliminary test on phenols removal108
Figure 4.3: Decay of the flow by time with distilled and raw water, the feed temperature of 60
°C, with flow rate set at 1.7 L min <sup>-1</sup> 109
Figure 4.4: Overall removal of phenolic compounds in DCMD, mass distribution, mass loss
and $pK_H / \log D$ ratio
Figure 4.5: Overall risk assessment

### LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 1.1:</b> Occurrence of phenolic compounds in different parts of the world4
<b>Table 1.2:</b> National and international standards for phenolic compounds
<b>Table 1.3:</b> Studies related to MD in the retention of phenolic compounds       13
<b>Table 1.4:</b> Articles related to risk assessments offered by phenolic compounds
<b>Table 2.1:</b> Characteristics of the collection sites
<b>Table 2.2:</b> Physicochemical methodology for the sample's characterization
<b>Table 2.3:</b> Parameters and correlation coefficient of the calibration curves used in the sample's quantification
<b>Table 2.4:</b> Resolution, peak tailing and theoretical plates for the analyzed compounds49
<b>Table 2.5:</b> Quantification limit of the method (QLM), detection limit of the method (DLM), and precision for the considered compounds
<b>Table 2.6:</b> Physicochemical parameters for the sample collected in 2018
<b>Table 2.7:</b> Concentration average of phenolic compounds found in RW1, RW2, RW3, RW4, and WT1 water samples collected in 2018
<b>Table 3.1:</b> Concentration analysis of phenolic compounds monitored for one year in a raw and a treated water from Brazil
<b>Table 3.2:</b> Environmental and human health risk assessment of phenolic compounds in the raw water and treated water by conventional process
<b>Table 4.1:</b> Membrane characteristics based on supplier data
Table 4.2: Characteristics of raw water and DCMD permeate

Table 4.3: Removal of identified phenolic compounds in raw water by D	CMD with 70% of
permeate recovery	110
Table 4.4: Environmental and human health risk assessment of Phenolic control	mpounds in the raw
water and DCMD permeate	

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS, ACRONYMS AND SYMBOLS

- $A_m$  Membrane Area
- ABNT Associação Brasileira de Normas Técnicas
- ACN Acetonitrile
- AF Factor Assessment
- AGMD Air Gap Membrane Distillation
- ANVISA Agência Nacional de Vigilância Sanitária
- APHA Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater
- BPA Bisphenol A
- $\label{eq:cf-concentration} CF-Concentration\ Factor$
- CONAMA Conselho Nacional do Meio Ambiente
- CV Coefficient of Variation
- DBP Disinfection Byproducts
- DCM-Dichloromethane
- DCMD Direct Contact Membrane Distillation
- DLM Detection Limit of the Method
- DWEL Safe Exposure Level
- EA-Ethyl Acetate

ECD – Electron Capture Detector

- EC50 Mean Effect Concentration
- EPA Environmental Protection Agency (United States)
- ERA Environmental Risk Assessment
- FAPEMIG Fundação de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado de Minas Gerais
- FID Flame Ionization Detector
- GC Gas Chromatography
- HPLC High Performance Liquid Chromatography
- HQ Hazard Quotient
- HRA Human Health Risk Assessment
- ICH International Council for Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceutical Products for Human Use
- INMETRO Instituto Nacional de Metrologia, Qualidade e Tecnologia
- ITD Ion Trap Detector
- $J_0$  Initial Permeate Flux
- J Permeate Flux
- LC/APCI Liquid Chromatography Atmospheric Pressure Chemical Ionization
- LC50 Lethal Concentration 50
- LDO/HS Layered Double Oxide Hollow Spheres

#### LEP - Liquid Entry Pressure

- LLE Liquid Liquid Extraction
- LOAEL Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level
- LSE Liquid Solid Extraction
- $m_d$  Distillate Mass
- MBR Membrane Bioreactor
- MD Membrane Distillation
- MDL Method Detection Limits
- MEC Measured Environmental Concentration
- MEF Matrix Effect Correction
- MeOH-Methanol
- MOE Margin Of Exposure
- MS/SIM Mass Spectrometry in Selective Ion Monitoring Mode
- MPV Maximum Permitted Value
- NOAEL No Observed Adverse Effect Level
- NOEC No Observed Effect Concentration
- NPD Nitrogen and Phosphorus Detector
- PNEC Predicted No Effect Concentration

PPESK – Polypiperazine Amide

- PTFE-Polytetra fluoroethylene
- PVDF Polyvinylidene Difluoride
- QLM Quantification Limit of the Method
- R-Resolution
- RD Recovery Degree
- RR Recovery Rate
- RSD Relative Standard Derivation
- RW-Raw Water
- SPE Solid Phase Extraction
- SPME Solid Phase Microextraction
- STS Sewage Treatment Station
- TDI Total Daily Intake
- TN Total Nitrogen
- TOC Total Organic Carbon
- $TS-Total\ Solids$
- TSS Total Suspended Solids
- TW-Treated Water
- VMD Vacuum Membrane Distillation
- WHO World Health Organization

- WTP-Water Treatment Plant
- $\alpha$  Separation Factor
- 2CP 2-Chlorophenol
- 2MP-2-Methylphenol
- 2NP-2-Nitrophenol
- 24DMP 2,4-Dimethylphenol
- 24 DCP 2, 4-Dichlorophenol
- 26DCP 2,6-Dichlorophenol
- 234TCP 2,3,4-Trichlorophenol
- 235TCP 2,3,5-Trichlorophenol
- 2356TCP 2,3,5,6-Tetrachlorophenol
- 2346TCP 2,3,4,6-Tetrachlorophenol
- $246 TCP-2,\!4,\!6\text{-}Trichlorophenol$
- $245 TCP-2,\!4,\!5\text{-}Trichlorophenol$
- 345TCP 3,4,5-Trichlorophenol
- 3MP 3-Methylphenol
- 4C3MP-4-Chloro-3-methylphenol

## **CHAPTER I**

## THEME PRESENTATION

#### 1.1 BACKGROUND

The quality of water resources is deteriorating over time due to the continuous addition of undesirable chemicals from sewage, industrial dumping and environmental disasters (BASHEER, 2018), which reduce the resilience of the entire watershed and increase the bioavailability of these substances (FERNANDES et al., 2016). Studies have given more attention to emerging contaminants, such as pharmaceutical compounds, pesticides, hormones and industrial residues, as phenolic compounds (MAGI et al., 2018). This can be attributed to the analytical development of recent years. The phenolic substances were detected in water at concentrations of ng L<sup>-1</sup> and  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (FATTA - KASSINOS et al., 2011). However, they are very damaging, since they accumulate in living beings and can present chronic and even acute effects.

In addition, the presence of many pollutants could cause unexpected synergistic effects (MAGI et al., 2018). The phenolic compounds together with classical pollutants, such as heavy metals, are widespread in the environment and in the drinking water. However, their identification in the rivers are not simple, because the variations in the levels of chemical elements in water environments are affected by several factors, such as pH, dilution due to flow with other rivers, seasonal changes (wet and dry seasons), resuspension of sediments, among other physical-chemical variations (SEGURA et al., 2016). Therefore, very sensitive methodologies are required to detect them in water and the choice of appropriate preconcentration methods and analytical technique are crucial to obtain satisfactory results (RICHARDSON & TERNES, 2014).

A successful approach can be represented by the combination of passive sampling with sensitive analytical techniques, such as Solid Phase Extraction (SPE) and Gas Chromatography (GC). The SPE was introduced in 1976 (YOSHIMURA et al., 1976) to address the disadvantages presented by liquid-liquid extraction and is now the most popular method of sample preparation used in most routine analyzes. The main objectives of the SPE are concentration, analytes isolation and removal of interferents from the matrix. The concentration factor is obtained by the ratio of the initial sample volume in the cartridge to the final volume of the concentrated solution. The concentration can be increased by a factor of 100 to 5000, making qualitative and quantitative analysis of traces elements possible (JARDIM, 2010).

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

The determination of phenolic compounds in different sample matrices is generally performed using GC (WONG et al., 2003; SHAMSIPUR et al., 2016). GC is an analytical technique for separating components from a mixture, wherein a volatile liquid or gaseous substance is charged by a gaseous (inert) mobile phase onto a stationary phase inside a capillary column or a solid support. The technique has advantages as high efficiency in the separation of the analytes, high resolution and also high sensitivity (JÁUREGUI & GALCERAN, 2001). It can be coupled to high selectivity detectors such as the Electron Capture Detector (ECD), Nitrogen and Phosphorus Detector (NPD), Mass Spectrometry in Selective Ion Monitoring Mode (MS/SIM) and Flame Ionization Detector (FID) to aid in the identification of interest compounds. Several articles report the presence of phenolic compounds in aquatic environments and drinking water as shown in Table 1.1 (p. 4 - 6).

Compounds	Source	Analytical method	Concentration	Country	Refenrence
pentachlorophenol, trichlorophenol and dichlorophenol	water reservoir	GC/DCE	0.010 - 0.022 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Brazil	CARMO, 2000
trichlorophenols, tetrachlorophenols and pentachlorophenol	drinking water	GC/MS	0.008 - 0.238 ng mL <sup>-1</sup>	Brazil	SARTORI et. al, 2012
2,4-dichlorophenol, 2,4-dichlorophenol	drinking water and surface water	HPLC/UV; SPE (C18); acetonitrile	0.2 - 2.4 ug L <sup>-1</sup>	Canada	KUESENG & PAWLISZYN, 2013
bisphenol A	river water	HPL/MS; microwave assisted extraction	17.0 - 62.3 ng L <sup>-1</sup>	England	PETRIE et al., 2016
phenol, p-cresol, 2,3-dimethylphenol, 2,6- dimethylphenol, 2,5-dimethylphenol, 3,4- dichlorophenol, 3,5-dichlorophenol, 2,4- dichlorophenol and pentachlorophenol	influent of an urban wastewater treatment plant	GC/MS; SPME	0.055 - 2.1 ng mL <sup>-1</sup>	Spain	LLOMPART et al., 2002
pentachlorophenol, phenol and trichlorphenol	ground water and surface water	HPLC; LSE; methanol	0.1 - 5 ug L <sup>-1</sup>	Spain	PUIG & BARCELÓ, 1996
Pentachlorophenol, 2-chlorophenol, 2,6- dichlorophenol, 2,4-dimethylphenol, 2,4,5- trichlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol	Wasterwater treatment plant	GC/QqQ /MS/MS; SPE; dichloromethane	$0.04 - 0.2 \text{ ug } \text{L}^{-1}$	Spain	PADILLA- SÁNCHEZ et al., 2011
dimethylphenol, 2,6-dichlorophenol, 2,4- 3-methylphenol, 2,4-dibromophenol, 2,4,6- trichlorophenol	river water	HPLC; SPE (C <sub>18</sub> ); methanol and acetonitrile	0.12 - 2.04 ug L <sup>-1</sup>	Spain	JAUREGUI & GALCERAN, 1997
bisphenol A	Treated wastewater	GC/MS; stir bars	282 - 346 ng L <sup>-1</sup>	Spain	QUITANA et al., 2007
phenol, cresol, 2,4-dimethylphenol, 2,4- dichlorophenol, 4-chloro, 3-methylphenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol and pentachlorophenol	urban storm water and sewage effluent	GC/MS; LLE; dichloromethane	0.5 μg L <sup>-1</sup> - 114.0 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Australia	JENNINGS et al., 1996
phenol, 2-chlorophenol, 4-chloro-3- methylphenol, 2,4-dimethylphenol, 2,4-	lake water and ground water	GC/MS; stir bars	43 - 138 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Germany	MONTERO et al., 2005

Table 1.1: Occurrence of phenolic compounds in different parts of the world

Compounds	Source	Analytical method	Concentration	Country	Refenrence
dichlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol, pentachlorophenol					
phenol, m-cresol, p-cresol, 2-ethylphenol, 2- chlorophenol, 4-chloro-3-methylphenol, 2- nitrophenol, 4-nitrophenol, pentachlorophenol	surface water	CG/MS; SPE ( polypropylene); Methanol, tetrahydrofuran and acetonitrile	7.8 - 0.03 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Germany	SCHMIDT- BAUMLER et al., 1999
4-nonylphenol, 4-t-octylphenol, bisphenol and 2-hydroxybiphenyl	surface water	HRGC/LRMS adn GC/MS; SPE (ENV+); acetone	47 - 458 ng L <sup>-1</sup>	Germany	BOLZ et al., 2001
phenol, 4-methylphenol, 2-chlorophenol, 2,4- dichlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, 2,3,4,5-tetrachlorophenol and pentachlorophenol	surface water	GC/MS;SPE (C <sub>18</sub> ); diethyl ether and methylene chloride	7.07 - 0.02 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Poland	MICHALOWICZ et al., 2011
2,6-dichlorophenol, 2,3,6-trichlorophenol, pentachlorophenol, 2,4-dichlorophenol and 2,4,6-trichlorophenol	surface water	-	$0.02$ - $0.07~\mu g~L^{1}$	Netherlands	HOFMAN et al., 1997
2,4,6-trichlorophenol	river water	GC/MS and LC/APCI/MS; SPE; acetonitrile and dichloromethane	0.02 - 2.3 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Portugal	AZEVEDO el at., 2000
2-chlorophenol, 4-chloro-3-methylphenol, 2,4- dichlorophenol and 2,4,6-trichlorophenol	drinking water	GC/ECD and GC/ITD/MS; SPME	3.01 - 69.1 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Italy	BIANCHI et al., 2002
dinoseb, 2-nitrophenol, 4-nitrophenol and bisphenol A	river water	GC/MS/MS; SPE (Strata-X and C18); hexane, dichloromethane and ethyl acetate	<loq< td=""><td>Greece</td><td>TERZOPOULOU et al., 2015</td></loq<>	Greece	TERZOPOULOU et al., 2015
phenol and chlorophenols	river water	HPLC with amperometric detection; SPME	0.9 - 10.8 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Russia	FILIPOV et al.,2002
phenol, 2-chlorophenol, 2,4-dinitrophenol, 2- methyl-4,6-dinitrophenol, 4-nitrophenol	river water	HPLC; LDO-HSs	$0.12 - 0.59 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	Singapore	TANG et al., 2013

Compounds	Source	Analytical method	Concentration	Country	Refenrence
bisphenol A	surface water and drinking water	GC/MS ;SPE (C <sub>18</sub> ); acetone and hexane	1.3 - 215 ng L <sup>-1</sup>	Malaysia	SANTHI et al., 2012
4-chloro-3-methylphenol, m-cresol, p-cresol, o-cresol, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, 3,4,5- trichlorophenol, 2-nitrophenol	rivers	GC/MS; SPE (C <sub>18</sub> ); dichloromethane	35.9 - 1547 ng L <sup>-1</sup>	China	ZHONG et al., 2010
2-cresol, 2,4-xylenol, 2-sec-butylphenol, 2- naphthol, 3-cresol, p-chloro-m-xylenol, 4- cresol, 3-cresol, 2,3,6-trimethylphenol, phenol, nitrophenol and 2-biphenylol	rivers	GC/MS; SPE (C <sub>18</sub> ); dichloromethane	0.18 - 1355 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	China	WANG & WANG, 2018
2,4-dichlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol and pentachlorophenol	surface water	GC/MS; MDL and RSD; dichloromethane, ethyl acetate, acetone and methanol	1.1 - 28650.0 ng L <sup>-1</sup>	China	GAO et al., 2007
phenol	lake water	HPLC; LLE	35 ng mL <sup>-1</sup>	China	ZHANG et al., 2011
phenol, 2-chlorophenol, 2,4-dimethylphenol, 4-chloro,3-methylphenol, 2,4-dichlorophenol, 2,4,6-trichlorophenol, 2,3,4,6- tetrachlorophenol and, pentachlorophenol	river water	GC/MS; SPE (CDS); methanol	0.03 - 0.15 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Iran	FARAJI et al., 2012
bisphenol A	surface water	-	2.1 - 881 ng L <sup>-1</sup>	Canada, China, Germany, Greece and Korea	LUO et al., 2014

The concentrations of phenolic compounds vary greatly among the studies conducted depending on the compound properties and the analytical technique adopted. Considering the minimum concentration of phenolic compounds found as 1.3 ng L<sup>-1</sup> in Malaysia and the maximum value as 1,355,000 ng L<sup>-1</sup> in China, for drinking water and surface water respectively. Water containing phenolic compounds presents a serious problem due to its low biodegradability, high toxicity, persistence in the environment and carcinogenic properties (JIN et al., 2007). Thus, cause of great concern for all those involved in the production of drinking water due to the potentially adverse effects of these substances on human health, even at small concentrations (KENNEDY et al., 2007; KARABELAS et al., 2011; ACOSTA et al., 2018; ZHONG et al., 2018). Specifically, potential health hazards identified in toxicological and epidemiological studies include cancer, genetic malformations, damage to the immune system, protein degeneration, tissue erosion, central nervous system paralysis and damages the kidneys, liver and pancreas in humans (MERINI et al., 2007; MCKINLAY et al., 2008; MOHAMMADI & KAZEMI, 2014).

Phenols and their derivatives are introduced into the aquatic environment through natural degradation, agricultural practices and discharges of industrial effluents, such as rubber processing, glues and adhesives, resins, electrical components, plastics, steel, paper and cellulose, dyes, gas, textile, tannery, pharmaceutical and petroleum (JIN et al., 2007; WANG & WANG, 2018). In Figure 1.1 it is possible to verify a schematic diagram of the main routes that these compounds can be introduced in nature by human origin.



Figure 1.1: Main routes of introduction of phenolic compounds into the environment

\*STS (Sewage Treatment Station); WTS (Water Treatment Plant).

The occurrence of phenolic compounds in the aquatic environment has become a matter of international concern. Table 1.2 (p. 9) shows some phenolic compounds that already have maximum permitted concentration for surface and drinking water in the national Brazilian legislation and international legislation. The World Health Organization (WHO) has established a permissible concentration of phenolic content in drinking water of 1µg L<sup>-1</sup> (WHO, 2017) and because of their toxicity, phenolic compounds have been included in the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) list of priority compounds, which determines concentrations ranging from 0.03 µg L<sup>-1</sup> to 4,000 µg L<sup>-1</sup>, depending on the compound (EPA, 2015).

		National Legislation			International Legislation		
C l		CONAMA 357 <sup>(a)</sup>		Ordinance N° 2914 <sup>(b)</sup>	WHO <sup>(c)</sup>	EPA <sup>(d)</sup>	European Commission <sup>(e)</sup>
Compounds	Class I e II - Sweet water	Class I - Sweet water for fishing and cultivation of organisms	Class III - Sweet water	Water for human consumption	Water for human consumption	Humam health for the consumption of water + organims	water for human consumption
2-chlorophenol	0.1 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.1 μg L <sup>-1</sup>				30 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	
2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic	4 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	4 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	30 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	$30\mu g L^{-1}(2,4-D+2,4,5-T)$	$30 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	1300 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	
2,4,5- trichlorophenoxyacetic	2 µg L-1	2 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	2 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	$30 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}(2,4-D+2,4,5-T)$	0.009 mg L <sup>-1</sup>		
2,4,5- trichlorophenoxypropionic	$10 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	10 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	$10 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$			100 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	
2-methyl-4,6-dinitrophenol						2 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	
dinitrophenols						10 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	
2,4-dinitrophenol						10 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	
2,4-dimethylphenol						100 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	
2,4-dichlorophenol	0.3 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.3 μg L <sup>-1</sup>				10 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	
4-chloro-3-methylphenol						500 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	
2,4,6- trichlorophenol	0.01 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	2.4 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.01 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.2 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.2 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	1.5 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	
2,4,5- trichlorophenol						300 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	
pentachlorophenol	0.009 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	3.0 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.009 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.009 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.009 mg L <sup>-1</sup>	0.03 µg L <sup>-1</sup>	
polychlorinated biphenyls	0.001 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	$0.000064 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	$0.001 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$			$0.000064 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	
phenol	0.003 mg L <sup>-1*</sup>	0.01 mg L <sup>-1*</sup>	0.01 mg L <sup>-1*</sup>		1μg L <sup>-1</sup> (phenolic compounds)	$4000 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$	1μg L <sup>-1</sup> (phenolic compounds)

<b>TADIE 1.2.</b> National and international standards for phenolic compounds
---

<sup>(a)</sup>BRASIL, 2005;<sup>(b)</sup>BRASIL, 2011;<sup>(c)</sup>WHO, 2017;<sup>(d)</sup>EPA, 2019;<sup>(e)</sup>EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2006. \* total phenols - substances that react with 4-aminoantipyrine.

The European Union is in the process of revising the COUNCIL DIRECTIVE 98/83/EC - on the quality of water intended for human consumption, which has few established standards, but is intended to include 18 new or revised parameters such as emanating contaminants as three disinfection by-products and endocrine disrupting compounds such as bisphenol A (EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT, 2018). However, the legislation in general to regulate the concentration of phenolic compounds in water does not yet cover all the compounds that are found in surface and treated waters, which is still an important path to be achieved.

In this sense, the attention has been focused on identifying and removing these compounds from the environment to prevent their presence in drinking water. Different physical, chemical and biological methods, such as activated carbon adsorption, chemical oxidation and aerobic and anaerobic biological degradation, were used for the removal of phenols in water. However, these methods have many limitations, such as incomplete treatment, high cost, generation of toxic by-products and instability (JIN et al., 2007; MOHAMMADI & KAZEMI, 2014).

Studies done in Greece and Spain have shown that only about 68% of phenolic compounds are removed by effluent treatment processes (STASINAKIS et al., 2008; SANCHEZ-AVILA et al., 2009), while the rest ends up in the rivers letting the water treatment plants (WTP) in charge to remove them. In conventional WTP to remove these compounds would be necessary the optimization of chemical oxidation and / or the addition of activated carbon, being that the organic and inorganic matrices of the water greatly affect the performance of these processes. In many situations it is necessary to resort to unconventional techniques such as membrane technologies (ROSA et al., 2009).

The membrane processes are reliable and economically feasible to treat water with phenols and have many advantages such as low power consumption, high quality effluent, small ecological footprint, and easy scaling up with membrane modules (VILLEGAS et al., 2016). The most important membrane technologies used to remove these compounds from water and wastewater are extractive membrane bioreactors and hollow fiber membranes; photocatalytic membrane reactors; high-pressure membrane processes such as nanofiltration, reverse osmosis, and pervaporation; and membrane distillation (KHAZAALI et al., 2014; LOH et al., 2016; RAZA et al., 2018).

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

Membrane distillation (MD) has attracted attention to applications with more complex water and in different situations, in particular direct contact membrane distillation (DCMD), that produces high quality water, is a stable system and when associated with residual heat or renewable energy source, as solar power, the process cost decreases effectively (ASHOOR et al., 2016). The MD is a thermally driven separation process in which a hydrophobic microporous membrane separates a hot feed stream and a cold receiving phase (ALKHUDHIRI et al., 2012). The driving force of heat transport is the temperature gradient, which results in a water vapor pressure differential that causes the vapor transport through the membrane pores.

The main competitive advantage of MD is that distillation occurs below the normal boiling point of the feed solution (BANAT et al., 2007). The feed temperature may typically range from 60 to 90 °C (ASHOOR et al., 2016), although a temperature gradient around 30 °C is sufficient to promote separation. This separation method is based on the equilibrium between the vapor and liquid molecules of the liquid mixture (QATARISH et al., 2013). One of the most attractive features of MD technology is the theoretical rejection of 100% to non-volatile components, such as salts, inorganic compounds and macromolecules (THOMAS et al., 2017).

In addition, this technology can concentrate solutions to their saturation point without significant loss of permeate flux (FRANCIS et al., 2014). The main disadvantage of the MD process is the wettability of the membrane, which is due to three main factors, the surface tension of the process solution, the material, and the membrane structure. However, many researches are developing new membranes to overcome this disadvantage (El-BOURAWI et al., 2006; KHAYET & MATSUURA, 2011; SUSANTO, 2011).

Among the MD processes, there are variations how the vapor is recovered by the permeate side, since it migrated through the membrane. Figure 1.2 (p. 12) shows the configuration for DCMD. It being the oldest and most used MD process (ASHOOR et al., 2016), having liquid phases in direct contact with both sides of the membrane, where there is simultaneous heat and mass transfer determined by the heat flux and transfer coefficients in the feed and permeate sides (QATAR et al., 2008; PHATTANAANA et al., 2003). This configuration is easy to operate, easy to use, is simpler, does not require the use of an external condenser in the permeate gathering, and if it operated in the correct conditions can obtain a high flow (KHAYET & MATSUURA, 2011; EL BOURAWI et al., 2006).



It is noteworthy, that in the DCMD configuration, heat losses through conduction in the membrane matrix are greater than other configurations due to the existence of a continuous contact between the membrane surfaces and the hot feed and cold permeate (QATARISH & BANAT, 2013). This energy inefficiency is cause of worry in many DCMD applications, but the partial vapor pressure of the feed can be improved by using renewable energy, especially solar thermal power (ASHOOR et al., 2016).

Among the applications for DCMD, water treatment with phenolic residues challenges MD, which has applications as a uniform focus on the separation of non-volatile components. An understanding of the transport of volatile components present in water treatment is necessary even if the treatment aims are focused on non-volatile contaminants (SALLS et al., 2018). It is generally assumed that the volatile compounds will be poorly rejected by MD and may even be concentrated in the distillate stream relative to the feed stream if the contaminants have higher vapor pressures than water (WIJEKOON et al., 2014).

Some studies have examined the MD treatment for volatile and semi-volatile organic pollutants, noting that the rejection is related to the volatility and hydrophobicity of the contaminant (WIEKON et al., 2014; KUJAWA et al., 2015, SALLS et al., 2018). Rejection rates varied widely from 95% to 54% in these surveys, showing the need to study the behavior of each compound with the technology (WIJEKOON et al., 2014). In Table 1.3 (p. 13) it is possible to verify some research done using MD for the retention of phenolic compounds, however few studies have been found.

Module configuration	Membrane configuration	Membrane material	Application	Analytes	Retention of each analyte in MD	Analyte identification method	Limit detection method	Country	Reference
DCMD	Flat sheet	PTFE	Water and wastewater treatment	bisphenol A; pentachlorophenol; 4-tert-butylphenol; 4-tert-octylphenol	bisphenol A (95%); pentachlorophenol (98%); 4-tert- butylphenol (72%); 4-tert-octylphenol (54%)	Described by HAI et al., 2011	1 - 20 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Australia	WIJEKOON et al., 2014
AGMD	Flat sheet	PTFE	Removal of contaminant	phenol; 2- nitrophenol; 4- nitrophenol	96 - 88%	EPA 8270 D	1 - 10 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	EUA	SALLS et al., 2018
MD-EMBR + DCMD	Flat sheet	PTFE	Degradation	bisphenol A; 4-tert- butylphenol; 4-tert- octylphenol	94 - 99%	Described by HAI et al., 2011	1 - 20 μg L <sup>-1</sup>	Australia	ASIF et al., 2018
MDV	Hollow fiber	PPESK	Wastewater removal	2,4-dichlorophenol	-	SPE-GC	-	China	JIN et al., 2007
DCMD	Flat sheet	$PVDF + TiO_2 \\$	Removal	phenolic compounds	99.90%	-	-	Malaysia	HAMZAH et al., 2016
DCMD	Flat sheet	PTFE	Treatment and concentration of wastewater	polyphenols	99.90%	Colorimetry (Folin Ciocalteau reagent)	-	Morocco	EL- ABBASSI et al., 2009

**Table 1.3:** Studies related to MD in the retention of phenolic compounds

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

13

Even if the identification and quantification of phenolic compounds in surface waters is done and the performance of different processes to removal them is evaluated, knowing these extents of contamination alone is not enough to determine if their presence in the concentrations which they are found in the water put in risk the environment and the human health. Thus, toxicological risk assessments must be carried out and consequently determine whether these compounds should be regulated by environmental legislation and improve risk control.

Environmental risk assessment (ERA) can be defined as a stepwise procedure to estimate the adverse effects of an environmental stressor (toxic chemical or pollution mixture) on an ecosystem or its components with a known degree of certainty (BEYER et al., 2012; LIU et al., 2012). The use of ERA has become increasingly important in studies of environmental pollutants effects (BEYER et al., 2012). The guidelines for ERA of new and existing chemicals from the European Medicines Agency (EMEA) and the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) are based on the relationship between exposure and effect. It is expressed by the hazard quotient (HQ), given by the ratio between the measured environmental concentration (MEC) and the predicted non-effect concentration (PNEC). The higher the HQ value, the greater the probability that the chemical will present toxicological effects (FDA, 1998; EMEA, 2006).

The studies of phenolic compounds about toxicological risk assessment are still scarce in the literature, although these studies have become the scientific and important basis of the environmental risk management and environmental decision-making (LIU et al., 2012). Since these compounds persist in the treated water, in addition to ERA, the risk assessments for human health (HRA) should also be performed. The evaluation of such risk methods involves the margin of exposure (MOE) determination. MOE is obtained through the ratio between the safe exposure level and the highest concentration detected in the evaluated environment. The safe exposure level can be estimated by tolerable daily intake (TDI) (derived from the no-observed adverse effect level - NOAEL and safety factors) (WHO, 2017). Low risk is implied when MOE value is more than 100 for NOAEL-based assessments (EPA, 2012). Few recent articles that have exposed the risk assessments offered by phenolic compounds in natural waters are presented in Table 1.4 (p. 15). It is showing that China is the country that in its recently research has focused on the subject.
Compound	<b>Risk analyzed</b>	Source	Results	Country	Reference
50 phenolic compounds (phenol, 2-cresol, 4-CP, 4- cresol, 3-cresol, 2,5-DCP, pyrocatechold, 2-NP, 2- naphthol, 2-CP, 2,3,6-TMP, 2,4-xylenol, hexanoesd, 2,4-dichloro-3-ethyl-6-nitrophenol, 2-secbutylphenol 2-naphthol, 2,4-DCP, resorcinol, PCP, 2,6-DCP, para- chloro-meta-xylenol (PCMX), 2,4,6-TCP, 3,4,5-TCP, 2-biphenylol, 4-CP, 4-NP, among others)	Ecological risk - quotient method	Surface water	Five kinds of phenolic compounds were identified as priority phenolic compounds in Beitang Drainage river, and the order of risk was 2-cresol, 2,4-xylenol, 2-sec-butylphenol, 2-naphthol, 3- cresol. Six kinds of phenolic compounds were identified as priority phenolic compounds in e Dagu Drainage river, and the order of risk was 2-naphthol, p-chloro-m-xylenol, 4-cresol, 3-cresol, 2,4-xylenol, 2,3,6- Trimethylphenol. In Yongdingxin river, only phenol, 2-naphthol and 2,4- xylenol were identified as priority phenolic compounds.	China	ZHONG et al., 2018
polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), 2,4,6- tribromophenol (TBP), pentabromophenol (PeBP), tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBPA), bisphenol A (BPA)	Estrogenic activity assessment; Eco- toxicity assessment	Water and soil samples	BPA was detected in the water and sediment samples collected at all sites except the control, and its concentrations were much higher than those of TBBPA at most sites (not detected to $8.6 \times 102$ ng L <sup>-1</sup> ). Estrogenic activity assessment showed that no estrogenic risk could be expected from the water and sediment based on TBBPA and BPA estrogenic activity, while eco-toxicity assessment at three representative trophic levels showed that different risks were present at most sampling sites.	China	XIONG et al., 2014
4-nonylphenol (4-NP), 4-tert-octylphenol (4-t-OP), bisphenol A (BPA), triclocarban (TCC), triclosan (TCS), galaxolide (HHCB) and tonalide (AHTN), musk xylene (MX), musk ketone (MK), clofibric acid, ketoprofen, naproxen, diclofenac, indometacin, ibuprofen, meclofenamic acid, mefenamic acid, fenoprofen, gemfibrozil, tolfenamic acid	Environment risck - quotient method	Surface water and sediment samples	Risks assessment showed that 4-NP and TCS had RQs > 1 in > 70% of samples and might pose various ecological risks to aquatic ecosystems, especially for algae. Possible risks were only occasionally found for 4-t- OP and BPA in the urban rivers in Guangzhou (one of the sample areas). Further investigations of ecotoxicological effects and potential ecological risks of these chemicals are therefore required to protect aquatic ecosystems and biodiversity in urban rivers of megacities in China.	China	PENG et al., 2017
nonylphenol (NP) and 4-tert-octylphenol (4-OP), 4- tert-butylphenol, 2,4-di-tert-pentylphenol, 4-n- heptylphenol, 4-butylphenol, 4-n-hexylphenol, TBBPA, bisphenol A (BPA)	Environment risk - quotient method	Surface water, suspended particulate matter	Risk assessment revealed greater risk associated with the surface water than the sediment, indicating that the discharge of industrial wastewater and domestic sewage poses a serious threat to aquatic ecosystems.	China	LIU et al., 2016

## **Table 1.4:** Articles related to risk assessments offered by phenolic compounds

Compound	Risk analyzed	Source	Results	Country	Reference
phenol, 2-nitrophenol, 2,4-dichlorophenol, 2,4,6- trichlorophenol, pentachlorophenol	Ecological risk - risk quotient; Human health risk - hazard quotient and Incremental lifetime cancer risk	Surface water and sediment samples	The results for risk quotient indicated that there were low ecological risks from the five phenolic compounds in water. However, there were high ecological risks of the total phenolic compounds in sediment. Based on the results for hazard quotient and incremental lifetime cancer, there were low risks of phenolic compounds to human health in the Yinma river basin.	China	ZHOU et al., 2017
4-tert-octylphenol, 4-n-octylphenol, 4-n-nonylphenol, nonylphenol, bisphenol A (BPA)	Environmental risk - risk quotient method and estrogenic activity	Surface water, sediment, and biota samples	water, nt, and imples The presence of BPA in the river could be mainly associated to punctual sources of contamination from industrial discharges. Calculated risk quotients showed low and moderate risk for the aquatic environment from the presence of the target compounds at all sampling points. The estimation of the daily intake of the studied compounds via water and biota ingestion indicated no risk for human health.		SALGUEIRO- GONZÁLEZ et al., 2015
4-tert-Octylphenol (OP), nonyphenol (NP), Bisphenol A (BPA), tetrabromobisphenol A (TBBPA), 4-tert- butylphenol (4-TBP), 4-butylphenol (4-BP), 4- hexylphenol (4-HP), 2,4-di-tert-amylphenol (2,4- DTAP)	Ecological risk - quotient method	Surface water and suspended particulate matter Risk assessment based on the calculated risk quotients (RQ) showed that low and moderate risk for the aquatic environment from presence of the target compounds at all sampling points with exception of 4-TBP and NP which might pose a high risk to aquatic organisms.		China	LIU et al., 2016
octylphenol (OP), nonylphenol (NP), bisphenol A (BPA)	Ecological risk assessment - USEPA (1998); Aquatic health risk - hazard quotient; Human health risk assessment - standard methods	Surface water	The concentrations of OP, NP and BPA ranged from ND (not detected) to 16.3 ng L <sup>-1</sup> , ND to 2200 ng L <sup>-1</sup> , and 2.8 to 136 ng L <sup>-1</sup> , respectively. The phenolic compounds in rivers are expected to cause potential toxicity to aquatic organism including crustaceans, mollusks, insects and fish. In respect to aquatic risk assessment, NP showed a greater hazard quotient (HQ) than did OP and BPA, and the highest HQ (62) was observed for fish in the Kaveri river. The backwater and estuarine NP levels may pose a risk to larvae of oysters and barnacles.	India	SELVARAJ et al., 2014
4-nonylphenol, bisphenol A (BPA), 4-t-OP	Ecological risk - quotient method; Human Health Risk - hazard quotient	Surface water, sediment, and biota samples	Taking co-exposure into account, the phenolic EDCs surveyed in the Pearl river estuary are probably not harmful to aquatic organisms or human health. However, further investigation of phenolic EDCs in the Pearl river estuary needed to improve regulation for man-aging and monitoring the usage of phenolic EDCs.	China	DIAO et al., 2017

Compound	<b>Risk analyzed</b>	Source	Results	Country	Reference
2,4-dichlorophenol (2,4-DCP), 2,4,6-trichlorophenol (2,4,6-TCP), pentachlorophenol (PCP)	The risk assessment - tiered approach	Surface water	The results show that the risks of three chlorophenols are ranked PCP>2,4-DCP≈2,4,6-TCP. PCP posed little ecological risk while 2,4-DCP and 2,4,6-TCP posed negligible or de mini risk in Chinese surface water. However, the risks varied with different river basins, for example, PCP posed some ecological risk in the Yangtze, Huaihe, and Pearl rivers.	China	JIN et al., 2011
bisphenol analogues (bisphenol A, bisphenol S, bisphenol F, among others)	Ecological risk - quotient method	Surface water and sediment samples	For both Taihu lake and Luoma lake, the risk assessment at the sampling sites showed that no high risk in surface water and sediment.		YAN et al., 2017
estrone (E1), 17b-estradiol (E2), estriol (E3), 17a- ethinylestradiol (EE2), bisphenol A (BPA)	Ecological risk - quotient method	Surface water	The concentrations of these compounds in the sediments of the Yellow river were relatively low comparing with the reported data in some other regions, mainly due to poor adsorption of these compounds on the sandy sediments. These results imply that harmful ecological effects might happen in some rivers.	China	YUAN et al., 2014

Given the background, this work, which is part of a project funded by Research Development Foundation (FUNDEP), entitled Advanced Water Treatment for Supplying Emergency Response, aimed developed and validated a methodology for identification of phenolic compounds in surface water, as well as to quantify the presence of these compounds in rivers and in the water treated by a WTP over one year. The risk to environmental and human health of the compounds found was observed. Finally, the DCMD was also prior evaluated for the retention of the studied compounds. It is worth noting that the project is very large and covers other aspects of MD, such as the retention mechanisms of pharmaceuticals and heavy metals, design, efficiency and economic aspects of a solar drive MD unit.

## 1.2 JUSTIFICATION

Increased contamination of water resources by different types of complex pollutants, such as phenolic compounds, is an issue directly related to public health because put in risk the human and the environment. These emerging contaminants are present in the waters in very low concentrations and the improvement of analytical techniques that allow their detection in this level of concentration deserves special attention from the scientific community, since from the identification and quantification environmental management measures can be taken.

However, even in countries where surveys related to the contamination of rivers are more advanced than Brazil, there is still little information available on the quality of water related to these contaminants. Nevertheless, knowing the extent of contamination and the concentration of phenolic compounds is not enough to determine whether their presence in water put in risk the environment and the human health. Thus, toxicological risk assessments, which are still scarce in the literature, are necessary.

Further, the evaluation of phenolic compounds removal by conventional processes currently used in the treatment of surface water, which has inherent problems and is ineffective in the retention of many micropollutants, and the study of an alternative technology, the DCMD, provide an important insight into the future of water treatment scenario. In this sense, the relevance of this work can be highlighted, since few studies have been published on the occurrence of these compounds in surface water and in national systems of water supply, in

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

order to verify if they present environmental toxicological and human health risk, being an important step for the construction of national knowledge.

Therefore, this work is justified by contributing to the improvement of these micro-pollutant's identification and quantification techniques and to verify their occurrence in important rivers and in the drinking water of a water treatment plant, that supplies a large population. In addition to providing a better understanding of the toxicological risks to the environment and human health, due to the presence of phenolic compounds in surface and supply water. It also provides an alternative treatment through a robust and compact process, the DMCD.

# 1.3 OBJECTIVE

# 1.3.1 General objective

Investigate the occurrence of phenolic compounds in surface water and one supply water. In addition, to evaluate the environmental and human health risk of these compounds in the raw water, and its reduction by conventional and DCMD process.

# 1.3.2 Specific objectives

- Develop and validate an analytical methodology for the identification and quantification of phenolic compounds studied;
- Identify, quantify and verify the most recurring phenolic compounds in the raw water and in the treated water from one WTP throughout a year;
- Evaluate the removal of the phenolic compounds in the studied WTP and by DCMD;
- To develop the environmental and human health risk assessment of these compounds in the aqueous matrices and to analyze the risk reduction capacity of the treatment systems studied.

# 1.4 DOCUMENT STRUCTURE

This master thesis was divided into five chapters in an article format with the structure described by Figure 1.3 (p.20). Each chapter has been named: Chapter I) Theme presentation; Chapter II) Identification and quantification of phenolic compounds in aqueous matrix: methodology, validation, and occurrence; Chapter III) Risk assessment and phenolic compounds occurrence

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

in a surface water and their removal by conventional treatment; Chapter IV) DCMD as an alternative in the removal of phenolic compounds in water and risk reduction; Chapter V) Final considerations. The article format indicates that the chapters are independents.



Figure 1.3: Research structure

Within this arrangement, Chapter I aims to introduce and contextualize the whole theme discussed in the study, presenting a review of the literature on phenolic compounds in water and the process of direct contact membrane distillation as an alternative technology for the water treatment. It also shows the goals to be accomplished and demonstrates the relevance of the work developed. Chapter II aims to answer the first objective, showing the development and validation of the methodology used for the identification and quantification of phenolic compounds and it analyzes the surface and treated water in order to describe the actuality.

Chapter III deals with the evaluation of the occurrence of phenolic compounds over a year in the raw and treated water of a WTP. Answering the second goal. Chapter IV corresponds to the third objective of this research, in which the DCMD is prior analyze as an alternative to remove the studied compounds from water. The fourth target is answered through Chapters III and IV, where the analysis of the environmental and human health risks related to the presence of the phenolic compounds in the superficial and the risk reduction by conventional and DCMD process are reported. Finally, in Chapter V, final conclusions of the previous chapters were discussed integrated.

# REFERENCES

ACOSTA, C. A.; LOPEZ PASQUALI, C. E.; PANIAGUA, G.; GARCINUNO, R.M.; FERNANDEZ HERNANDO, P. Evaluation of total phenol pollution in water of San Martin Canal from Santiago del Estero, Argentina. Environmental Pollution, 236, 2018. 265-272 p.

ALKHUDHIRI, A.; DARWISH, N.; HILAL, N. Membrane distillation: a comprehensive review. Desalination 287, 2012. 2–18 p.

ASHOOR, B.B.; MANSOUR, S.; GIWA, A.; DUFOUR, V.; HASAN, S.W. Principles and applications of direct contact membrane distillation (DCMD): A comprehensive review. Desalination 398, 2016. 222–246 p.

ASIF, M. B.; HAI, F. I.; KANG J.; MERWE, J. P. VAN; LEUSCH, F. D.L.; PRICE, W. E.; NGHIEM, L. D. Biocatalytic degradation of pharmaceuticals, personal care products, industrial chemicals, steroid hormones and pesticides in a membrane distillation-enzymatic bioreactor. Bioresource Technology, 247, 2018.

AZEVEDO, D. A.; LACORTE, S.; VINHAS, T.; VIANA, P.; BARCELÓ, D. Monitoring of priority pesticides and other organic pollutants in river water from Portugal by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry and liquid chromatography–atmospheric pressure chemical ionization mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A, 879, 2000. 13–26 p.

BANAT, F.; JWAIED, N.; ROMMEL, M.; KOSCHIKOWSKI, J.; WIEGHAUS, M. Performance evaluation of the "large SMADES" autonomous desalination solar-driven membrane distillation plant in Aqaba, Jordan. Desalination 217, 2007. 17–28 p.

BASHEER, A. A. New generation nano-adsorbents for the removal of emerging contaminants in water. Journal of Molecular Liquids. Volume 261, 2018. 583-593 p.

BEYER, J.; MYHRE, L. P.; SUNDT, R. C.; MEIER, S.; TOLLEFSEN, K.-E.; VABO, R.; SANNI, S. Environmental risk assessment of alkylphenols from offshore produced water on fish reproduction. Marine Environmental Research, 75, 2012. 2–9 p.

BIANCHI, F.; CARERI, M.; MUCCHINO, C.; MUSCI, M. Improved determination of chlorophenols in water by solid-phase microextraction followed by benzoylation and gas chromatography with electron capture detection. Chromatographia, 55, May, 2002.

BOLZ, U.; HAGENMAIER, H.; KORNER, W. Phenolic xenoestrogens in surface water, sediments, and sewage sludge from Baden-Württemberg, south-west Germany. Environ. Pollut. 115 (2), 2001. 291-301 p.

BRASIL. Resolução CONAMA 357, de 17 de março de 2005. Conselho Nacional de Meio Ambiente. Available in: <http://pnqa.ana.gov.br/Publicacao/RESOLUCAO\_CONAMA\_n\_357.pdf>. Accessed on: 05 January 2019.

BRASIL. PORTARIA n° 2.914, de 12 de dezembro de 2011. Ministério do Estado da Saúde (MS). Norma de qualidade da água para consumo humano. República Federativa do Brasil. ailable in: < http://bvsms.saude.gov.br/bvs/saudelegis/gm/2011/prt2914\_12\_12\_2011.html>. Accessed on: 05 January 2019.

CARMO, D. F. Avaliação da presença de clorofenóis no reservatório de Salto Grande, situado na região de Americana, estado de São Paulo. Dissertação de mestrado. Ciências de Engenharia Ambiental. USP, São Carlos, 2000.

DIAO, P.; CHEN, Q.; WANG, R.; SUN, D.; CAI, Z.; WU, H.; DUAN, S. Phenolic endocrinedisrupting compounds in the Pearl River Estuary: Occurrence, bioaccumulation and risk assessment. Science of The Total Environment, 584-585, 2017. 1100–1107 p.

EL-BOURAWI, M.S.; DING, Z.; MA, R.; KHAYET, M. A framework for better understanding membrane distillation separation process. Journal of Membrane Science 285, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2006.08.002., 2006. 4–29 p.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Supplemental Information for Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions Final Rule. New/Updated CWA 304(a) Criteria Recommendations Published since May 30. Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology, Washington, DC. 2000. July 2015. 1 – 23p.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Quantitative Risk Assessment Calculations. Sustainable Futures / P2 Framework Manual 2012 EPA-748-

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

B12-001. 2012. Available in: <a href="https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-05/documents/13.pdf">https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-05/documents/13.pdf</a>>. Accessed on: December 18, 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 8270D: Semivolatile organic compounds by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (gc/ms). United States, 2015. 1-62 p. Disponível em: <a href="https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-07/documents/epa-8270d.pdf">https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-07/documents/epa-8270d.pdf</a>>. Acesso em: 07 decem. 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. National Recommended Water Quality Criteria - Human Health Criteria Table. Available in: < https://www.epa.gov/wqc/national-recommended-water-quality-criteria-human-health-criteria-table>. Accessed on: 05 January 2019.

EUROPEAN COMMISSION. Phenol - Summary Risk Assessment Report. EuropeanChemicalsBureau.Italy.2006.Availablein:<https://echa.europa.eu/documents/10162/3e04f30d-9953-4824-ba04-defa32a130fa>.Accessed on: 05 January 2019.

EUROPEAN MEDICINES AGENCY (EMEA). Guideline on the environmental risk assessment of medicinal products for human use. Doc. Ref. EMA/CHMP/SWP/4447/00 corr 1\*. London, 2006.

EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT. EU Legislation in Progress - Revision of the Drinking WaterDirective.October2018.Availablein:<http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2018/625179/EPRS\_BRI(2018)62517</td>9\_EN.pdf>. Accessed on: 05 January 2019.

FARAJI, H.; HUSAIN, S. W.; HELALIZADEH, M. Determination of phenolic compounds in environmental water samples after solid-phase extraction with  $\beta$ -cyclodextrin-bonded silica particles coupled with a novel liquid-phase microextraction followed by gas chromatographymass spectrometry. Journal of Separation Science, 35(1), 2011. 107–113 p.

FATTA-KASSINOS, D.; MERIC, S.; NIKOLAOU; A. Pharmaceutical residues in environmental waters and wastewater: current state of knowledge and future research. Anal. Bioanal. Chem., 399, 2011. 251-275 p.

FERNANDES, G. W.; GOULART, F. F.; RANIERI, B. D.; COELHO, M. S.; DALES, K.; BOESCHE, N.; BUSTAMANTE, M.; CARVALHO, F. A.; CARVALHO, D. C.; DIRZO, R.; FERNANDES, S.; JUNIOE, P. M. G.; MILLAN, V. E. G.; MIELKE, C.; RAMIREZ, J. L.; NEVES, A.; ROGASS, C.; RIBEIRO, S. P.; SCARIOT, A.; SOARES-FILHO, B. Deep into the mud: ecological and socio-economic impacts of the dam breach in Mariana, Brazil. Natureza & Conservação, v. 14, 2016. 35 – 45 p.

FILIPOV, O.; POSOKH, V.; TIKHOMIROVA, T.; SHAPOVALOVA, E.; TSIZIN, G.; SHPIGUN, O.; ZOLOTOV, Y. On-line sorption-chromatographic determination of phenols with amperometric detection. J Anal Chem. 57, 2002. 788–793 p.

FOOD AND DRUGS ADMINISTRATION (FDA). Guidance for Industry Environmental Assessment of Human Drug and Biologics Applications. Washington, 1998.

FRANCIS, L.; GHAFFOUR N.; ALSAADI, A.; NUNES, S.; AMY G. Performance evaluation of the DCMD desalination process under bench scale and large scale module operating conditions. Journal of Membrane Science, v. 455, 2014. 103-112 p.

GAO, J.; LIU, L.; LIU, X.; ZHOU, H.; HUANG, S.; WANG, Z. Levels and spatial distribution of chlorophenols–2, 4-dichlorophenol, 2, 4, 6-trichlorophenol, and pentachlorophenol in surface water of China. Chemosphere, 71(6), 2008. 1181-1187 p.

HAI, F. I.; TESSMER, K.; NGUYENA, L. N.; KANGA, J.; PRICE, W. E.; NGHIEM, L. D. Removal of micropollutants by membrane bioreactor under temperature variation. Journal of Membrane Science 383, 2011. 144–151 p.

HAMZAH, N.; LEO, C.P. Fouling prevention in the membrane distillation of phenolic-rich solution using superhydrophobic PVDF membrane incorporated with TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles. Separation and Purification Technology, 167, 2016. 79–87 p.

HOFMAN, J. A. M. H.; BEERENDONK, E. F.; FOLMER, H. C.; KRUITHOF, J. C. Removal of pesticides and other micropollutants with cellulose-acetate, polyamide and ultra-low pressure reverse osmosis membranes. Desalination, 113, 1997. 209-214 p.

JARDIM, I. C. S. F. Extração em Fase Sólida: Fundamentos Teóricos e Novas Estratégias para Preparação de Fases Sólidas. Scientia Chromatographica, v. 2, n. 1, p. 13-25, 2010.

JÁUREGUI, O.; GALCERAN, M. T. Chapter 6 Phenols. Handbook of Analytical Separations, v. 3, p. 175–236, jan. 2001.

JAUREGUI, O.; GALCERAN, M. T. Determination of phenols in water by on-line solid-phase disk extraction and liquid chromatography with electrochemical detection. Analytica Chimica Acta, 340, 1997. 191-199 p.

JENNINGS, J.G.; DENYS, R.; CHARLTON, T.S.; DUNCAN, M.W.; STEINBERG, P.D. Phenolic compounds in the nearshore waters of Sydney, Australia. Mar. Freshw. Res. 47 (8), 1996. 951-959 p.

JIN, Z.; YANG, DA L.; ZHANG, S. H.; JIAN, X. G. Removal of 2,4-dichlorophenol from wastewater by vacuum membrane distillation using hydrophobic PPESK hollow fiber membrane. Chinese Chemical Letters, 18, 2007. 1543–1547 p.

JIN, X.; GAO, J.; ZHA, J.; XU, Y.; WANG, Z.; GIESY, J. P.; RICHARDSON, K. L. A tiered ecological risk assessment of three chlorophenols in Chinese surface waters. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 19(5), 2011. 1544–1554 p.

LIU, S. Y.; WANG, H. Q.; LI, Y. L. Current Progress of Environmental Risk Assessment Research. Procedia Environmental Sciences, 13, 2012. 1477–1483 p.

LIU, D.; LIU, J.; GUO, M.; XU, H.; ZHANG, S.; SHI, L.; YAO, C. Occurrence, distribution, and risk assessment of alkylphenols, bisphenol A, and tetrabromobisphenol A in surface water, suspended particulate matter, and sediment in Taihu Lake and its tributaries. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 112(1-2), 2016. 142–150 p.

LIU, Y.-H.; ZHANG, S.-H.; JI, G.-X.; WU, S.-M.; GUO, R.-X.; CHENG, J.; CHEN, J.-Q. Occurrence, distribution and risk assessment of suspected endocrine-disrupting chemicals in surface water and suspended particulate matter of Yangtze River (Nanjing section). Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 135, 2017. 90–97 p.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

LLOMPART, M.; LOURIDO, M.; LANDÍN, P.; GARCÍA-JARIS, C.; CELA. R. Optimization of a derivatization–solid-phase microextraction method for the analysis of thirty phenolic pollutants in water samples. Journal of Chromatography A, 963, 2002. 137–148 p.

LOH, C. H.; ZHANG, Y.; GOH, S.; WANG, R.; FANE, A. G. Composite hollow fiber membranes with different poly (dimethylsiloxane) intrusions into substrate for phenol removal via extractive membrane bioreactor. J Membr Sci., 500, 2016. 236–44 p.

LUO, Y.; GUO, W.; NGO, H. H.; NGHIEM, L. D.; HAI, F. I.; ZHANG, J.; WANG, X. C. A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. Science of The Total Environment, 473-474, 2014. 619–641 p.

KARABELAS, A.; PLAKAS, K. Membrane Treatment of Potable Water for Pesticides Removal. Herbicides, Theory and Applications. ISBN 978-953-307-975-2. InTech, China, 2011. 369-408 p.

KENNEDY, L. J.; VIJAYA, J. J.; KAYALVIZHI, K.; SEKARAN, G. Adsorption of phenol from aqueous solutions using mesoporous carbon prepared by two-stage process. Chem. Eng. J., 132, 2007. 279–287 p.

KHAYET, M.; MATSUURA, T. Membrane distillation: Principles and Applications. Elsevier, 2011.

KHAZAALI, F.; KARGARI, A.; ROKHSARAN, M. Application of low-pressure reverse osmosis for effective recovery of Bisphenol A from aqueous wastes. Desalin Water Treat., 52, 2014. 7543–51 p.

KUJAWA, J.; CERNEAUX, S.; KUJAWSKI; W. Removal of hazardous volatile organic compounds from water by vacuum pervaporation with hydrophobic ceramic membranes. Journal of Membrane Science, 474, 2015. 11–19 p.

KUESENG, P.; PAWLISZYN, J. Carboxylated multiwalled carbon nanotubes/polydimethylsiloxane, a new coating for 96-blade solid-phase microextraction for determination of phenolic compounds in water. Journal of Chromatography A, 1317, 2013. 199–202 p.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

MAGI, E.; CARRO, M. DI; MIRASOL, C.; BENEDETTI; B. Combining passive sampling and tandem mass spectrometry for the determination of pharmaceuticals and other emerging pollutants in drinking water. Microchemical Journal, 136, 2018. 56-60 p.

MCKINLAY, R.; PLANT, JA.; BELL, J.; VOULVOULIS, N. Endocrine disrupting pesticides: Implications for risk assessment. Environment International, Vol. 34, N° 2. ISSN 0160-4120. 2008. 168–183 p.

MERINI, L. J.; CUADRADO, V.; FLOCCO, C. G.; GIULIETTI, A. M. Dissipation of 2,4-D in soils of the Humid Pampa region, Argentina: a microcosm study. Chemosphere, 68, 2007.

MICHAŁOWICZ, J.; STUFKA-OLCZYK, J.; MILCZAREK, A.; MICHNIEWICZ, M. Analysis of annual fluctuations in the content of phenol, chlorophenols and their derivatives in chlorinated drinking waters. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 18(7), 2011. 1174-1183 p.

MOHAMMADI, T.; KAZEMI, P. Taguchi optimization approach for phenolic wastewater treatment by vacuum membrane distillation. Desalination and Water Treatment. Volume 52, 2014.

MONTERO, L.; CONRADI, S.; WEISS, H.; POPP, P. Determination of phenols in lake and ground water samples by stir bar sorptive extraction–thermal desorption–gas chromatography– mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A, 1071, 2005. 163-169 p.

PADILLA-SÁNCHEZ, J. A.; PLAZA-BOLANOS, P.; ROMERO-GONZÁLES, R.; BARCO-BONILLA, N.; MARTÍNEZ-VIDAL, J. L.; GARRIDO-FRENICH, A. Simultaneous analysis of chlorophenols, alkylphenols, nitrophenols and cresols in wastewater effluents, using solid phase extraction and further determination by gas chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. Talanta 85, 2011. 2397–2404 p.

PENG, F. J.; PAN, C. G.; ZHANG, M.; ZHANG, N. S.; WINDFELD, R.; SALVITO, D.; YING, G. G. Occurrence and ecological risk assessment of emerging organic chemicals in urban rivers: Guangzhou as a case study in China. Science of The Total Environment, 589, 2017. 46–55 p.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

PETRIE, B.; YOUDAN, J.; BARDEN, RUTH; KASPRZYK-HORDERN, B. Multi-residue analysis of 90 emerging contaminants in liquid and solid environmental matrices by ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A, 1431, 2016. 64–78 p.

PUIG, D.; BARCELÓ, D. Comparison of different sorbent materials for on-line liquidsolid extraction followed by liquid chromatographic determination of priority phenolic compounds in environmental waters. Journal of Chromatography A, 733, 1996. 371-381 p.

QUITANA, J. B; RODIL, R.; MUNIATEGUI-LORENZO, S.; LÓPEZ-MAHÍA, P.; PRADA-RODRÍGUEZ, D. Multiresidue analysis of acidic and polar organic contaminants in water samples by stir-bar sorptive extraction–liquid desorption–gas chromatography–mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A, 1174, 2007. 27–39 p.

RAZA, W.; LEE, J.; RAZA, N.; LUO, Y.; KIM, K.; YANG, J. Removal of phenolic compounds from industrial waste water based on membrane-based technologies. Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry. 2018.

RICHARDSON, S. D.; TERNES. T. A. Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues. Anal. Chem., 86, 2014. 2813-2848 p.

ROSA, M. J.; VIEIRA, P.; MENAIA, J. O tratamento de água para consumo humano face à qualidade da água de origem. Instituto Regulador de Águas e Resíduos e Laboratório Nacional de Engenharia Civil. Europress, Lda. 2009. 15-24 p.

SALGUEIRO-GONZÁLEZ, N.; TURNES-CAROU, I.; BESADA, V.; MUNIATEGUI-LORENZO, S.; LÓPEZ-MAHÍA, P.; PRADA-RODRÍGUEZ, D. Occurrence, distribution and bioaccumulation of endocrine disrupting compounds in water, sediment and biota samples from a European river basin. Science of The Total Environment, 529, 2015. 121–130 p.

SALLS, K. A.; WONB, D.; KOLODZIEJB, E. P.; CHILDRESSD, A. E.; HIIBELE, S. R. Evaluation of semi-volatile contaminant transport in a novel, gas-tight direct contact membrane distillation system. Desalination, 427, 2018. 35-41 p.

SANCHEZ-AVILA, J.; BONET, J.; VELASCO, G.; LACORTE, S. Determination and occurrence of phthalates, alkylphenols, bisphenol A, PBDEs, PCBs and PAHs in an industrial

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

sewage grid discharging to a municipal wastewater treatment plant. Sci Total Environ 407, 2009.

SANTHI, V. A.; SAKAI, N.; AHMAD, E. D.; MUSTAFA, A. M. Occurrence of bisphenol A in surface water, drinking water and plasma from Malaysia with exposure assessment from consumption of drinking water. Science of the Total Environment 427-428, 2012. 332-228 p.

SARTORI, A. V.; KRAUSS, T. M.; BRAGA, A. M. C. B.; YAMAZAKI, A. G. A.; OLIBEIRA, R. M. Chlorophenols in tap water from wells and surface sources in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil - method validation and analysis. Química Nova, vol. 35, n° 4. São Paulo, 2012.

SCHMIDT-BÄUMLER, K.; HEBERER, T.; STAN, H. J. Occurrence and Distribution of Organic Contaminants in the Aquatic System in Berlin. Part II: Substituted Phenols in Berlin Surface Water. Acta hydrochim. hydrobiol. 27, 1999. 143 -149 p.

SEGURA, F. R.; NUNES, E. A.; PANIZ, F. P.; PAULELLI, A. C. C.; RODRIGUES, G. B.; BRAGA, G. U. L.; FILHO, W. R. P.; JUNIOR, F. B.; CERCHIARO, G.; SILVA, F. F.; BATISTA, B. L. Potential risks of the residue from Samarco's mine dam burst (Bento Rodrigues, Brazil). Environmental Pollution, 2016. 1 – 13 p.

SELVARAJ, K. K.; SHANMUGAM, G.; SAMPATH, S.; JOAKIM LARSSON, D. G.; RAMASWAMY, B. R. GC–MS determination of bisphenol A and alkylphenol ethoxylates in river water from India and their ecotoxicological risk assessment. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 99, 2014. 13–20 p.

SHAMSIPUR, M.; YAZDANFAR, N.; GHAMBARIAN, M. Combination of solid-phase extraction with dispersive liquid–liquid microextraction followed by GC–MS for determination of pesticide residues from water, milk, honey and fruit juice. Food Chemistry 204, 2016. 289–297 p.

STASINAKIS, A. S.; GATIDOU, G.; MAMAIS, D.; THOMAIDIS, N. S.; LEKKAS, T. D. Occurrence and fate of endocrine disrupters in Greek sewage treatment plants. Water Res 42, 2008.

SUSANTO, H. Towards practical implementations of membrane distillation. Chem. Eng. Process. Process Intensif. 50, doi: 10.1016/j.cep.2010.12.008, 2011. 139–150 p.

TANG, S., LIN, X. H., LI, S. F. Y., LEE, H. K. In-syringe dispersive solid-phase extraction using dissolvable layered double oxide hollow spheres as sorbent followed by high-performance liquid chromatography for determination of 11 phenols in river water. Journal of Chromatography A, 1373, 2014. 31–39 p.

TERZOPOULOU, E.; VOUTSA, D.; KAKLAMANOS, G. A multi-residue method for determination of 70 organic micropollutants in surface waters by solid-phase extraction followed by gas chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry. Environmental science and pollution research international, 2015.

THOMAS, N.; MAVUKKANDY, M. O.; LOUTATIDOU, S.; ARAFAT, H. A. Membrane distillation research & implementation: Lessons from the past five decades. Separation and Purification Technology 189, 2017. 108-127 p.

VILLEGAS, L. G. C.; MASHHADI, N.; CHEN, M.; MUKHERJEE, D.; TAYLOR, K. E.; BISWAS, N. A Short Review of Techniques for Phenol Removal from Wastewater. Current Pollution Reports, Volume 2, Issue 3, September 2016. 157–167 p.

WANG, W. Z. A D.; WANG, Z. Distribution and potential ecological risk of 50 phenolic compounds in three rivers in Tianjin, China. Environmental Pollution 235, 2018. 121-128 p.

WIJEKOON, K. C.; HAI, F. I.; KANG, J.; PRICE, W. E.; CATH, T. Y.; NGHIEM; L. D. Rejection and fate of trace organic compounds (TrOCs) during membrane distillation. Journal of Membrane Science, 453, 2014. 636–642 p.

WONG, J. W.; WEBSTER, M. G.; HALVERSON, C. A.; HENGEL, M. J.; NGIM, K. K.; EBELER, S. E. Multiresidue Pesticide Analysis in Wines by Solid-Phase Extraction and Capillary Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometric Detection with Selective Ion Monitoring. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 51, 2003. 1148–1161 p.

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO). Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. Fourthedition.Geneva,2017.Availablein:<http://www.who.int/water\_sanitation\_health/publications/drinking-water-quality-guidelines-</td>4-including-1st-addendum/en/ >. Accessed: May 20, 2018.

XIONG, J.; AN, T.; ZHANG, C.; LI, G. Pollution profiles and risk assessment of PBDEs and phenolic brominated flame retardants in water environments within a typical electronic waste dismantling region. Environmental Geochemistry and Health, 37(3), 2014. 457–473 p.

YAN, Z.; LIU, Y.; YAN, K.; WU, S.; HAN, Z.; GUO, R.; CHEN, J. Bisphenol analogues in surface water and sediment from the shallow Chinese freshwater lakes: Occurrence, distribution, source apportionment, and ecological and human health risk. Chemosphere, 184, 2017. 318–328 p.

YOSHIMURA, K.; WAKI, H.; OHASHI, S. Ion-exchanger colorimetry—I: Microdetermination of chromium, iron, copper and cobalt in water. Talanta, v. 23, n. 6, p. 449-454, 1976.

YUAN, X.; LI, T.; ZHOU, L.; ZHAO, X. Characteristics and Risk Assessment of Estrogenic Compounds in Rivers of Southern Jiangsu Province, China. IERI Procedia, 9, 2014. 176–184 p.

ZHANG, P.-P.; SHI, Z.-G.; FENG, Y.-Q. Determination of phenols in environmental water samples by two-step liquid-phase microextraction coupled with high performance liquid chromatography. Talanta, 85(5), 2011. 2581–2586 p.

ZHONG, W.; WANG, D.; XU, X.; LUO, Q.; WANG, B.; SHAN, X.; WANG, Z. Screening level ecological risk assessment for phenols in surface water of the Taihu Lake. Chemosphere, 80(9), 2010. 998-1005 p.

ZHONG, W.; WANG, D.; WANG, Z. Distribution and potential ecological risk of 50 phenolic compounds in three rivers in Tianjin, China. Environmental Pollution, 235, 2018. 121-128 p.

ZHOU, M.; ZHANG, J.; SUN, C. Occurrence, Ecological and Human Health Risks, and Seasonal Variations of Phenolic Compounds in Surface Water and Sediment of a Potential Polluted River Basin in China. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 14(10), 2017.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

# **CHAPTER II**

# Identification and quantification of phenolic compounds in aqueous matrix: methodology, validation, and occurrence

# 2.1 INTRODUCTION

River monitoring studies have evidenced the presence of organic micropollutants of environmental and toxicological interest, among them phenolic compounds play an important role (ZHONG et al., 2018). It exists in bodies of water due to the discharge of polluted wastewater from industrial, agricultural, domestic activities and as a result of natural phenomena (ANKU et al., 2017). Besides, chlorination treatments in drinking water disinfection may form chlorophenols when phenolic compounds are already present in raw water. Its presence gives off an unpleasant smell and taste in ppb concentration (HUANG et al., 2018).

It is known that phenolic compounds cause severe and long-lasting effects in humans and animals due to their toxicity, persistence and bioaccumulation. They act as carcinogens and cause damage to red blood cells and liver, even at low concentrations (ASIF et al., 2018; FRÉDÉRIC & YVES, 2014; LI et al., 2018). In the list of priority compounds established by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) eleven compounds are classified as phenolic (2,4,6-trichlorophenol, parachlorometa cresol, 2chlorophenol, 2,4-dichlorophenol, 2,4-dimethylphenol, 2-nitrophenol, 4-nitrophenol, 2,4dinitrophenol, 4,6-dinitro-o-cresol, pentachlorophenol, and phenol), due to the frequency and the damages associated with the presence of these micropollutants in the environment. This list is a starting point to be considered in the development of effluent discharge regulation and water quality standards (EPA, 2014). The phenolic compounds are detected in surface water, groundwater and drinking water at concentrations ranging from ng L<sup>-1</sup> to tens of  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (ANKU et al., 2017; CAMPOS-MAÑAS et al., 2017; HERMES et al., 2018). Advanced analytical techniques have been developed for the identification and quantification of these micropollutants in order to evaluate the occurrence and efficiency of water treatments currently employed.

Among the analytical techniques, high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with ultraviolet (UV) detector, fluorescence detection, electrochemical detection or mass spectrometry (MS) and gas chromatography (GC) are the most used in the determination of phenols (SIMÕES et al., 2007). Historically, GC has been adopted in different studies in the analysis of phenolic compounds (TERZOPOULOU et al., 2014; BIANCHI et al.,

33

2002; DAVÌ & GNUDI, 1999; RODRÍGUEZ et al., 2000), besides being considered in several standard procedures developed by EPA, for example in the methods 604, 635, 8041, and 8270D (EPA, 1984a; EPA, 1984b; EPA, 1995; EPA, 2015). The technique has advantages as high efficiency in the separation of the analytes, high resolution, and also high sensitivity (JÁUREGUI & GALCERAN, 2001; FRIAS et al., 2014). It can be coupled to high selectivity detectors such as electron capture detector (ECD), nitrogen and phosphorus detector (NFD), mass spectrometry in selective ion monitoring mode (MS/SIM), and the flame ionization detector (FID).

However, none of these combinations of technics can reach the required limits of quantification for the phenols direct determination in surface and drinking water, making a preconcentration stage essential. For aqueous matrices, the frequently used techniques are liquid-liquid extraction (LLE) and liquid solid extraction, also known as solid phase extraction (SPE) (JÁUREGUI & GALCERAN, 2001). One of the most widely used extraction systems is SPE, due to its known advantages over LLE, as low sample handling and contamination, low solvent volume, higher efficiency, and good specificity with some polar adsorbent materials (TERZOPOULOU et al., 2014). Currently, a wide variety of adsorbent materials are available for SPE process, both in the form of cartridges and discs (JÁUREGUI & GALCERAN, 2001).

However, in the case of phenolic compounds, several authors have verified the performance of silica materials (C<sub>18</sub>) in the extraction process, which in general presented higher recovery rates and better reproducibility for more nonpolar phenolic compounds (tri-, tetra-, and pentachlorophenol) (HERMES et al., 2018; RODRÍGUEZ et al., 2000). Consequently, higher throughput volumes can be considered in the preconcentration step without there being an increase in detection limits. On the other hand, when it was used for more polar compounds (phenol, nitrophenol, and monochlorophenols), the material showed lower throughput volumes (< 20 mL) and consequently higher detection limits (RODRÍGUEZ et al., 2000). Therefore, it is still challenging a single-stage of SPE for the recovery of a broad spectrum of compounds with different physicochemical characteristics (TERZOPOULOU et al., 2014).

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

Another relevant point are the matrix components contained in the extracts that can influence the quantification of the analytes of interest, generating dubious results. The change in the chromatographic response (due to the presence of co-extractives) is called the matrix effect (HAJSLOVÁ et al., 1998). The occurrence of matrix-induced effects and their extent are influenced by several factors, such as analyte polarity, analyzed matrix type, history of the chromatographic system (deposition of substances in the insert), analyte concentration, and others (HAJSLOVÁ & ZROSTLIKOVA, 2003). The matrix effect may generate recovery percentages above 100%, in addition to causing other changes in the chromatographic analysis, such as masking of the analyte peak of interest, generating a false negative result (SALVADOR et al., 2006). This is an important variable to be evaluated during the process of extraction and quantification of micropollutants.

In this context, it is important to establish rapid, sensitive and reliable analytical method that allow the determination of a wide range of phenolic compounds in water at the low levels of concentration that they are found. These methods are particularly needed to support studies addressing the occurrence and toxicity of these compounds, as well as supporting research in the development and evaluation of remediation processes. Thus, this work aims to develop and evaluate a methodology to identify and quantify a variety of 17 phenolic compounds in samples of raw water obtained in two hydrographic basins and a treated water from a water treatment plant (WTP) that supplies a large population.

## 2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.2.1 Sample collection

Five samplings were carried out in two different watersheds as shown in Figure 2.1 (p. 36). Three samplings were done in the same watershed in different points (RW1, RW2, and RW3) and the other two in another river, upstream of a WTP (RW4) and the treated water from a WTP (WT1). With the purpose to analyze the effect of the aqueous matrix on the phenolic compounds identification and verify their occurrence at different points. Some characteristics of the collection sites are described in Table 2.1 (p. 36).

#### Figure 2.1: Schematic of sampling points



Table 2.1: Characteristics of the collection sites	

Collection site	Water flow average	Climate	Other information
RW1	900 m <sup>3</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>	temperature ranging from 21.6 to 26.9 °C; annual rainfall: 1109 mm	Rural supply
RW2	900 m <sup>3</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>	temperature ranging from 21.6 to 26.9 °C; annual rainfall: 1109 mm	Rural supply
RW3	900 m <sup>3</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>	temperature ranging from 21.6 to 26.9 °C; annual rainfall: 1109 mm	It feeds a conventional WTP that supplies an estimated population of 263 689 people
RW4	300 m <sup>3</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>	temperature ranging from 18 to 27 °C; annual rainfall: 1390 mm	It feeds a conventional WTP that supplies an estimated population of 2.5 million people
WT1	300 m <sup>3</sup> s <sup>-1</sup>	temperature ranging from 18 to 27 °C; annual rainfall: 1390 mm	TW that supplies an estimated population of 2.5 million people; WTP treatment type: coagulation, flocculation, sedimentation, sand filtration, disinfection (chlorination) and fluoridation

The collection was carried out taking into account the method of sampling, preserving and storing of NBR 9898 for phenol analysis (ABNT, 1987) and the recommendations of EPA 528 (EPA, 2000). Amber clean bottles (1 L) were immersed countercurrent in the rivers at about 15 to 30 cm below the water surface, to avoid the introduction of surface contaminants, in places that was no water stagnation or in places near the bank. After collection, these samples were immediately acidified to pH near to 3. All samples were

36

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

refrigerated during transport so that the temperature did not exceed 10  $^{\circ}$ C. In the laboratory, these samples were kept at a temperature below 5  $^{\circ}$ C until the extraction time, which did not exceed 72 h.

#### 2.2.2 Physicochemical characterization

The collected samples were characterized in terms of their physicochemical properties according to the recommendations of the Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater (APHA, 2012). The parameters and their respective methods are presented in Table 2.2.

Parameter	Method	Parameter	Method
Turbidity (Hach 2100AN Turbidimeter)	2130B	Determination of cations	
pH (Qualxtron QX 1500 pHmeter)	4500B	Calcium (Ca)	3500-Ca
UV Absorption (254 nm) (Hach DR 2800 Spectrometer)	2120C	Magnesium (Mg)	3500-Mg
Apparent color (Hach DR 2800 spectrometer)	2120C	Sodium (Na)	3500-Na
Real Color (Hach - DR 2800)	2120C	Potassium (K)	3500-К
Total suspended solids (TSS)	2540D	Iron (Fe)	3500-Fe
Total Solids (TS)	2540B	Aluminum (Al)	3500-A1
Total organic carbon (TOC) (Shimadzu TOC-V CNP TOC)	5310	Arsenic (Ar)	3500-As
Conductivity (Hanna HI 9835 Conductivity Meter)	2510B	Lead (Pb)	3500-Pb
Alkalinity	2320B	Sulfur (S)	3500-S
Total nitrogen (TN)	4500-NC	Silica (Si)	4500-Si

 Table 2.2: Physicochemical methodology for the sample's characterization

#### 2.2.3 Phenolic compounds assess

Seventeen phenolic compounds were studied, which seven of them are in the EPA priority compounds list (2-chlorophenol, 4-chloro-3-metylphenol, 2-nitrophenol, 2,4-dimethylphenol, 2,4-dichloropheno, 4,6-trichlorophenol, and 4-nitrophenol) (EPA, 2014). In addition to the compounds established by the EPA, bisphenol A was also considered due to its recurrence in industrial segments, as well as some isomers of the agency's compounds list and other phenolic compounds (2-metylphenol, 3-metylphenol, 2,6-dichlorophenol, 2,3,5-trichlorophenol, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, 2,3,4-trichlorophenol, 2,3,6-trichlorophenol, 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol, and 3,4,5-trichlorophenol). The complete list of compounds considered along this study with their

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

identification number, molecular formula, molecular structure and, some physicalchemical properties, is presented in the ANNEX I (p. 125 - 126).

#### 2.2.4 Reagent and standards

The acetonitrile (J.T.Baker®), methanol (Exodus Scientif®), dichloromethane (Synth®) and ethyl acetate (Synth®) solvents were HPLC grade. Gases provided by White Martins were used with 99.999% purity. For pH adjustment a 0.01 mol L<sup>-1</sup> hydrochloric acid solution (HCl) was used. The EPA 8040A Phenol Calibration Mix of analytical standard for the phenol compounds and Bisphenol A (99%) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich®.

#### 2.2.5 Solid phase extraction

The extraction methodology was based on the recommendation of the National Environmental Protection Agency of the United States through the EPA method 528, 3535A, and 8041. For the SPE, four different solvents proposed by the agency were evaluated. They were dichloromethane, acetonitrile, ethyl acetate, and methanol, opting for the one that presented the highest recovery degree for the analytes in question. In this work,  $C_{18}/18\%$  cartridges (500 mg / 6 mL - Applied Separations) were used, conditioned with 5 mL of solvent, after 5 mL of MilliQ water (ThermoScientific Smart2Pure 3 UV). Then, 1 L of the sample was percolated at pH 2, maintaining a constant flow and close to 20 mL min<sup>-1</sup>. The cartridge remained under vacuum for 20 min after finalizing the concentration process for complete removal of moisture and the compounds were eluted using 2 times 1 mL of the solvent. The entire extraction procedure was performed with a manifold (Supelco-Visiprep <sup>TM</sup>).

## 2.2.6 Identification and quantification of phenolic compounds

The gas chromatography (GC 2010-Pus, Shimadzu) equipped with FID to increase the sensitivity of the method was used for the compound's identification and quantification. A Zebron <sup>TM</sup> MultiResidue <sup>TM</sup> column (30 m x 0.32 mm x 0.50  $\mu$ m) was utilized in the GC and helium as carrier gas. The optimum oven programming was 40 °C for 4 minutes, 4 °C min<sup>-1</sup> to 240 °C and finally 240 °C for 5 minutes.

The injection volume of the samples was 2  $\mu$ L in splitless mode, with the injector temperature at 275 °C. An automatic sampler (AOC-20i, Shimadzu) was used in all tests, programmed to perform a solvent wash (2 x) before and after each injection, in addition to settle the syringe with the sample (2 x). The FID detector temperature was maintained at 300 °C and an Air / H<sub>2</sub> mixture (400/40 mL min<sup>-1</sup>) was used for the combustion while a N<sub>2</sub> / Air mixture (30 mL min<sup>-1</sup>) was used as gas make-up to scan components through the detector in order to minimize the bandwidth of compounds. For the calibration curves, a stock solution at the concentration of 5,000  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> was prepared and from this, eighteen dilutions were performed at concentrations of 1 to 3,200  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>, all in isopropanol.

#### 2.2.7 Validation of the analytical methodology

The methodology validation was based on the classical literature and standard methods defined by the International Council for Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceutical Products for Human Use (ICH, 2005), and followed the requirements and recommendations of ANVISA (ANVISA, 2003) and INMETRO (INMETRO, 2007). The parameters evaluated were: selectivity, linearity, limit of detection and quantification, sensitivity, precision, accuracy, resolution, and matrix effect. The selectivity was evaluated by the resolution (R) and the separation factor ( $\alpha$ ) of the peaks. Equation 2.1 indicates that the resolution is the difference between the retention times divided by the mean width of the peak.

$$R = (t_{R2} - t_{R1}) / \frac{1}{2} (W_1 + W_2)$$
 Equation 2.1

At a peak with Gaussian distribution, the peak width is  $W = 4\sigma$  (where  $\sigma$  is the standard deviation) and the peak length at half height is  $W_{0.5h} = 2.354\sigma$ . Substituting these relations into Equation 2.1 we get Equation 2.2.

$$R = 1.18 * (t_{R2} - t_{R1}) / (W_{0.5h1} + W_{0.5h2})$$
 Equation 2.2

Where  $t_{R1}$  and  $t_{R2}$  are the retention times for each peak ( $t_{R1} < t_{R2}$ );  $W_{0.5h1}$  and  $W_{0.5h2}$  the width corresponding to half the height (h) of each peak. A schematic drawing of these parameters is presented in Figure 2.2.

Figure 2.2: Peaks parameters used to calculate the resolution



The separation factor ( $\alpha$ ) is defined as the ratio of the retention factors (k), as shown in Equation 2.3. Where t<sub>0</sub> is the dead time.

$$\alpha = (k_2/k_1) = (t_{R2} - t_0/t_{R1} - t_0)$$
 Equation 2.3

Accuracy was assessed by recovery degree. For these tests, the ultra-pure water, treated water and raw water were fortified with 0.4  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> of the analytical standards, and the experiments were performed in duplicate following the same procedure described for SPE. The extracts were analyzed and the recovery degree (RD) calculated according to Equation 2.4.

$$\% RD = 100 * (A - B)/C * MEF$$
 Equation 2.4

Where A corresponds to the concentration of the compound in the sample after fortification, B the concentration of the compound in the non-fortified sample, C the dosed concentration of the compound in the sample and MEF the matrix effect correction factor.

Precision was assessed through repeatability and intermediate precision expressed using coefficient of variation (CV%) and standard deviation. For this, the area of a standard injected three times on the same day and on three different days was compared to each other.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

The matrix effect was evaluated from the samples obtained for the recovery degree added 200  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> of each compound, and compared with samples of ultrapure water, also fortified. The correction factor and the matrix effect were calculated from Equations 2.5 and 2.6.

$$MEF = (D - E)/F$$
 Equation 2.5

$$Matrix \ effect \ (\%) = (1 - MEF) * 100$$
Equation 2.6

Where D corresponds to the area of the compound in the fortified sample, E the area of the compound in the non-fortified sample and F the area of the compound in fortified ultrapure water.

The quantification limit (QL) and detection limit (DL) were determined based on the standard deviation of the intercept and the mean of the slope referring to three calibration curves, estimated by Equation 2.7 and 2.8 (ANVISA, 2003; IMOTO & FREITAS, 2008; SKOOG et al., 2006).

$$DL = 3.3 * DP/I$$
 Equation 2.7

$$QL = 10 * DP/I$$
 Equation 2.8

Where DP is the estimate of the standard deviation of the response or instrumental white (three curves) and I is the slope or angular coefficient of the calibration curve.

The limits of quantification and detection related to the method were obtained from Equations 2.9 and 2.10.

OLM = OL/(CF * R)	
	Equation 2.10

Where DLM is the detection limit of the method; QLM the quantification limit of the method; CF the concentration factor, and R the recovery index (R = %RD \* 0.01).

41

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

The linearity for each compound was evaluated from the correlation coefficient ( $R^2$ ) associated to its calibration curve, which correlates measured analytical signal and analyte concentration (SKOOG et al., 2006), described a linear equation (Equation 2.11).

$$y = ax + b$$
 Equation 2.11

Where y is the analytic signal, x the analyte concentration, a is the angular coefficient, and b is the linear coefficient.

Besides these parameters, the quality of the peaks was also evaluated when considering the number of theoretical plates and the tail formation in the peaks, commonly called peak tailing. Assuming a Gaussian distribution (normal distribution), the number of theoretical plates is represented by Equation 2.12.

$$N = (t_R/\sigma)^2$$
 Equation 2.12

Where  $t_R$  is the retention time and  $\sigma$  is the standard deviation. As shown in Figure 2.3, assuming a Gaussian distribution, the width of the peak W is  $4\sigma$  and the length of the peak at half height (W<sub>0.5h</sub>) is 2.354 $\sigma$ . Substituting these values into Equation 2.12 gives Equation 2.13 (p. 43).

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

Figure 2.3: Peaks parameters used to calculate the number of theoretical plates



$$N = 5.54 * (t_R / W_{0.5h})^2$$

Equation 2.13

The peak tailing was calculated through Equation 2.14 based on the measurements shown in Figure 2.4.



Figure 2.4: Peak parameters used to calculate peak tailing

Source: SHIMADZU CORPORATION, 2018b.

$$S = W_{0.05h} / (2 * f)$$

Equation 2.14

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

43

Where  $W_{0.05h}$  is the peak width at 5% of height (h) and f is the distance between the beginning of the peak and the vertical line that intersects the top of the peak.

# 2.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

# 2.3.1 Validation of SPE and chromatographic methodology

The recovery test results in the solid phase extraction step are presented in Figure 2.5 (p. 45) for the different solvents tested and in Figure 2.6 (p. 46) for the different matrices analyzed.



Figure 2.5: Compounds recovery in the SPE for the different solvents tested



Figure 2.6: Compounds recovery in the SPE for the different matrices

From Figure 2.5 it is noted that the methanol (MeOH) solvent obtained a better performance, referring to the average recovery grade (76.18%), when compared to acetonitrile (ACN - 61.57%), ethyl acetate (EA - 64.74%), and dichloromethane (DCM - 26.13%). Since the separation process involves the difference of solubility between the analytes in the aqueous phase and in the stationary phase, the polarity of these compounds is determinant in the efficiency of the extraction process. The compounds 3MP, 4NP and 2NP showed recovery values below 70% when methanol was used in the extraction process. These compounds are hydrophilic in character and have a low octanol-water partition coefficient value (1.31 <logKow<2.09). For this reason, its affinity is lower for nonpolar adsorbents, such as  $C_{18}$ , that the functional groups bound to the solid phase attract the hydrophobic compounds present in the sample through the Van der Waals interactions and extract them from the aqueous solution. This implies lower production volumes and justifies the low rate of recovery of these compounds (RODRÍGUEZ et al., 2000).

On the other hand, compounds of lower polarity such as tri- and tetrachlorophenols have higher LogK<sub>ow</sub>, and unlike the other compounds mentioned, presented a higher recovery degree. Results such as these were also observed by Jáuregui & Galceran (2001), which reported low levels of recovery for nitrophenols and monochlorophenols in general. The authors also estimated the transfer volume for these compounds, being this value less than 20 mL and much lower than the volumes considered in the evaluation of the recovery degree. Thus, it was decided to follow the studies using methanol as solvent since it presented the best result for most of the compounds studied and has been used in other studies that seek to identify different phenolic compounds in aqueous matrix (FARAJI et al., 2012; PETRIES et al., 2016).

In Figure 2.6 it is possible to analyze the influence of different matrices on the recovery degree with methanol as solvent. As predicted, the recovery degree for the phenolic compounds in the ultrapure water, accompanied by the treated water were higher. It is well knowing that the presence of organic matter and the presence of solid particles in the samples can also significantly affect the recovery of the analytes. Font et al. (1993) emphasized that the presence of these results in a competition for the active sites present in the adsorbent and results in a reduction of the recovery degree. Nonetheless, all

47

compounds, except 3MP, had a recovery greater than 50%. According to Padilla-Sánchez et al. (2011), recoveries between 50 and 60% may be extraordinarily in environmental analysis whenever the accuracy values are adequate (< 30%).

The individual values of the parameters and correlation coefficients for the analytes are shown in Table 2.3. In relation to the linearity of the calibration curves, it was possible to reach regression coefficients greater than 0.99 for all analytes, in both concentration ranges, indicating a satisfactory adjustment of the analytical method employed according to Reis (2018).

Compounds1-400 µg L <sup>-1</sup>			400-5000 μg L <sup>-1</sup>			
Compounds	а	b	$\mathbb{R}^2$	а	b	$\mathbb{R}^2$
2CP	6.21	-100.881	0.9995	3.661	-210.205	0.9987
2MP	9.018	-64.783	0.9984	8.002	-299.227	0.9996
3MP	16.951	526.581	0.9942	12.299	1148.41	0.9978
2NP	8.82	-69.997	0.9981	11.854	-681.888	0.9987
24DMP	4.05	76.077	0.9942	4.103	1979.756	0.9988
24DCP	4.026	45.684	0.9967	4.21	2714.654	0.9976
26DCP	6.476	-11.03	0.9971	5.103	35.133	0.9997
4C3MP	2.81	3.785	0.9991	2.983	36.141	0.9995
235TCP	2.939	-37.747	0.9955	3.282	-115.349	0.9991
246TCP	2.843	-56.373	0.9983	2.927	26.052	0.9979
245TCP	3.942	-121.672	0.9981	3.147	-13.098	0.9992
234TCP	3.352	-89.09478	0.9954	3.214934	-38.02707	0.9996
4NP	3.321	-11.206	0.9997	3.007	-256.297	0.9986
2356TCP	4.392	100	0.9929	4.27	-333.429	0.9981
2346TCP	2.266	105.198	0.9983	2.104	-215.622	0.999
345TCP	2.807	-14.569	0.9995	2.442	69.546	0.9986
BPA	3.097	459.844	0.9973	3.981	46.375	0.9993

 Table 2.3: Parameters and correlation coefficient of the calibration curves used in the sample's quantification

From the analysis of Table 2.3 (p. 49) and Figure 2.7 (p. 49) it is possible to see that the 3MP, 2MP, 2NP, 2CP, and 26DCP compounds were the most sensitive to the method due to small variations in concentration result in higher response variation, in other words, higher values of the angular coefficient in the analytical curves (INMETRO, 2017). However, the tri- and tetrachlorinated compounds showed the lowest sensitivity as EPA warns, in its method 528 (EPA, 2000), that these compounds may present less sensitivity when compared to others in the list. This fact may be related to the pKa values of these

phenols, which directly influence their ionization. The other compounds exhibited intermediate and similar sensitivity.



Figure 2.7: Analytical curves obtained for the analyzed compounds

Table 2.4 shows the selectivity of the method, referring to the resolution and the peak tailing factor of the chromatographic peaks. The resolution and possible interference caused by the matrix were absent.

	, poar tainig a			an an )=0 a 00 mp 0 an ao
Compounds	Resolution	Peak tailing	Separation	<b>Theoretical plates</b>
2CP	0.665	1.935	1.062	2.27E+04
2MP	8.654	1.462	1.516	3.75E+04
3MP	3.344	1.152	1.155	2.91E+04
2NP	7.908	1.024	1.353	8.58E+04
24DMP	4.267	1.19	1.093	8.04E+04
24DCP	4.076	1.523	1.085	1.17E+05
26DCP	21.546	1.084	1.278	5.51E+05
4C3MP	14.285	1.117	1.104	6.02E+05
235TCP	7.768	1.101	1.052	6.46E+05
246TCP	1.225	1.153	1.008	7.37E+05
245TCP	2.986	1.137	1.018	6.82E+05
234TCP	5.988	1.089	1.037	7.29E+05
4NP	76.447	1.276	1.265	1.24E+06
2356TCP	2.771	1.206	1.015	5.89E+05
2346TCP	2.25	1.335	1.012	1.16E+06
345TCP	18.55	1.172	1.08	1.50E+06
BPA	69.896	1.93	1.315	2.82E+06

Table 2.4: Resolution, peak tailing and theoretical plates for the analyzed compounds

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

49

Reference values <sup>(a)</sup>	> 2	≤2	> 1	2.00E+06

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>(a)</sup>(SNYDER et al., 2012)

The values of resolution, peak tailing, separation and theoretical plates for most of the compounds met the reference values, indicating that the method can perform a good chromatographic separation and presents separate peaks and possible interferences caused were absent. The 2CP and BPA showed peak tailing values close to the limit, probably due to their high affinity for the column (FILHO et al., 2010). The 246TCP and 2CP presented resolution < 2, implying the presence of near-chromatographic peaks of these compounds. In contrast, the peak tailing, separation and theoretical plates presented satisfactory values.

The results concerning to quantification limit of the method (QLM) and detection limit of the method (DLM) are presented in Table 2.5 (p. 51).
Compounds	QLM	DLM	Intra-day <sup>a</sup>		Inter-day <sup>a</sup>		Matrix Effect (%)	Matrix Effect (%)
	(µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	(µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Area <sup>b</sup>	CV(%)	Area <sup>b</sup>	CV(%)	Raw water	Treated water
2CP	0.276	0.091	20711.333 ± 185.823	0.90%	$20099.000 \pm 796.823$	3.96%	-819.068	-724.576
2MP	0.012	0.004	$30393.000 \pm 130.885$	0.43%	$29728.333 \pm 1012.588$	3.41%	40.835	62.53
3MP	0.023	0.008	$56877.333 \pm 265.786$	0.47%	$54807.333 \pm 2927.603$	5.34%	26.460	39.12
2NP	0.035	0.012	$30268.667 \pm 142.290$	0.47%	$29507.667 \pm 1165.631$	3.95%	74.534	84.234
24DMP	0.012	0.004	$16394.667 \pm 89.092$	0.54%	$15585.000 \pm 956.668$	6.14%	44.205	69.15
24DCP	0.007	0.002	$15993.333 \pm 43.924$	0.27%	$15420.667 \pm 620.519$	4.02%	34.590	47.38
26DCP	0.017	0.006	$19422.000 \pm 244.514$	1.26%	$17645.000 \pm 1472.404$	8.34%	56.010	68.498
4C3MP	0.007	0.002	$12308.000 \pm 86.029$	0.70%	$11692.667 \pm 693.170$	5.93%	46.847	54.128
235TCP	0.044	0.014	$12305.333 \pm 497.150$	4.04%	$11504.667 \pm 243.330$	2.12%	45.531	66.899
246TCP	0.083	0.028	$12207.667 \pm 621.602$	5.09%	$11613.000 \pm 1090.648$	9.39%	53.800	65.054
245TCP	0.031	0.010	$14260.333 \pm 711.367$	4.99%	$12409.667 \pm 962.367$	7.75%	42.122	46.48
234TCP	0.053	0.018	$12777.667 \pm 94.320$	0.74%	$12009.667 \pm 718.606$	5.98%	55.582	73.979
4NP	0.170	0.056	$9472.333 \pm 261.514$	2.76%	$9449.667 \pm 221.157$	2.34%	32.690	59.064
2356TCP	0.016	0.005	$5142.333 \pm 159.177$	3.10%	$5219.667 \pm 85.407$	1.64%	15.224	29.676
2346TCP	0.030	0.010	$6741.667 \pm 550.572$	8.17%	$6010.333 \pm 436.552$	7.26%	26.068	163.931
345TCP	0.048	0.016	$9731.333 \pm 123.597$	1.27%	$9476.000 \pm 614.388$	6.48%	43.789	55.977
BPA	0.061	0.020	$12013.333 \pm 519.562$	4.32%	$11893.333 \pm 902.826$	7.59%	56.172	73.62

Table 2.5: Quantification limit of the method (QLM), detection limit of the method (DLM), and precision for the considered compounds

<sup>a</sup>(n=3); <sup>b</sup>Average  $\pm$  standard deviation; CV = Coefficient of variation.

In the methodology used, the QLM found ranged from 0.007  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (24DCP and 4C3MP) to 0.276  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (2CP) and the DLM ranged from 0.002  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> to 0.091  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> for the same compounds, respectively. SIMÕES et al. (2007) was developed and validated a methodology for the analysis of ten phenolic compounds in the raw and treated water in GC-MS, seven of them in common with the study (2CP, 245TCP, 246TCP, 2346TCP, 24DP, 26DP and, 43CMP). For these compounds the DLM ranged from 0.052  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (245TCP) to 4.1  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (2CP) and the QLM ranged from 0.16  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (24 DP) to 12  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (2CP). These limits values detect by Simões et al. (2007) were higher than those found in this study. To decrease the DLM and QLM it may be necessary to use a larger sample volume in the solid phase extraction step or to perform another concentration step after elution using a smaller volume of the same or a different solvent.

The accuracy of the method was evaluated through its repeatability and proven from the CV results (%), presented in Table 2.5. For the analyzes performed on the same day (n = 3), CV values (%) varied between 0.27% (24DCP) and 8.17% (2346TCP), lower than those observed by Simões et al. (2007), which varied between 8.3% (24DCP) and 32% (2346TCP). When the samples were evaluated on different days, the values observed varied between 1.64% (2356TCP) and 9.39% (246TCP). It is possible to attest to the validity of the proposed methodology for its accuracy for the level of concentration considered in the trials (3200 µg L<sup>-1</sup>) and establishing as acceptance criteria 7 <CV% <11 as suggested by INMETRO (2007).

Furthermore, Table 2.5 shows the matrix effect for each analyte. According to several authors (AMATE et al., 2010; MORENO-GONZÁLEZ et al., 2017), matrix effects can be classified as weak (0 to  $\pm$  20%), medium ( $\pm$  20 to 50%) and strong (>  $\pm$  50%). Positive values indicate that the raw water matrix has a suppressive effect on the compounds analytical signal and when negative values happen, an augmentative effect of the signal occurred. Most of the compounds studied had a matrix effect considered as medium and strong effects. In the case of raw water, this can be associated to the high organic matter present in this matrix (RODRÍGUEZ et al., 2000). In contrast, high values in treated water may be associated to ion suppression from another analyte, a metabolite or even from internal standard.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

The 2NP and 2356TCP showed higher and lower matrix effects, respectively. The first one has more polar character compared to the others, probably associated preferentially to the organic material than to the adsorbent of nonpolar character. Consequently, in addition to a low recovery degree, the compound still has a higher matrix effect when compared to the others. One of the suggestions made by Reis (2018) to rectify the matrix effect is the use of compounds for the internal standardization of the analyzes. Although the internal standards were not used in the study, the values obtained for the matrix effect were considered in the quantification step to correct the observed values.

#### 2.3.2 Physical-chemical characterization of the samples

After being collected, all surface water samples were characterized (RW1, RW2, RW3, and RW4). Table 2.6 presents the average values of the main physical-chemical parameters of the samples. In addition, it also has the respective maximum concentration allowed by Ordinance N° 2914/2011 / N° 5/2017 (consolidation), of the Ministry of Health for drinking water (BRASIL, 2011) and some requirements established by the National Council of the Environment, Resolution 357/2005, for river water classification (BRASIL, 2005).

Parameter	RW1	RW2	RW3	RW4	Resolutio	n 357/2005	Ordinance N°2914
					Class I	Class II	(MPV *)
Turbidity (NTU)	92.5	162	8.09	14.2	40	100	0.5***
pH	7.59	7.57	6.58	6.19	6 to 9	6 to 9	6 to 9.5
UV-Vis 254 nm	0.083	0.02	0.03	0.021			
Perceived color (mg Pt-Co L <sup>-1</sup> )	239	391	< DL	74			15
Real Color (mg Pt-Co L <sup>-1</sup> )	< DL	< DL	< DL	< DL		<75	
TSS (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	94	68	11	16			
TS (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	120	92	72	108			
TOC (mg $L^{-1}$ )	1.292	2.728	2.09	1.99			
Conductivity (µS cm <sup>-2</sup> )	47.05	63.78	108.5	121.3			
Alkalinity (mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> L <sup>-1</sup> )	21.34	24.25	22.3	29.3			
TN (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	0.96	0.751	0.984	1.37	<2.18	<2.18	
Ca (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	3.916	3.964	4.749	21.1			500****
Mg (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	1.815	2.0128	1.816	6.4			500****
Na (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	1.092	0.835	3.639	5.68			200
K (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	2.153	1.393	1.967	1.07			
Fe (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	1.321	0.847	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.3	0.3	0.3
							23

Table 2.6: Physicochemical parameters for the sample collected in 2018

Parameter	RW1	RW2	RW3	RW4	Resolutio	Ordinance Nº2914	
					Class I	Class II	(MPV *)
Al (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	0.749	0.349	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2
As (mg $L^{-1}$ )	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.01	0.01	0.01
Pb (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.01	0.01	0.01
S (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	2.69			
Si (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	7.207	7.875	6.005	6.41			

\* MPV (Maximum Permitted Value); \*\* DL (Detection Limit) \*\*\* Filtration rapid (conventional and direct filtration); \*\*\*\* Defines MPV 500 mg L<sup>-1</sup> for Hardness (the sum of Mg and Ca concentrations).

The four samples presented some different characteristics such as pH, conductivity, solids, alkalinity, color, different concentrations of cations and the presence or not of some metals such as iron, aluminum, sulfur and silicon, which are important to analyze the influence of different matrices in the identification and quantification of phenolic compounds. To be classified as water type I or II in Brazil the sample must meet some requirements established by the National Council of the Environment, Resolution 357/2005. In river water classified as type I or II, human consumption is allowed after simple or conventional treatment. Treatment plants should be able to absorb differences in raw water quality and produce water in accordance with the parameters established in Ordinance N° 2914.

One of the main physicochemical indicators of water quality is pH and turbidity. In terms of pH, the studied rivers are classified in Classes I and II because they have pH between 6 and 9. The pH has a great influence on the biological action and hydrolysis of complex chemical compounds, as well as on the reducing the volatility of the constituents, affecting factors such as bioavailability, absorption and solubility of the phenolic compounds (ABNT, 1987). Thus, it is necessary that the monitoring of these compounds always consider the pH of the matrix which their occurred. Already the turbity evaluates the presence of suspended and colloidal particles present in the sample by the degree of attenuation of intensity that a lux beam suffers when crossing it. For the samples in question, the observed value of both pH and turbidity fits the class I or II, except for the sample RW2 that has a higher turbidity.

The UV absorption at 254 nm allows monitoring of the organic load and is associated with the total organic carbon (TOC) and dissolved organic carbon (COD), since organic

54

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

compounds with aromatic structure or double carbon bonding are able to absorb the radiation ultraviolet at 254 nm (REIS, 2018). Although there is no value established by CONAMA 357/2005, the raw water sample presented values close to those observed by REIS (2018), who evaluated this parameter for six different raw water samples except the sample RW2 that has a higher absorption.

In addition to UV absorption at 245 nm, the real color of the sample was also evaluated. The parameter is associated with the ability of a sample to transmit visible light at a wavelength sensitive to the human eye and may be the result of natural action (organic matter and presence of iron and manganese) or anthropogenic (industrial waste and domestic sewage). The samples measured real color were lower than the detection limit of the method (5 mg Pt-Co  $L^{-1}$ ), consequently less than the maximum established by the Council (75 mg Pt-Co  $L^{-1}$ ) for type II.

The other parameters evaluated are not regulated by the National Environmental Council, or do not constitute a drinking standard, although their evaluation is important when considering the use of the sample in other processes. The presence of particulate matter may, among other things, decrease the efficiency in the extraction processes by saturating the adsorbent capacity with compounds in addition to the desired analytes. Moreover, the presence of organic matter may decrease the selectivity of the method and result in more complex chromatograms, making it difficult to analyze by chromatographic techniques (RODRÍGUEZ et al., 2000).

# 2.3.3 Identification and quantification of phenolic compounds

Through the SPE and the GC-FID injection of the samples it was possible to identify the phenolic compounds present in the samples evaluated with the purpose of verifying the availability of these compounds in a current scenario. Among the 17 phenolic compounds studied, 15 were identified and quantified in the samples collected as can be seen in the Table 2.7 (p.56).

Sample	2MP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	3MP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	2NP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	24DMP (μg L <sup>-1</sup> )	24DCP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	26DCP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	235TCP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	234TCP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	245TCP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	4C3MP (μg L <sup>-1</sup> )	4NP (μg L <sup>-1</sup> )	2356TCP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	2346TCP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	345TCP (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	BPA (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )
RW1		$1.36 \pm 0.195$	$1.42 \pm 0.205$			$1.768 \pm 0.255$	1.912 ± 0.275				$6.425 \pm 0.925$				3.009 ± 0.433
RW2			0.289 ± 0.074	$0.731 \\ \pm \\ 0.03$	$1.490 \\ \pm \\ 0.064$					24.162 ± 2.031		$0.241 \\ \pm 0.008$	5.611 ± 0.41		$0.446 \\ \pm \\ 0.092$
RW3	$0.519 \\ \pm \\ 0.066$		0.354 ± 0.09	$0.647 \\ \pm \\ 0.026$	$0.131 \\ \pm \\ 0.056$		0.308 ± 0.017	$0.355 \pm 0.038$							$2.877 \pm 0.593$
RW4			0.525 ± 0.134					0.292 ± 0.031							1.328 ± 0.274
WT1	$0.381 \\ \pm \\ 0.025$		0.218 ± 0.04		$0.114 \\ \pm \\ 0.015$				0.163 ± 0.099		0.138 ± 0.015			380.072 ± 8.04	0.04 ± 0.004

 Table 2.7: Concentration average of phenolic compounds found in RW1, RW2, RW3, RW4, and WT1 water samples collected in 2018

The 2-nitrophenol and bisphenol A were found in all samples. Studies have shown that between the nitrophenol isomers, the 2NP is found to be more toxic (LIU et al., 2009; KUPETA et al., 2018). Because of the aromatic ring in its structures, treatment through chlorination generates chlorinated byproducts that are stable and potentially toxic (CHAN et al., 2003). Concerning to bisphenol A, it is the most popular representative of bisphenol group and was first synthesized over 100 years ago. During the 1930's BPA was investigated and known as endocrine disruptor (ZHANG et al., 2019). Being an important industrial chemical, it is primarily used as an intermediate in the production of polycarbonate plastics and epoxy resins. They are widely used in different products of daily life, including digital media (typically CDs and DVDs), electronic equipment, automobiles, construction glazing, sports safety equipment, medical devices (e.g. dental sealants), tableware, reusable bottles (e.g. baby bottles), and food storage containers (LANE et al., 2015; ZHANG et al., 2019).

BPA is also common to municipal wastewaters and can exert toxicity to exposed organisms in the environment. Second Petrie et al. (2019), despite  $\geq 90\%$  of BPA could be removal during a correct wastewater treatment, but notable concentrations could remain in effluent (0.062 – 0.892 µg L<sup>-1</sup>) leaving to the environment and water treatment stations their removal. In this study were found concentrations of 0.446 – 3.009 µg L<sup>-1</sup> for BPA in the surface waters studied. These were higher values than that found by Petrie et al. (2019). Regarding to the treated water (WT1), the BPA was detected in the average concentration of 0.04 µg L<sup>-1</sup>. Another problem related to this compound is the formation of chlorinated BPA by-products in the chlorination process performed in WTP when the compound is already in the raw water as was observed during the kinetic studies done by Lane et al. (2015). However, knowledge on the occurrence of bisphenols in the aquatic environment, especially in source and drinking water, is still limited (PETRIE et al., 2019).

The 4-chloro-3-methylphenol showed the highest concentration among the samples studied with 24.162  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>. In Germany from a natural water this compound was identified at three different levels of a water surface with the average concentration of 6  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (MONTERO et al., 2005). The 4C3MP is in the list of priority pollutants of EPA (EPA, 2014) and in the directive on environmental quality standards in the field of water policy of the European Union (EU) (EU, 2008). This phenol is a disinfectant used to control slime-forming bacteria and fungi that might develop in industrial adhesives, coatings, emulsions, leather processing liquors,

metal cutting fluids, paints (in can), specialty industrial products, oil drilling muds/packer fluids, and wet-end adhesives/industrial processing chemicals (ZANG et al., 2010). Nonetheless, it is not classified as a possible carcinogen by IARC (IARC, 1999).

The 4-nitrophenol also had higher concentration between the samples (6.425  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>). Nthunya et al. (2019), also found concentrations of this compound very similar to that identified in this study in some surface water monitoring samples in South Africa (6.25  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>). The 4N is a class of phenolic pollutant extremely widespread in the environment due to it is broad array of utility in the manufacture of plasticizers, pesticides, fungicide in leather industries, pharmaceutical, acidic pH indicator in chemical laboratories, explosives, and dyes (MULCHANDANI et al., 2005; BALASUBRAMANIAN et al., 2019). It also is formed in the reaction of phenol with nitrite ions in water. In contrast, a trace level consumption of 4NP would cause severe health hazards such as liver, kidney damages, nausea, cyanosis, drowsiness and, headache (MULCHANDANI et al., 2005). The higher solubility of 4NP in water impose major thread to the population towards of 4NP consumption (BALASUBRAMANIAN et al., 2019).

Of the compounds identified, five of them have a drinking standard established by the EPA (EPA, 2019) for water consumption. The 2NP, 4NP, 2,4DMP, and 2,4,5TCP showed concentrations in all samples below EPA seated, 10  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>, 10  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>, 100  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> and, 10  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> respectively. Although the 2,4DCP concentrations in all samples were lower than that established by the EPA (10  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>), the RW2 concentration (1.49  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) was much higher than that established by the national legislation (BRASIL, 2005) for surface water class I or II (0.3  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>), which could be rivers destined to human consumption after conventional treatment.

The presence of this toxic and resistant to biodegradation compound in rivers can be a result of transformation the widely used group of diaryl-ether pesticides like nitrophen or dichlorodiphenyl (MICHAŁOWICZ & DUDA, 2007). Moreover, 2,4DCP together with 2CP and 2,4,6TCP are the most likely to occur in drinking-water as possible by-products of disinfection (WHO, 2003). Chlorine is the most widely used disinfectant due to its excellent ability in inactivating pathogens (HUANG et al., 2018) and chlorophenols are present in drinking-water as a result of its non-removal in the water treatment and / or the chlorination of phenols during disinfection. The by-products are generated in the substitution of organic matter and low molecular weight compounds present in purified water (e.g. biocides and products of

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

phenoxy herbicides) with chlorine atoms derived from inorganic chlorine oxidants (e. g. hypochlorite) (MICHAŁOWICZ & DUDA, 2007; WHO, 2003).

Comparing RW4 and WT1 results, which are from the inlet and outlet of a water treatment plant, it is possible to note a greater quantity of phenolic compounds identified in the treated water than in the surface water. Although it cannot be said that one sample is representative of the other, since the collection was carried out on the same day not taking into account the residence time of water in the WTP. The presence of the chlorophenols in the treated water can be attributed to non-removal in the treatment, but principally the formation of it in the chlorination process. Studies have shown that chlorination increased significantly the concentrations of these contaminants (WHO, 2003). The presence of the trichlorophenols in the WT1 sample is a point of concern since the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) classifies polychlorophenols (including trichlorophenols) as possibly carcinogenic to be a human carcinogen (IARC, 2011).

The 2-chlorophenol and 2,4,6-trichlorophenol were not found in any of the samples analyzed. The non-appearance of the compounds may be related, besides the absence in the samples, to the steps of collection, storage, solid phase extraction and the infusion method used.

# 2.4 CONCLUSION

In this study, it was possible to identify and quantify the presence of different phenolic compounds in three different points of the same river belonging to an important national watershed and in the water from the entrance and exit of a treatment station that serves a large population. Of the compounds analyzed, 2-nitrophenol and bisphenol A appeared in all samples and 4-chloro-3-metilphenol had the highest concentration (24.162  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>). The presence of different chlorophenols in the analyzed treated water (24DCP, 245TCP, 345TCP) was also observed. These compounds are resistant, toxic and with carcinogenic potential. Regarding the physicochemical characterization of the samples, it was possible to verify differences between the quality of the surface waters evaluated, but in general the values were within the limits established by national legislation, CONAMA Resolution 357/2005, for Class II rivers, in which water can be distributed to the population after conventional treatment.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

For the validation of phenolic compounds identification and quantification methodology developed in this work, the selectivity, linearity, detection and quantification limits, sensitivity, precision, accuracy, resolution, matrix effect and peak quality were taken into account. In the recovery grade trials for the solvent choice, methanol had a better performance than acetonitrile, dichloromethane and ethyl acetate. Demonstrating that the polarity of the compounds is determinant in the efficiency of the extraction process and was greater recovery of the hydrophobic compounds. With respect to the influence of the matrix on the efficiency of SPE, as expected compared to the other samples there was a lower recovery of the compounds in the raw water, which is the more complex matrix. However, all samples had the recover higher than 50%.

Concerning to the calibration curves linearity, it was possible to reach regression coefficients higher than 0.99 for all the analytes. The values of resolution, peak tailing, separation and theoretical plates of all the compounds met the reference values, indicating that the method can perform a good chromatographic separation and presents separate peaks and possible interferences as absent. The matrix effect evaluation was an important step to consider the suppression and increase of the signal in the quantification, being the highest suppression occurred for 2-nitrophenol (84.234%). In general, the analytical method used was able to determine the phenolic compounds in the samples presenting good repeatability, precision, sensitivity, and limits of quantification and detection compatible and even lower than those found in the literature.

# REFERENCE

AMATE, C. F.; UNTERLUGGAUER, H.; FISCHER, R. J., FERNÁNDEZ-ALBA, A. R.; MASSELTER, S. Development and validation of a LC–MS/MS method for the simultaneous determination of aflatoxins, dyes and pesticides in spices. Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry, v. 397, n. 1, 2010. 93–107 p.

ANKU, W. W.; MAMO, M. A.; GOVENDER, P. P. Phenolic Compounds in Water: Sources, Reactivity, Toxicity and Treatment Methods. In: Phenolic Compounds - Natural Sources, Importance and Applications. [s.l.] InTech, 2017.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

ANVISA. Guia para validação de métodos analíticos e bioanalíticos. Resolução RE n 899, 29 de maio de 2003. Brazil, 2003.

ASIF, M. B.; HAI, F. I.; DHAR, B. R.; NGO, H. H.; GUO, W.; JEGATHEESAN, V.; PRICE, W. E.; NGHIEM, D. L.; YAMAMOTO, K. Impact of simultaneous retention of micropollutants and laccase on micropollutant degradation in enzymatic membrane bioreactor. Bioresource Technology, v. 267, 2018. 473–480 p.

ASSOCIAÇÃO BRASILEIRA DE NORMAS TÉCNICAS (ABNT). NBR 9898: Preservação e técnicas de amostragem de efluentes líquidos e corpos receptores. Rio de Janeiro, 1987. 122 p. Available in: <a href="http://licenciadorambiental.com.br/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/NBR9.898-Coleta-de-Amostras.pdf">http://licenciadorambiental.com.br/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/NBR9.898-Coleta-de-Amostras.pdf</a>>. Accessed on: 01 October 2017.

BALASUBRAMANIAN, P.; BALAMURUGAN, T. S. T.; CHEN, S.-M.; CHEN, T. W. Simplistic synthesis of ultrafine CoMnO3 nanosheets: As an excellent electrocatalyst for highly sensitive detection of toxic 4-nitrophenol in environmental water samples. Journal of Hazardous Materials. Volume 361, 5 January 2019. 123-133 p.

BIANCHI, F.; CARERI, M.; MUCCHINO, C.; MUSCI, M. Improved determination of chlorophenols in water by solid-phase microextraction followed by benzoylation and gas chromatography with electron capture detection. Chromatographia, v. 55, n. 9–10, 2002. 595–600 p.

BRASIL. Resolução CONAMA 357, de 17 de março de 2005. Conselho Nacional de Meio Ambiente. Available in: <http://pnqa.ana.gov.br/Publicacao/RESOLUCAO\_CONAMA\_n\_357.pdf>. Accessed on: 05 January 2019.

BRASIL. PORTARIA n° 2.914, de 12 de dezembro de 2011. Ministério do Estado da Saúde (MS). Norma de qualidade da água para consumo humano. República Federativa do Brasil. ailable in: < http://bvsms.saude.gov.br/bvs/saudelegis/gm/2011/prt2914\_12\_12\_2011.html>. Accessed on: 05 January 2019.

CAMPOS-MAÑAS, M. C.; PLAZA-BOLAÑOS, P.; SÁNCHEZ-PÉREZ, J. A.; MALATO, S.; AGÜERA, A. Fast determination of pesticides and other contaminants of emerging concern in

treated wastewater using direct injection coupled to highly sensitive ultra-high performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A, v. 1507, 2017. 84–94 p.

CHAN, A.H.; CHAN, C.K.; BARFORD, J.P.; PORTER, J.F. Solar photocatalytic thin film cascade reactor for treatment of benzoic acid containing wastewater. Wat. Res. 37(5), 2003. 1125-1135 p.

DAVÌ, M. L.; GNUDI, F. Phenolic compounds in surface water. Water Research, 1999.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 604 -Phenols in Federal Register. Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology, Washington, DC. 1984a.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 635 - Base/Neutrals and Acids. Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology, Washington, DC. 1984b.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 8041 -Phenols by Gas Chromatography: Capillary Column Technique. Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology, Washington, DC. 1985.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 3535A: solid-phase extraction (SPE). United States, January 1998. 1-19 p. Available in: <a href="https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-06/documents/epa-3535a.pdf">https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-06/documents/epa-3535a.pdf</a>>. Accessed on: 02 August 2017.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 528. Determination of phenols in drinking water by solid phase extraction and capillary column gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS). Washington, 2000. Available in: <https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/m\_528.pdf>. Accessed on: 07 December 2018

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Priority

Pollutant List. 2014. Available in: < https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/priority-pollutant-list-epa.pdf>. Accessed on: 07 December 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 8270D: Semivolatile organic compounds by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (gc/ms). United States, 2015. 1-62 p. Available in: <a href="https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-07/documents/epa-8270d.pdf">https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-07/documents/epa-8270d.pdf</a>>. Accessed on: 07 December 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. National Recommended Water Quality Criteria - Human Health Criteria Table. Available in: < https://www.epa.gov/wqc/national-recommended-water-quality-criteria-human-health-criteria-table>. Accessed on: 05 January 2019.

European Union (EU). Oficial Journal of the European Union, Directive 2008/105/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 on environmental quality standards in the field of water policy, amending and subsequently repealing Council Directives 82/176/EEC,83/513/EEC, 84/156/EEC, 84/491/EEC, 86/280/EEC and amending Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council (OJ L 348, 24.12.2008, p. 84–97). Available in: <a href="https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32008L0105&from=EN>">https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32008L0105&from=EN></a>. Accessed on: 23 February 2019.

FARAJI, H.; HUSAIN, S. W.; HELALIZADEH, M. Determination of phenolic compounds in environmental water samples after solidphase extraction with b-cyclodextrin-bonded silica particles coupled with a novel liquidphase microextraction followed by gas chromatographymass spectrometry. J. Sep. Sci., 35, 2012. 107–113 p.

FILHO, A. M.; DOS SANTOS, F. N.; PEREIRA, P. A. DE P. Development, validation and application of a methodology based on solid-phase micro extraction followed by gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (SPME/GC–MS) for the determination of pesticide residues in mangoes. Talanta, v. 81, n. 1–2, 15 abr. 2010. 346–354 p.

FONT, G.; MAÑES J.; MOLTÓ J. C.; PICÓ Y. Solid-phase extraction in multi-residue pesticide analysis of water. Journal of Chromatography A, 1993.

FRÉDÉRIC, O.; YVES, P. Pharmaceuticals in hospital wastewater: Their ecotoxicity and contribution to the environmental hazard of the effluent. Chemosphere, v. 115, 2014. 31–39 p.

FRIAS, C. F.; GRAMACHO, S. A.; PINEIRO, M. Cromatografia gasosa-espectrometria de massas e derivatização assistida por microondas na identificação de isômeros de glicose: Uma prática para o ensino avançado em análise e caracterização de compostos orgânicos. Química Nova, 2014.

HAJSLOVÁ, J.; HOLADOVA, K.; KOCOUREK, V.; POUSTKA, J.; GODULA, M.; CUHRA, P.; KEMPNY, M. Matrix-induced effects: a critical point in the gas chromatographic analysis of pesticide residues. J. Chromatogr., A 1998, 800, 283.

HAJSLOVÁ, J.; ZROSTLIKOVA, J. Matrix-induced effects: a critical point in the gas chromatographic analysis of pesticide residues. J. Chromatogr., A 2003, 1000, 181.

HARMONISED TRIPARTITE GUIDELINE (ICH). Validation of Analytical Procedures: Text and Methodology Q2 (R1). November 2005. 1-17 p. Available in: <http://www.ich.org/fileadmin/Public\_Web\_Site/ICH\_Products/Guidelines/Quality/Q2\_R1/St ep4/Q2\_R1\_\_Guideline.pdf>. Accessed on: 10 Sept. 2017.

HERMES, N.; JEWELL, K. S.; TERNES, T. A. Quantification of more than 150 micropollutants including transformation products in aqueous samples by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry using scheduled multiple reaction monitoring. Journal of Chromatography A, v. 1531, 2018. 64–73 p.

HUANG, Y.; LI, H.; ZHOU, Q.; LI, A.; SHUANG, C.; XIAN, Q.; XU, B.; PAN, Y. New phenolic halogenated disinfection byproducts in simulated chlorinated drinking water: identification, decomposition, and control by ozone-activated carbon treatment. Water Research. Volume 146, 2018. 298-306 p.

INTERNATIONAL AGENCY FOR RESEARCH ON CANCER (IARC). Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans. Volume 71. Re Evaluation of Some Organic Chemicals, Hydrazine and Hydrogen Peroxide. International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, France. 1999.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

INTERNATIONAL AGENCY FOR RESEARCH ON CANCER (IARC). IARC classifies radiofrequency electromagnetic fields as possibly carcinogenic to humans. World health organization. Lyon, 2011. Available in: <a href="https://www.iarc.fr/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/pr208\_E.pdf">https://www.iarc.fr/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/pr208\_E.pdf</a>>. Accessed on: 08 January 2019.

IMOTO, M. N.; FREITAS, R. J. S. DE. Determinação dos limites de detecção (LD) e quantificação (LQ) em análise de resíduos de pesticidas organohalogenados por cormatografia em fase gasosa. Pesticidas revista ecotoxicologia e meio ambiente, v. 18, 2008. 35–44 p.

INMETRO. Orientação Sobre Validação de Métodos de Ensaios Químicos - DOQ-CGCRE-008. Instituto Nacional de Metrologia e Normalização e Qualidade Industrial. Brazil, 2007.

JÁUREGUI, O.; GALCERAN, M. T. Chapter 6 Phenols. Handbook of Analytical Separations, v. 3, 2001. 175–236 p.

KUPETA, A. J. K.; NAIDOO, E. B.; OFOMAJA, A. E. Kinetics and equilibrium study of 2nitrophenol adsorption onto polyurethane cross-linked pine cone biomass. Journal of Cleaner Production, 179, 2018. 191–209 p.

LANE, R. F.; ADAMS, C. D.; RANDTKE, S. J.; CARTER, R. E. Chlorination and chloramination of bisphenol A, bisphenol F, and bisphenol A diglycidyl ether in drinking water. Water Research, 79, 2015. 68–78 p.

LI, E.; BOLSER, D. G.; KROLL, K. J.; BROCKMEIER, E. K.; FALCIANI, F.; DENSLOW, N. D. Comparative toxicity of three phenolic compounds on the embryo of fathead minnow, Pimephales promelas. Aquatic Toxicology, v. 201, 2018. 66–72 p.

LIU, Z.; DU, J.; QIU, C.; HUANG, L.; MA, H.; SHEN, D.; DING, Y. Electrochemical sensor for detection of p-nitrophenol based on nanoporous gold. Electrochem. Commun. 11, 2009. 1365-1368 p.

MICHAŁOWICZ, J.; DUDA W. Phenols – Sources and Toxicity. Polish J. of Environ. Stud. Vol. 16, N° 3, 2007. 347-362 p.

MONTERO, L.; CONRADI, S.; WEISS, H.; POPP, P. Determination of phenols in lake and ground water samples by stir bar sorptive extraction–thermal desorption–gas chromatography– mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A, 1071, 2005. 163-169 p.

MORENO-GONZÁLEZ, D.; PÉREZ-ORTEGA, P.; GILBERT-LÓPEZ, B.; MOLINA-DÍAZ, A.; GARCÍA-REYES, J. F.; FERNÁNDEZ-ALBA, A. Evaluation of nanoflow liquid chromatography high resolution mass spectrometry for pesticide residue analysis in food. Journal of Chromatography A, v. 1512, 2017. 78–87 p.

MULCHANDANI, P.; HANGARTER, C.M.; LEI, Y.; CHEN, W.; MULCHANDANI, A. Amperometric microbial biosensor for p-nitrophenol using moraxella sp. modified carbon paste electrode Biosens. Bioelectron., 21, 2005. 523-527 p.

NTHUNYA, L. N.; KHUMALO, N. P.; VERLIEFDE, A. R.; MAMBA, B. B.; MHLANGA, S. D. Quantitative analysis of phenols and PAHs in the Nandoni Dam in Limpopo Province, South Africa: a preliminary study for dam water quality management. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 5 February 2019.

PADILLA-SÁNCHEZ, J. A.; PLAZA-BOLAÑOS, P.; ROMERO-GONZÁLEZ, R.; BARCO-BONILLA, N.; MARTÍNEZ-VIDAL, J. L.; GARRIDO-FRENICH, A. Simultaneous analysis of chlorophenols, alkylphenols, nitrophenols and cresols in wastewater effluents, using solid phase extraction and further determination by gas chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. Talanta, 85(5), 2011. 2397–2404 p.

PETRIE, B.; YOUDAN, J.; BARDEN, RUTH; KASPRZYK-HORDERN, B. Multi-residue analysis of 90 emerging contaminants in liquid and solid environmental matrices by ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A, 1431, 2016. 64–78 p.

PETRIE, B.; LOPARDO, L.; PROCTOR, K.; YOUDAN, J.; BARDEN, R.; KASPRZYK-HORDERN, B. Assessment of bisphenol-A in the urban water cycle. Science of The Total Environment, 650, 2019. 900–907 p.

REIS, E. O. Avaliação da ocorrência de fármacos na água dos mananciais e água tratada da

Região Metropolitana de Belo Horizonte. [s.l.] Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, 2018.

RODRÍGUEZ, I.; LLOMPART, M. P.; CELA, R. Solid-phase extraction of phenols. Journal of Chromatography A, 2000.

SHIMADZU CORPORATION. About Resolution, Part 1. Available in: <a href="https://www.shimadzu.com/an/hplc/support/lib/lctalk/resol-1.html">https://www.shimadzu.com/an/hplc/support/lib/lctalk/resol-1.html</a>. Accessed on: 28 August 2018a.

SHIMADZU CORPORATION. Theoretical Plate Number and Symmetry Factor. Available in: <a href="https://www.shimadzu.com/an/hplc/support/lib/lctalk/theoretical\_plate.html">https://www.shimadzu.com/an/hplc/support/lib/lctalk/theoretical\_plate.html</a>. Accessed on: 28 August 2018b.

SIMÕES, N. G.; CARDOSO, V. V.; FERREIRA, E.; BENOLIEL, M. J.; ALMEIDA, C. M. Experimental and statistical validation of SPME-GC-MS analysis of phenol and chlorophenols in raw and treated water. Chemosphere, 2007.

SKOOG, D. A.; WEST; HOLLER; CROUCH. Fundamentos de química analítica. [s.l.] Pioneira Thomson Learning, 2006.

SNYDER, L. R.; KIRKLAND, J. J.; GLAJCH, J. L. Practical HPLC method development. Wiley-Interscience, 2 edition, 2012.

STANDARD METHODS FOR THE EXAMINATION OF WATER AND WASTEWATER (APHA). American Public Health Association, Washington, DC, 22<sup>nd</sup> edition, 2012.

TERZOPOULOU, E.; VOUTSA, D.; KAKLAMANOS, G. A multi-residue method for determination of 70 organic micropollutants in surface waters by solid-phase extraction followed by gas chromatography coupled to tandem mass spectrometry. Environ Sci Pollut Res. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2014.

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO). Chlorophenols in Drinking-water -Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. Geneva, Switzerland, 2003.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

ZANG, L. Y., BARBERO, A. M., FRASCH, H. F. A rapid HPLC analysis for dermal penetration: The case study of 4-chloro-3-methylphenol (CMP) from metal working fluid trim. VX, Open Anal. Chem. J. 4, 10–17. 2010.

ZHANG, H.; ZHANG, Y.; LI, J.; YANG, M. Occurrence and exposure assessment of bisphenol analogues in source water and drinking water in China. Science of The Total Environment. Volume 655, 10 March 2019. 607-613 p.

ZHONG, W.; WANG, D.; WANG, Z. Distribution and potential ecological risk of 50 phenolic compounds in three rivers in Tianjin, China. Environmental Pollution, 235, 2018. 121-128 p.

# **CHAPTER III**

# Risk assessment and phenolic compounds occurrence in a surface water and their removal by conventional treatment

# 3.1 INTRODUCTION

The presence of phenolic compounds in surface water may have a natural, industrial, domestic or agricultural origin, through treated sewage discharges, application of pesticides, and pharmaceutical drugs (ZHOU et al., 2017). In developing countries, such waste is commonly disposed directly into natural waters and has a significant impact on the environment. The monitoring of these compounds by means of appropriate analytical techniques has been a reason of great international concern, which can be demonstrated by the number of real-world studies (MICHALOWICZ et al., 2011; ZHONG et al., 2010; TANG et al., 2013; WANG & WANG, 2018), that evidenced the phenols presence in micro and nano concentrations in surface water.

Nevertheless, few studies have been found on the occurrence and monitoring of these compounds in the Brazilian natural water, despite some established standards for phenolic compounds exist in the national legislation at CONAMA Resolution N° 357. The phenolic compounds in surface water play an important role among the organic micropollutants due to the environmental and toxicological interest. They can cause toxicity, persistence, and bioaccumulation effects in animals, vegetable organisms and may be dangerous for human health (ZHONG et al., 2018).

Conventional methods for the treatment of drinking water, that still widely used, which comprise coagulation / flocculation, sedimentation, filtration and disinfection, are ineffective for the removal of many organic micropollutants, such as phenols (KARABELAS & PLAKAS, 2011; ROSA et al., 2009). Another undesirable feature is the byproducts formation in the drinking water chlorination stop. The reaction of phenolic compounds already in the water with chlorine produces chlorophenols and polychlorophenols that are carcinogenic, and their presence can give a nasty smell and taste to the water (QU et al., 2010; SANTANA et al., 2009).

The toxicity of phenols can be associated to the hydrophobicity of the individual compound and formation of free radicals. Hydrophobicity affects the solubility of phenol in the cell and, therefore, the possibility of interaction between the compound with the specified cellular and tissue structures (MICHAŁOWICZ & DUDA, 2007). For example, the increased hydrophobicity of chlorophenols is related to the increase in the number of chlorine atoms that increases the toxicity of the individual compound. For instance, chlorine atom substituted in

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

ortho position in phenol molecule decreases its toxicity and meta substitution increases toxic action of the compound (BOYD et al., 2001)

The World Health Organization (WHO) has established a permissible concentration of phenolic content in drinking water of 1 $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (WHO, 2017) and because of their toxicity, phenolic compounds have been included in the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) list of priority compounds, which determines concentrations ranging from 0.03  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> to 4,000  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>, depending on the compound (EPA, 2015a). However, for the range of phenolic chemicals present in surface water have not been reported statutory standards in the legislation, drinking water guideline levels, or provisional guideline values based on toxicological (BAKEN et al., 2018). Therefore, environmental and human health risky studies can help in the determination of these standards and, consequently, in the proper management of the natural resource and potable water.

The environmental risk assessment (ERA) evaluates the likelihood that adverse ecological effects may occur or are occurring as a result of exposure to site contamination. Risks may include survival, reproductive impairment, growth impairment and loss of habitat and they are estimated at the population level (populations on site) (EPA, 2015b). As natural and anthropogenic materials enter the environment on a regular basis, and it is also frequently the interest to estimate the probability or likelihood of adverse effects of a chemical to human health.

In this regard, the aims of this research were (I) to identify and quantify phenolic compounds in a river belonging to an important watershed and in the water produced by a conventional water treatment plant (WTP), which supplies a population of more than 2 million people, around a year in Brazil, and (II) to assess the environmental and human health risk posed by these compounds. The environmental risk was calculated based on the hazard quotient (HQ) and the human health risk according to the margin of exposure (MOE).

# 3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 3.2.1 Sampling

The samplings were carried out in two different points as shown in Figure 3.1, according to the method of sampling, preserving, and storing of NBR 9898 for phenol analysis (ABNT, 1987). The recommendations of EPA 528 (EPA, 2000) were also considered. The studied waters were withdrawn in the river at the treatment plant entrance (RW) and at the exit of a conventional water treatment plant after chlorination (TW).





The studied river average water flow is  $300 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ . The climate at the collection point is hot and temperate, characterized by the occurrence of medium to high temperatures during most of the year, with an annual average temperature ranging from 18 to 27 °C. There is much more rainfall in the summer than in winter and the average annual rainfall is 1,390 mm. The WTP is responsible to water supply for 5 municipalities, this is an average of 2.5 million people. The adduction capacity of the WTP is 8,000 L s<sup>-1</sup>, but its flow rate average is 6,750 L s<sup>-1</sup>. Sampling was carried out over a hydrological year in order to identify and quantify the most recurrent phenolic compounds and to verify the influence of seasonality on the occurrence of them.

#### 3.2.2 Selected compounds for monitoring

Seventeen phenolic compounds were monitored in a raw water and in a treated water from a conventional WTP, having as reference the EPA priority compounds list. Seven of them are in the list, which are 2-chlorophenol, 4-chloro-3-metylphenol, 2-nitrophenol, 2,4-dimethylphenol, 2,4-dichlorophenol, 4,6-trichlorophenol, and 4-nitrophenol (EPA, 2014). The bisphenol A and

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

2-metylphenol, 3-metylphenol, 2,6-dichlorophenol, 2,3,5-trichlorophenol, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, 2,3,4-trichlorophenol, 2,3,6-trichlorophenol, 2,3,5,6-tetrachlorophenol, 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol, and 3,4,5-trichlorophenol were also considered. The main characteristics of the compounds can be seen in Annex I (p. 125 - 126).

#### 3.2.3 Water characterization

The raw water and the treated water were evaluated by pH, alkalinity, turbidity (Hach 2100AN turbidimeter), color (Hach DR 2800 spectrophotometer), and UV Absorption (254 nm - Hach DR 2800 Spectrometer) according to the Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater (APHA, 2012).

#### 3.2.4 Instrumental analysis

The presence of phenolic compounds was monitored in the surface water and treated water. The methodologies proposed by EPA (528, 3535A, and 8041) were used as basis, but it was adapted according to the need found throughout the developed of the research and the tests for the analytical method validation were based on ICH (2005), ANVISA (ANVISA, 2003), and INMETRO (INMETRO, 2007), as can be seen in Chapter II.

In the solid phase extraction, the  $C_{18} / 18\%$  cartridges (500 mg / 6 mL - Applied Separations) were used, conditioned with 5 mL of methanol, after 5 mL of MilliQ (ThermoScientific Smart2Pure 3 UV) water. Then, 1 L of the sample was percolated at pH 2, maintaining constant flow and close to 20 mL min<sup>-1</sup>. The cartridge remained under vacuum for 20 min after finalizing the concentration process for complete removal of moisture and the compounds were eluted using 2 times 1 mL of methanol. The entire extraction procedure was performed with a manifold (Supelco-Visiprep <sup>TM</sup>).

The phenolic compounds identification and quantification were carried out using the Shimadzu CGMS-QP2010 SE equipment coupled to FID detector. Zebron ZB-MultiResidue column (30 m x 0.32 mm x 0.50  $\mu$ m) and helium as carrier gas were used. The optimum oven programming was 40 °C for 4 minutes, 4 °C min<sup>-1</sup> to 240 °C and finally 240 °C for 5 minutes. The injection volume of the samples was 2  $\mu$ L in splitless mode, with the injector temperature at 275 °C. An automatic sampler (AOC-20i, Shimadzu) was used in all tests, programmed to perform a

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

solvent (methanol) wash (2 x) before and after each injection, in addition to settle the syringe with the sample (2 x). The FID detector temperature was maintained at 300 °C and an Air / H<sub>2</sub> mixture (400/40 mL min<sup>-1</sup>) was used for the combustion while a N<sub>2</sub> / Air mixture (30 mL min<sup>-1</sup>) was used as gas make-up to scan components through the detector in order to minimize the bandwidth of compounds.

#### 3.2.5 Risk assessment

#### 3.2.5.1 Environmental risk assessment

Hazard quotient (HQ) was employed to calculate the potential environmental risks of each target pollutant, which is described as follows in Equation 3.1 (EPA, 1986).

$$HQ = MEC/PNEC$$
 Equation 3.1

where MEC is the measured environmental concentration and PNEC is the predicted no effect concentration. The value of PNEC water was obtained from the ratio between the acute toxicity data (Lethal Concentration 50 (LC50) or Mean Effect Concentration 50 (EC50)) and an assessment factor (AF) of 1000 or from the ratio between the no observed effect concentration (NOEC) data and an AF of 10. The LC50, EC50 and NOEC values used can be seen in the ANNEX II. The lowest PNEC values and the highest phenolic compounds concentration in the evaluated water were considered for HQ calculation in order to obtain a worst scenario. The risk was classified into high risk (HQ > 1), medium risk ( $0.1 \le HQ \le 1$ ), low risk ( $0.01 \le HQ < 0.1$ ), and negligible risk (HQ < 0.01) (EMEA, 2006)

#### 3.2.5.2 Human health risk assessment

Human health risk was characterized by the margin of exposure (MOE) determination (Equation 3.2).

$$MOE = DWEL/MEC$$

MOE is obtained through the ratio between the safe exposure level (DWEL) and the highest concentration detected in the evaluated environment (MEC). The DWEL can be estimated by tolerable daily intake (TDI) (derived from the no-observed adverse effect level - NOAEL and safety factors), as shown in Equation 3.3.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

#### Equation 3.2

74

Where  $b_m$  is the body mass (60 kg), f the contribution of water to exposure (10%), and c the daily water consumption (2 L) (WHO, 2017). The value of TDI was obtained direct from the literature or calculated from the ratio between the non-observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) or the lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL) and an AF of 100 and 10000, respectively. The data values used can be seen in the ANNEX III (p. 131 – 133). The low risk is implied when MOE value is more than 100 for NOAEL-based assessments (EPA, 2012).

# 3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

### 3.3.1 Quality of the studied waters

From the physical-chemical characterization of the RW and TW monitored for one year, it is possible to verify the water quality according to the standards established by the Ministry of Health for drinking water (Ordinance N  $^{\circ}$  2914/2011 / N $^{\circ}$  5/2017 - consolidation), and the National Environmental Council for surface water (CONAMA 357).

The CONAMA 357/2005 establishes that the rivers classified in to classes I and II, which can be used for human supply following simplified and conventional treatment, must have pH between 6 and 9. This happens most of the time in the monitoring, except for a minimum value of 5.8 found in a sample (Figure 3.2) (p. 76). However, the Ordinance N° 2914/2011 recommends that the pH of the water distributed to the population be maintained in the range of 6 to 9.5, which happened in all samples during the year of observation. The pH has great influence on the bioavailability, absorption and solubility of the phenolic compounds. In water, phenolics tend to become more soluble at high pH. Since they can come from polar salts and they are very weak acids, their ionization is pH dependent. This ionization is the main factor that governs solubility (MOTA et al., 2008).



Figure 3.2: pH of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring

It is possible to notice that there are episodes in which the turbidity of the RW exceeds the values recommended by CONAMA 357/2005 for freshwater class I (40 NTU) and class II (100 NTU) (Figure 3.3) (p. 77). This increase is probably directly related to the watershed slopes and should be verified from the characteristics of the relief, soils, main channel, rainfall and land use. The measured turbidity values of the treated water were less than 0.5 NTU, which is in accordance with the Ordinance N° 2914 for treatments that use rapid filtration (conventional and direct filtration). The turbidity analysis is of extreme importance, because in the sediments transported can accumulate species of microorganisms and/or chemical elements that associate to the material in suspension, being transported in the dissolved form, or sometimes, colloidal.



Figure 3.3: Turbidity of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring

As can be seen in the Figure 3.4 (p. 78), the true color, most of the time, was within the range recommended by CONAMA 357/2005 for classification of freshwater in class II (up to 75 mg Pt L<sup>-1</sup>). But in four rainy months presented values much higher (201, 212, 85 and 107 mg Pt L<sup>-1</sup>) probably due to the impurity of rainwater, as sediments. This limitation is important because in natural waters the true color is associated with problems of aesthetics, difficulties in light penetration and the presence of recalcitrant compounds (not biodegradable or very low decomposition rates), which are generally toxic to organisms in the water. While there are more specific techniques for identifying toxic substances in water, the presence of true color may be indicative of this possibility. Already in the monitoring of this parameter in the treated water, all measured values were below the detection limit of the method (5 mg Pt-Co L<sup>-1</sup>), except for one month with 17 mg Pt-Co L<sup>-1</sup>.

Figure 3.4: True color of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring



Regarding the apparent color, Ordinance N° 2914/2011 establishes limits for this parameter in the treated water of 15 mg Pt-Co L<sup>-1</sup>, although it is an aesthetic attribute of water, not necessarily related to problems of contamination, is a standard of potability. As can be seen in the Figure 3.5 (p. 78), most of the values measured for TW were lower than the detection limit of the method (5 mg Pt-Co L<sup>-1</sup>), except for three samples that presented higher values than those established by the legislation (58, 32 and 24 mg Pt-Co L<sup>-1</sup>).





In addition to color, UV absorption was monitored at 254 nm. This parameter can be used as a representative of total organic carbon (TOC), because the organic compounds with aromatic structure or double bonds of carbon are absorbed by ultraviolet radiation at 254 nm. A decrease in absorbance occurs throughout the raw water after the water treatment, as expected (Figure 3.6) (p. 79). This removal is fundamental, since the presence of natural organic compounds in supply waters in concentrations above certain values has caused a series of problems in the water quality, being possible to mention the formation of total halogenated organic compounds when reacting with chlorine (GARZUZI et al., 1999).



Figure 3.6: UV absorption of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring

It is possible to realize that alkalinity is increased from RW to WT (Figure 3.7) (p. 80). This increase, although not presenting a risk to human health, occurs because alkalinity is an important determination in the control of water treatment, being related to the steps of pH correction, coagulation, reduction of hardness, and prevention of corrosion in pipes.



Figure 3.7: Alkalinity of the raw and treated water collected in one year of monitoring

In this way, water is a precious and essential commodity for life and the physical-chemical characterization of the samples shows differences between water quality during the monitoring periods. Although we live in a world surrounded by water, very little of it is conducive to human consumption, being the determination of quality and verification of legal prerequisites an important tool of natural resource management.

# **3.3.2** Monitoring of phenolic compounds in the river and in the treated water by conventional process

#### 3.3.2.1 Occurrence and concentration of phenolic compounds

As can be seen in the Table 3.1 (p. 81), sixteen phenolic compounds were detected at some point in the samplings between the seventeen investigated compounds in the raw and treated waters. The 3-methylphenol was the only one not observed in any of the samples evaluated. Probably, this compound was with concentrations below the limit of detection or was absence in the samples.

			Raw wat	ter	Treated water					
Compounds	Detection limit (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Frequency of detection (n=12)	C (µg L <sup>-1</sup> ) Min-Max	C (µg L <sup>-1</sup> ) Avarege	C (µg L <sup>-1</sup> ) Median	Frequency of detection (n=12)	C (µg L <sup>-1</sup> ) Min-Max	C (µg L <sup>-1</sup> ) Avarege	C (µg L <sup>-1</sup> ) Median	
2CP	0.091	1	2.433	2.433	2.433	1	1.741	1.741	1.741	
2MP	0.004	3	0.064 - 6.555	2.229	0.0664	2	0.666 - 5.486	3.076	3.076	
2NP	0.012	2	0.191 - 0.356	0.274	0.274	1	0.429	0.429	0.429	
24DMP	0.004	6	0.248 - 2.194	1.038	0.726	0				
24DCP	0.002	3	0.422 - 1.003	4.764	3.838	2	2.94 - 3.328	3.134	3.134	
26DCP	0.006	1	2.565	2.565	2.565	3	0.149 - 34.115	11.597	0.527	
4C3MP	0.002	0				4	0.147 - 0.524	0.308	0.282	
235TCP	0.014	4	0.216 - 5.712	0.374	0.354	2	0.453 - 3.712	2.083	2.083	
246TCP	0.028	3	1.131 - 38.619	13.681	1.294	2	0.077 - 25.893	12.985	12.985	
245TCP	0.01	1	0.257	0.257	0.257	1	0.225	0.225	0.225	
234TCP	0.018	7	0.780 - 3.106	2.353	2.467	4	0.676 - 2.22	1.431	1.414	
4NP	0.056	6	4.471 - 25.417	13.416	12.254	8	0.219 - 8.223	2.989	1.639	
2356TCP	0.005	0				2	0.867 - 4.432	2.65	2.65	
2346TCP	0.01	1	14.374	14.374	14.374	0				
345TCP	0.016	1	0.613	0.613	0.613	2	0.296 - 0.375	0.336	0.336	
BPA	0.02	4	0.093 - 1.456	0.532	0.290	5	0.363 - 3.566	1.876	2.135	

**Table 3.1:** Concentration analysis of phenolic compounds monitored for one year in a raw and a treated water from Brazil

The mean concentration range of the phenolic compounds in raw water was 0.257  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (245TCP) to 14.374  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (2346TCP). The level of phenols in surface water determined by other authors vary in magnification in several studies. For instance, in rivers of Singapore, phenols were determined at concentrations ranging from 0.12 to 5.90  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (TANG et al. 2013), and in Poland, from 0.02 to 7.070  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (MICHAŁOWICZ et al., 2011). Another study revealed that phenols were present in Moscow River (Russia) at concentrations ranging from 0.90 to 10.80  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (FILIPOV et al., 2002). Relatively high amounts of this compounds were determined in Germany, at concentrations of 43 to 13.80  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (MONTERO, 2005), and in polluted China rivers, which were detected at concentrations ranging from 0.18 to 135.50  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> (WANG & WANG, 2018). The differences between the concentration's ranges indicate the variation in the consumption pattern of these phenolics compounds among different countries.

The most detected compounds in the studied raw water were 234TCP, 24DMP and 4NP. The prevalence of them can be explained by their widespread use in industry and their presence in common sewage, beyond their low degradability (BALASUBRAMANIAN et al., 2019) and hydrophilic characteristics (low values of log  $k_{ow}$ ). Nthunya et al. (2019), also found with frequency the 4NP during a year of monitoring in a superficial water in South Africa with concentrations ranging from 0.85 to 12.16 µg L<sup>-1</sup>. Besides, the highest concentration value was detected for 246TCP equal to 38.619 µg L<sup>-1</sup>. Gao et al. (2008) also found high values of this compound in a river in China (28.65 µg L<sup>-1</sup>). It must be noted that this concentrations of 246TCP detected in the raw water exceeded the admissible standard formulated by EPA (2019), which sets the maximum limit for human consumption in water equal to 1.50 µg L<sup>-1</sup>.

Still in Table 3.1 regarding to the treated water, the mean concentration of the phenolic compounds was 0.225  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> to 12.985  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup> for the same compounds detected in the raw water, 245TCP and 2346TCP respectively. Comparing this samples concentrations values observed in this study with those reported in the literature, the levels were in the range found for some compounds in the potable water in Italy (3.010 to 69.10  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) (BIANCHI et al., 2002) and Poland (0.05 to 7.07  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) (MICHAŁOWICZ et al., 2011). However, the average concentration was significantly higher than those found by Sartori et al. (2012) for another drinking water in Brazil (0.008 to 0.238  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>).

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

Moreover, the most detected compounds in the treated water were 4NP and BPA. There is a concern in respect to these phenols, since the BPA is known as endocrine disruptor (ZHANG et al., 2019), and trace level consumption of 4NP would cause severe health hazards such as liver, kidney damages, nausea, cyanosis, drowsiness, and headache (MULCHANDANI et al., 2005). The highest concentration value found for 26DCP ( $34.115 \mu g L^{-1}$ ) is also a cause to stay tuned. This compound is used as a starting material for the manufacture of tri-chlorophenol, tetra-chlorophenols and pentachlorophenol, and it is used as sex pheromone with pesticide control (CPCB, 2016). It may be also generated as by-products during water incineration, the bleaching of pulp with chlorine, and in the dichlorination of drinking water. The toxicity and persistence of chlorophenols can directly present a threat to humans through contamination of drinking water supplies (KANSAL et al., 2007).

Thus, to better understand the origin of these compounds in the water this analysis should be accompanied by a study of soil use and occupation in the river area, including the discharge of domestic effluents and industrial wastewater, since water quality is extremely dependent on the watershed preservation.

### 3.3.2.2 <u>Seasonality influence on the concentration of phenolic compounds</u>

Concerning to the concentration variation of the phenolic compounds during the year of monitoring in the raw water, in general, except for October and May, the highest values of total concentration are related to the months in which there was less precipitation, as can be seen in Figure 3.8 (p. 84). Wang et al. (2011) reported the same result indicating that micropollutant in summer water samples in wet weather showed lower occurrence levels than those in winter during dry weather conditions. This could be due to promoted biodegradation of the compounds in warmer temperature, and the elevated dilution during wetter summer (LUO et al., 2014).





Nevertheless, rainfall did not always reduce the concentration levels of micropollutants released. In some cases, rainfall was identified as a contributor to the emission of micropollutants to surface water. For Zhong et al. 2018, the concentrations of total phenolic compounds in wet-season samples were higher than those in dry-season samples. They attribute this to the fact that the wet season is the busy farming period in which phenolic compounds are extensively used in pesticides; thus, the increased phenolic compounds might result from seasonal emissions. However, the region of the studied raw water sampling is not characterized by large agricultural activities. Some other studies revealed that the chemicals, as bisphenol A and biocides, used in building material (e.g. pavement materials, facades and roof paintings) were able to leach during precipitation and accumulate to remarkable levels in roof runoff and subsequently ended up in surface water (JUNGNICKEL et al., 2008; SAKAMOTO et al., 2007).

Being thus, the numerous surface waters variables, such as pH, temperature, sediments, microorganism's behavior, turbidity, organic matter, solar radiation, among others, and the use

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

and occupation of the watershed make it a challenge to predict the comportment of the compounds in these environments.

#### 3.3.2.3 <u>Phenolic compounds removal by a conventional WTP</u>

The WTPs that have a conventional treatment system control a wide range of substances, such as particulates, carbon elements, nutrients, and pathogens. However, removal of micropollutants, as phenolic compounds, is often insufficient and the mechanisms involved to removal these pollutants may be retention of size, biodegradation in the filtration step, adsorption, and chlorine oxidation (LUO et al., 2014). In these stages also, the formation of by-products could occurred, especially in the chlorination (BIANCHI et al., 2002). Figure 3.9 (p. 85) shows the removal efficiency of the phenolic compounds found in the raw water of the WTP evaluated. The results of 100% removal correspond to the samples where the compound was detected in the raw water but in the treated water was not found or was below the quantification limit. Thus, it is known that not necessarily the phenol has been completely removed, which may be present at concentrations below the limit of detection and quantification. In Figure 3.10 (p. 86), could be observed the concentration of phenolic compounds in the treated water that had negative removal or were not found in the raw water.

Figure 3.9: Removal of each phenolic compound per month by the conventional water treatment



Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

85



Figure 3.10: Concentration of phenolic compounds per month in the treated water that had

In general, the removal efficiency of these compounds during the monitoring showed great variability as in other researches (Michałowicz et al.,2011; LUO et al., 2014). For example, 4NP showed removals ranging from 38.3% to 94.59%, some compounds had their concentration increased after the treatment, and others were only identified in the treated water. This variation can be related to the punctual collection of the samples, and the hydraulic holding time of the treatment which was not respected.

The 2346TCP (Log K<sub>ow</sub> = 4.45) was the compound that had the highest removal efficiency and was not identified in any sample of the treated water. It removal may have occurred by adsorption in some part of the WTP. Suárez et al. (2009) observed a relatively high removals (around 80%) for the compounds with Log K<sub>ow</sub> equal 4 due to sorption. The general rule for applying K<sub>ow</sub> to the sorption estimation say that log K<sub>ow</sub> < 2.5 indicates low sorption potential, 2.5 < log K<sub>ow</sub> < 4 indicates medium sorption potential, and log K<sub>ow</sub> > 4 indicates high sorption potential (ROGERS, 1996).

About the compounds that increase their concentration after the treatment (2MP, 2NP, 26DCP, 235TCP, and BPA), it supposed that this increase may have occurred due to external factors,

<sup>86</sup>
such as penetration of contaminants in the water-supply systems, i.e., periodical contamination of sediments, soil, or rain water with the compounds, which were in contact with taken water (MICHAŁOWICZ et al., 2011). In addition, another factor is the use of aerated grit chamber in the treatment that could cause significant increase of phenolic compounds, specially BPA and nonylphenol, because the compounds originally attached to the grits could be peeled off due to air agitation (NIE et al., 2012). The negative removal can be also ascribed to the daily concentration fluctuations during the sampling period, the analytical uncertainty, or desorption of molecules from suspended particulate matter (KÖCK-SCHULMEYER et al., 2013).

Besides, the amounts of 26DCP and 235TCP in drinking water supplied significantly increased, the 4C3MP and 2356TCP were not detected in any raw water sample but were identified in the treated water. They are chlorinated compounds that may have appeared in the chlorination process due to substitution of organic matter and low molecular weight compounds (present in raw water) with chlorine atoms derived from inorganic chlorine oxidants (MICHAŁOWICZ & DUDA, 2007; BIANCHI et al., 2002). According to toxicological and epidemiological studies, the long-term consumption of drinking water containing low or trace levels (ng L<sup>-1</sup> and  $\mu$ g L<sup>-1</sup>) of disinfection byproducts (DBP) may have chronic adverse effects on human health, potentially leading to bladder cancer, colorectal cancer, birth defects, and many other health issues (LI & MICTH, 2018; FREEMAN et al., 20017 ).

These results of Figure 3.9 (p. 85) and Figure 3.10 (p. 86) show that compounds even in the same usage class were removed to fairly different degrees as was found by Michałowicz et al. (2011). In their studies were analyzed the presence of 2CP, 24DCP, 245TCP, 246TCP, and polychlorophenols in six different months comparing two rivers and two water treatment plants. The results did not show a logic in the removal or increase of the compounds by the conventional process of water treatment, since in some samples the phenolic compounds were totally removed and in others their increase or formation occurred. Generally, the removal difference among distinct compounds in WTPs could be ascribed to a number of factors such as micropollutant properties, operational conditions, and water quality, which makes it hard to define the exact causes of the removal or increase of phenolic compounds in the treated water.

As the raw water has different characteristics throughout the year and the WTP uses the same treatment technology independent of the water quality, it was sought to evaluate the correlation

between the values of turbidity and true color measured in the raw water and the percentage of removal of the most recurrent phenolic compounds (4NP and 234TCP). Pearson's correlation coefficient was used for this, but no dependence was found. The correlation between the concentration of these compounds in the raw and treated water was also evaluated, however any correlation was detected.

#### 3.3.3 Environmental and human health risk assessment

Figure 3.11 and Table 3.2 show the risk assessment for the two-water source studied, reminding that for the calculations were considered the highest measured environmental concentration (MEC) value of each compound during the monitored year. Using the HQ method, phenolic compounds for which HQ exceeded 1.0 were identified as potential stressors to the aquatic environment and the risk levels of the potential stressors were ranked according to the HQ values.

Observing the toxicological risk for the raw water, the acute risk for all compounds was between high and medium, while the chronic risk presented a greater degree variety, but the majority was high. Some recent studies found in the literature reported by Zhong et al. (2018), Peng et. al (2017), and Yan et al. (2017) also identified high ecological risks for phenolic compounds by the HQ method in surface water. The 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol had the highest acute HQ (28.747) and the 2,4-dichlorophenol the highest chronic HQ (2.007) in the raw water. Jin et al. (2011) also identified these chlorophenols at three rivers in China, but both compounds presented minimal ecological risk. The chronic risk for the 3,4,5-Trichlorophenol was not calculate because its NOEC was not found in the literature.

Regarding the human health risk assessment (HRA), most of the compounds have a huge probability to offer risk in the raw water and after undergoing conventional treatment, demonstrating that the process used to treat the water in the WTP are not being totally efficient in removing the risk related to the phenolic compounds evaluated. Selvaraj et al. (2014) also investigated the HRA for some phenolic compounds in surface water, such as bisphenol A, which exhibited a significant risk as presented in this study. The only micropollutants that offered small risk in the treated water were 4-nitrophenol and 4-chloro-3-methylphenol. As well as 2,4-dimethylphenol and 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol, that their concentrations in the treated

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

water was below the method quantification limit and for the reason the water can be considered free of HRA.



Figure 3.11: Overall risk assessment

	Raw water					Treated water		
Compounds	ERA			HRA		HRA		
	Ac	Acute toxicity		Chronic toxicity		Classification	MOE	Classification
	HQ	Classification	HQ	Classification	MOE	Classification	MOE	Classification
2-Chlorophenol	0.371	Medium risk	0.049	High risk	3.699	High probability of risk	5.168	High probability of risk
2-Methylphenol	0.504	Medium risk	0.006	Low risk	22.884	High probability of risk	27.344	High probability of risk
2-Nitrophenol	0.631	Medium risk	0.005	Low risk	0.0004	High probability of risk	0.0003	High probability of risk
2,4-Dimethylphenol	0.187	Medium risk	0.055	High risk	27.345	High probability of risk	**	**
2,4-Dichlorophenol	6.689	High risk	2.007	High risk	0.897	High probability of risk	2.705	High probability of risk
2,6-Dichlorophenol	1.481	High risk	0.001	Low risk	3.509	High probability of risk	0.264	High probability of risk
4-Chloro-3-Methylphenol	**	**	**	**	**	**	1,717.32	Small probability of risk
2,3,5-Trichlorophenol	0.443	Medium risk	0.0004	Low risk	15.756	High probability of risk	2.424	High probability of risk
2,4,6-Trichlorophenol	14.854	High risk	0.772	Medium risk	0.233	High probability of risk	0.348	High probability of risk
2,4,5-Trichlorophenol	0.163	Medium risk	0.007	Low risk	35.082	High probability of risk	40.022	High probability of risk
2,3,4-Trichlorophenol	1.553	High risk	0.031	High risk	2.897	High probability of risk	4.053	High probability of risk
4-Nitrophenol	4.236	High risk	0.847	Medium risk	129.833	Small probability of risk	401.292	Small probability of risk
2,3,5,6-Tetrachlorophenol	**	**	**	**	**	**	2.03	High probability of risk
2,3,4,6-Tetrachlorophenol	28.747	High risk	1.437	High risk	0.626	High probability of risk	**	**
3,4,5-Trichlorophenol	1.533	High risk	*	*	14.682	High probability of risk	24.015	High probability of risk
BPA	0.766	Medium risk	0.029	High risk	103.03	Small probability of risk	42.066	High probability of risk

Table 3.2: Environmental and human health risk assessment of phenolic compounds in the raw water and treated water by conventional process

\*NOEC not found in the literature; \*\*the compound was not detected.

Therefore, a significant point concerning to toxicological risk assessment is that the contamination with phenolic compounds in surface water and drinking water varies widely between different regions and countries, since it will depend on the amount of the compounds used, the generated effluents treatment and the technologies used to treat the water, besides the climate of each location. Thereby, the HQ and MOE values obtained for a phenolic compound in a specific region do not necessarily reflect the risks in other locations.

# 3.4 CONCLUSION

This work mainly investigated the seasonal distribution and the potential pollution of seventeen phenolic compounds in a water river and their removal by conventional WTP around one year. The risks assessments were also evaluated. The results indicated that sixteen phenolic compounds were detected at some point in the samplings between the seventeen investigated compounds in the raw and treated waters. The mean phenolic compounds concentration range in the one year of analysis for the raw water was  $0.257 \,\mu g \, L^{-1}$  to  $14.374 \,\mu g \, L^{-1}$  and in the treated water was  $0.225 \,\mu g \, L^{-1}$  to  $12.985 \,\mu g \, L^{-1}$  for the same compounds, being them the 245TCP and the 2346TCP respectively. The most detected compounds in the studied raw water were 234TCP, 24DMP, and 4NP and in the treated water were 4NP and BPA. In order to better understand the origin of these compounds in the study waters it was clear that the analysis should be accompanied by a study of soil use and occupation of the watershed.

Concerning to the concentration variation of the phenolic compounds in the surface water during the monitoring, in general, except for October and May, the highest values of total concentration are related to the months in which there was less precipitation, demonstrating that the presence of the phenolics was subject to seasonality. The removal efficiency results of the phenolic compounds by the conventional treatment process of the WTP did not show a logic in the removal or increase of the compounds, since in some samples the phenolic compounds were totally removed and in others their increase or formation occurred.

The risks assessments confirmed the toxicity potential concern regarding the phenolic compounds, since most of the evaluated compounds were highly toxic to any trophic level and posed a significant human health risk. Subsequently the risk reduction of phenolics using

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

conventional WTP was low, requiring attention. It is necessary to think about more efficient technologies considering the increase in contamination of water source by complex chemicals.

# REFERENCE

ANVISA. Guia para validação de métodos analíticos e bioanalíticos. Resolução RE n 899, 29 de maio de 2003. Brazil, 2003.

ASSOCIAÇÃO BRASILEIRA DE NORMAS TÉCNICAS (ABNT). NBR 9898: Preservação e técnicas de amostragem de efluentes líquidos e corpos receptores. Rio de Janeiro, 1987. 122 p. Available in: <a href="http://licenciadorambiental.com.br/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/NBR9.898-Coleta-de-Amostras.pdf">http://licenciadorambiental.com.br/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/NBR9.898-Coleta-de-Amostras.pdf</a>>. Accessed on: 01 October 2017.

BALASUBRAMANIAN, P.; BALAMURUGAN, T. S. T.; CHEN, S.-M.; CHEN, T. W. Simplistic synthesis of ultrafine CoMnO3 nanosheets: As an excellent electrocatalyst for highly sensitive detection of toxic 4-nitrophenol in environmental water samples. Journal of Hazardous Materials. Volume 361, 5 January 2019. 123-133 p.

BAKEN, K. A.; SJERPS, R. M. A.; SCHRIKS, M.; VAN WEZEL, A. P. Toxicological risk assessment and prioritization of drinking water relevant contaminants of emerging concern. Environment International, 118, 2018. 293–303 p.

BIANCHI, F.; CARERI, M.; MUCCHINO, C.; MUSCI, M. Improved Determination of Chlorophenols in Water by Solid-Phase Microextraction Followed by Benzoylation and Gas Chromatography With Electron Capture Detection. Chromatographia, 55, May, 2002.

BOYD, E.; KILLHAM, K.; MEHARG A. Toxicity of mono-, - di- and tri-chlorophenols to lux marked terrestrial bacteria Burkholderia species Rasc C2 and Pseudomonas fluorescens. microbiol. let. 43, 157, 2001.

CENTRAL POLLUTION CONTROL BOARD (CPCB). Phenols & phenolic compounds. Ministry of Environment, Forests & Climate Change. India. August, 2016. 13 p.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 8041 -Phenols by Gas Chromatography: Capillary Column Technique. Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology, Washington, DC. 1985.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Volume I: Human health evaluation manual (Part A). In EPA540/1-86/060 Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund; US Environmental Protection Agency: Washington, DC, USA, 1986.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 3535A: solid-phase extraction (SPE). United States, January 1998. 1-19 p. Available in: <a href="https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-06/documents/epa-3535a.pdf">https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-06/documents/epa-3535a.pdf</a>>. Accessed on: 02 August 2017.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 528. Determination of phenols in drinking water by solid phase extraction and capillary column gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS). Washington, 2000. Available in: <https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/m\_528.pdf>. Accessed on: 07 December 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Quantitative Risk Assessment Calculations. Sustainable Futures / P2 Framework Manual 2012 EPA-748-B12-001. 2012. Available in: <a href="https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-05/documents/13.pdf">https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-05/documents/13.pdf</a>>. Accessed on: December 18, 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Priority Pollutant List. 2014. Available in: < https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/priority-pollutant-list-epa.pdf>. Accessed on: 07 December 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Supplemental Information for Water Quality Standards Regulatory Revisions Final Rule. New/Updated CWA 304(a) Criteria Recommendations Published since May 30. Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology, Washington, DC. 2000. July 2015a. 1 – 23p.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Ecological risk assessment. April 2015b. Available in: <a href="https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-">https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-</a>

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

07/documents/upper-animas-bera-presentation-april-2015.pdf>. Accessed on: 17 January 2019.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. National Recommended Water Quality Criteria - Human Health Criteria Table. Available in: < https://www.epa.gov/wqc/national-recommended-water-quality-criteria-human-health-criteria-table>. Accessed on: 05 January 2019.

EUROPEAN MEDICINES AGENCY (EMEA). Guideline on the environmental risk assessment of medicinal products for human use. Doc. Ref. EMA/CHMP/SWP/4447/00 corr 1\*. London, 2006.

FILIPOV, O.; POSOKH, V.; TIKHOMIROVA, T.; SHAPOVALOVA, E.; TSIZIN, G.; SHPIGUN, O.; ZOLOTOV, Y. On-line sorption-chromatographic determination of phenols with amperometric detection. J Anal Chem. 57, 2002. 788–793 p.

FREEMAN, L. E. B.; CANTOR, K. P.; BARIS, D.; NUCKOLS, J. R.; JOHNSON, A.; COLT, J. S.; SCHWENN, M.; WARD, M. H.; LUBIN, J. H.; WADDELL, R. Bladder cancer and water disinfection by-product 285 exposures through multiple routes: A population-based case– control study (New 286 England, USA). Environ Health Persp 2017.

GAO, J.; LIU, L.; LIU, X.; ZHOU, H.; HUANG, S.; WANG, Z. Levels and spatial distribution of chlorophenols–2, 4-dichlorophenol, 2, 4, 6-trichlorophenol, and pentachlorophenol in surface water of China. Chemosphere, 71(6), 2008. 1181-1187 p.

HARMONISED TRIPARTITE GUIDELINE (ICH). Validation of Analytical Procedures: Text and Methodology Q2 (R1). November 2005. 1-17 p. Available in: <http://www.ich.org/fileadmin/Public\_Web\_Site/ICH\_Products/Guidelines/Quality/Q2\_R1/St ep4/Q2\_R1\_\_Guideline.pdf>. Accessed on: 10 Sept. 2017.

INMETRO. Orientação Sobre Validação de Métodos de Ensaios Químicos - DOQ-CGCRE-008. Instituto Nacional de Metrologia e Normalização e Qualidade Industrial. Brazil, 2007.

JIN, X.; GAO, J.; ZHA, J.; XU, Y.; WANG, Z.; GIESY, J. P.; RICHARDSON, K. L. A tiered ecological risk assessment of three chlorophenols in Chinese surface waters. Environmental

Science and Pollution Research, 19(5), 2011. 1544–1554 p.

JUNGNICKEL, C.; STOCK, F.; BRANDSCH, T.; RANKE, J. Risk assessment of biocides in roof paint. Environ Sci Pollut Res, 15, 2008. 258–65 p.

KANSAL, S. K.; SINGH, M.; SUD D. Optimization of Photocatalytic Process Parameters for the Degradation of 2,4,6-Trichlorophenol in Aqueous Solutions. Chemical Engineering Communications, Vol. 194, No. 6, 2007. 787-802 p.

KARABELAS, A.; PLAKAS, K. Membrane Treatment of Potable Water for Pesticides Removal. Herbicides, Theory and Applications. ISBN 978-953-307-975-2. InTech, China, 2011. 369-408 p.

KÖCK-SCHULMEYER, M.; VILLAGRASA, M.; LÓPEZ, DE A. M.; CÉSPEDES-SÁNCHEZ, R.; VENTURA, F.; BARCELÓ, D. Occurrence and behavior of pesticides in wastewater treatment plants and their environmental impact. Sci Total Environ, 458, 2013. 466– 76 p.

LI, X. F.; MITCH, W. A. Drinking water disinfection byproducts (DBPs) and human 276 health effects: multidisciplinary challenges and opportunities. Environ Sci Technol 277, 52, 2018.1681–1689 p.

LUO, Y.; GUO, W.; NGO, H. H., NGHIEM, L. D.; HAI, F. I.; ZHANG, J.; LIANG, S.; WANG, X. C. A review on the occurrence of micropollutants in the aquatic environment and their fate and removal during wastewater treatment. Science of the Total Environment 473–474, 2014. 619–641 p.

MICHAŁOWICZ, J.; DUDA, W. Phenols - Sources and Toxicity. Polish J. of Environ. Stud. Vol. 16, N° 3, 2007. 347-362 p.

MICHAŁOWICZ, J.; STUFKA-OLCZYK, J.; MILCZAREK, A.; MICHNIEWICZ, M. Analysis of annual fluctuations in the content of phenol, chlorophenols and their derivatives in chlorinated drinking waters. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 18(7), 2011. 1174-1183 p.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

MONTERO, L.; CONRADI, S.; WEISS, H.; POPP, P. Determination of phenols in lake and ground water samples by stir bar sorptive extraction–thermal desorption–gas chromatography– mass spectrometry. Journal of Chromatography A, 1071, 2005. 163-169 p.

MOTA, F. L.; QUEIMADA, A. J.; PINHO, S. P.; MACEDO, E. A. Aqueous Solubility of Some Natural Phenolic Compounds. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 47, 2008. 5182–5189 p.

MULCHANDANI, P.; HANGARTER, C.M.; LEI, Y.; CHEN, W.; MULCHANDANI, A. Amperometric microbial biosensor for p-nitrophenol using moraxella sp. modified carbon paste electrode Biosens. Bioelectron., 21, 2005. 523-527 p.

NIE, Y.; QIANG, Z.; ZHANG, H.; BEN, W. Fate and seasonal variation of endocrinedisrupting chemicals in a sewage treatment plant with A/A/O process. Sep Purif Technol, 84, 2012. 9–15 p.

NTHUNYA, L. N.; KHUMALO, N. P.; VERLIEFDE, A. R.; MAMBA, B. B.; MHLANGA, S. D. Quantitative analysis of phenols and PAHs in the Nandoni Dam in Limpopo Province, South Africa: a preliminary study for dam water quality management. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 5 February 2019.

PENG, F. J.; PAN, C. G.; ZHANG, M.; ZHANG, N. S.; WINDFELD, R.; SALVITO, D.; YING, G. G. Occurrence and ecological risk assessment of emerging organic chemicals in urban rivers: Guangzhou as a case study in China. Science of The Total Environment, 589, 2017. 46–55 p.

QU, X.; TIAN, M.; LIAO, B.; CHEN, A. Enhanced electrochemical treatment of phenolic pollutants by an effective adsorption and release process. Electrochemical Acta 55, 5367. 2010.

ROGERS, H. R. Sources, behavior and fate of organic contaminants during sewage treatment and in sewage sludges. Sci Total Environ 185, 1996. 3–26 p.

ROSA, M. J.; VIEIRA, P.; MENAIA, J. O tratamento de água para consumo humano face à qualidade da água de origem. Instituto Regulador de Águas e Resíduos e Laboratório Nacional de Engenharia Civil. Europress, Lda. 2009. 15-24 p.

SAKAMOTO, H.; SHOJI, S.; KANEKO, H. Leaching characteristics of bisphenol A from epoxy-resin pavement materials. Toxicol Environ Chem, 89, 2007. 191–203 p.

SANTANA, C. M.; FERRERA, Z. S.; PADRÓN, M. E. T.; RODRÍGUEZ, J. J. S. Methodologies for the extraction of phenolic compounds from environmental samples: New approaches. Molecules, 14, 298. 2009.

SARTORI, A. V.; KRAUSS, T. M.; BRAGA, A. M. C. B.; YAMAZAKI, A. G. A.; OLIBEIRA, R. M. Chlorophenols in tap water from wells and surface sources in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil - method validation and analysis. Química Nova, vol. 35, n° 4. São Paulo, 2012.

SELVARAJ, K. K.; SHANMUGAM, G.; SAMPATH, S.; JOAKIM LARSSON, D. G.; RAMASWAMY, B. R. GC–MS determination of bisphenol A and alkylphenol ethoxylates in river water from India and their ecotoxicological risk assessment. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety, 99, 2014. 13–20 p.

STANDARD METHODS FOR THE EXAMINATION OF WATER AND WASTEWATER (APHA). American Public Health Association, Washington, DC, 22<sup>nd</sup> edition, 2012.

SUÁREZ, S.; LEMA, J. M.; OMIL, F. Pre-treatment of hospital wastewater by coagulation–flocculation and flotation. Bioresour Technol 100, 2009. 2138–46 p.

TANG, S., LIN, X. H., LI, S. F. Y., LEE, H. K. In-syringe dispersive solid-phase extraction using dissolvable layered double oxide hollow spheres as sorbent followed by high-performance liquid chromatography for determination of 11 phenols in river water. Journal of Chromatography A, 1373, 2014. 31–39 p.

WANG, C.; SHI, H.; ADAMS, C. D.; GAMAGEDARA, S.; STAYTON, I.; TIMMONS, T. Investigation of pharmaceuticals in Missouri natural and drinking water using high performance liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. Water Res., 45, 2011.1818–28 p.

WANG, W. Z. A D.; WANG, Z. Distribution and potential ecological risk of 50 phenolic compounds in three rivers in Tianjin, China. Environmental Pollution 235, 2018. 121-128 p.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO). Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. Fourthedition.Geneva,2017.Availablein:<http://www.who.int/water\_sanitation\_health/publications/drinking-water-quality-guidelines-</td>4-including-1st-addendum/en/ >. Accessed: May 20, 2018.

YAN, Z.; LIU, Y.; YAN, K.; WU, S.; HAN, Z.; GUO, R.; CHEN, J. Bisphenol analogues in surface water and sediment from the shallow Chinese freshwater lakes: Occurrence, distribution, source apportionment, and ecological and human health risk. Chemosphere, 184, 2017. 318–328 p.

ZHANG, H.; ZHANG, Y.; LI, J.; YANG, M. Occurrence and exposure assessment of bisphenol analogues in source water and drinking water in China. Science of The Total Environment. Volume 655, 10 March 2019. 607-613 p.

ZHONG, W.; WANG, D.; XU, X.; LUO, Q.; WANG, B.; SHAN, X.; WANG, Z. Screening level ecological risk assessment for phenols in surface water of the Taihu Lake. Chemosphere, 80(9), 2010. 998-1005 p.

ZHONG, W.; WANG, D.; WANG, Z. Distribution and potential ecological risk of 50 phenolic compounds in three rivers in Tianjin, China. Environmental Pollution, 235, 2018. 121-128 p.

ZHOU, M.; ZHANG, J.; SUN, C. Occurrence, Ecological and Human Health Risks, and Seasonal Variations of Phenolic Compounds in Surface Water and Sediment of a Potential Polluted River Basin in China. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 14(10), 2017.

# **CHAPTER IV**

# DCMD as an alternative in the removal of phenolic compounds in water and risk reduction

## 4.1 INTRODUCTION

Clean water is a human need for many different activities. Due to population and economic growth, the rapidly intensifying production and use of chemicals, longer periods of reduced river discharge, and improved sensitivity of analytical techniques, the number of chemicals that is detected in the aquatic environment is increasing. Thus, water pollution with various chemical wastes, such as phenolic compounds, is a serious problem of contemporary society associated with an expectation of high-water consumption. Phenols are found in wastewater, as well as in all-natural aquatic systems (AHMARUZZAMAN, 2008), and are among the priority pollutants of the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), one of the world's leading environmental control, due to their unpleasant tastes, odors, and toxicity even at low concentrations (EPA, 2014).

However, removal of phenolic compounds from water is challenging, because of their high reactivity and solubility (BUSCA et al., 2008), thereby the development of effective methods for the removal of this compounds from contaminated water is still an important topic. For many years the main purpose of city water treatment was simply to reduce the number of suspended solids, oxygen-demanding materials, dissolved inorganic compounds and pathogenic bacteria. However, efforts are being done to adopt better water treatment conditions. Among the most common organic pollutants are phenol derivatives (THE & MOHAMED, 2011). The removal of these micro-pollutants has been possible as the water treatment progresses, due to the appearance of different techniques such as chemical precipitation, filtration, electrodeposition, ionic adsorption, membrane filtration, solvent extraction biodegradation, adsorption on activated carbon, organic polymers and inorganic compounds, electrochemical or photocatalytic oxidation, biochemical processes, among others (BO et al., 2008).

Some of these techniques have many limitations, such as incomplete treatment, high cost, generation of toxic by-products, and instability (JIN et al., 2007; MOHAMMADI & KAZEMI, 2014). For example, the chlorophenol biodegradation is not feasible because it has a slow and incomplete kinetics and the products formed are more toxic to the environment and humans than the precursors (AGHAV et al., 2011). Among these methodologies alternative, in the membrane separation processes the direct contact membrane distillation (DCMD) has attracted

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

attention to applications with more complex water and in different situations, due to the high quality water produced, stability, and when associated with the renewable energy source the process cost decreases effectively. Furthermore, when compared to nanofiltration, reverse osmosis, and electrodialysis, membrane distillation has some advantages, such as: (a) low operating temperature, which allows its association to energy sources such as geothermal, solar and industrial residual heat; (b) operation at room pressure, which increases the system's security and decreases costs of equipment; (c) membrane fouling is less severe (MANNA & PAL, 2016).

The DCMD is a thermally driven separation process in which a hydrophobic microporous membrane separates a hot feed stream and a cold receiving phase (ALKHUDHIRI et al., 2012). The driving force of heat transport is the temperature gradient, which results in a water vapor pressure differential which causes vapor transport through the membrane pores. The temperature gradient around 30 °C is sufficient to promote separation. DMCD is the oldest and most used membrane distillation process, having liquid phases in direct contact with both sides of the membrane, where there is simultaneous transfer of heat and mass determined by the heat flow and transfer coefficients on the feed and permeate sides (ASHOOR et al., 2016). The heat losses by conduction through the membrane matrix are higher in the DCMD than in other membrane distillation configurations, due to the existence of a continuous contact between the membrane surfaces and the permeate and feed solutions (QATARISH et al., 2013).

Nonetheless, this configuration is easy to operate, widely used, is simple, does not require the use of an external condenser in the permeate collection, and a high flow can be obtained under the correct operating conditions. In addition, it has high rejection factor, with theoretical exclusion of 100% for non-volatile solutes (KHAYET & MATSUURA, 2011; EL BOURAWI et al. al., 2006). As a result to these features, membrane distillation has been recently widely studied, and it is promised to be a cost-effective technology to treat water and wastewater (BAPPY et al., 2016).

Among the applications of DCMD, water treatment with phenolic compounds is a task, since this technology has applications as a uniform focus on the separation of non-volatile components. Although understanding the transport of volatile components present in water treatment is necessary even if the treatment aims are focused on non-volatile contaminants

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

(SALLS et al., 2018). Some studies have examined the MD treatment for volatile and semivolatile organic contaminants, noting that the retention is related to the volatility and hydrophobicity of the contaminant (WIJEKOON et al., 2014; KUJAWA et al., 2015, SALLS et al., 2018; RAZA et al., 2018) and the rejection rates varied widely from poor to high rejections, showing the need to study the behavior of each compound with the technology (WIJEKOON et al., 2014).

Knowing alone the performance of the DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds is not sufficient to determine if the presence of this micropollutants in the concentrations which they are found in the permeate put in risk the human health. The lack of insight into the human health relevance of many chemicals appearing in the water cycle is a growing concern for drinking water utilities (BAKEN et al., 2018). Notably, environment (ERA) and human health risk assessments (HRA) must be carried to support decision making to mitigate risk where needed. The absence of risk investigation and management may thus unreliably regulate the quality of water resources and efficiency of treatment processes (WEE & ARIS, 2017).

As environmental legislation and health quality standards become increasingly restrictive, demands arise for the definition of strategies for the development of clean technologies, improvement of existing processes and development of robust water purification systems. In this way, seeking solutions to established problems and anticipating new sources of pollution, the present work addresses a preliminary study on the removal of phenolic compounds in an superficial water by the DMCD process and the reduction of risk.

# 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 4.2.1 Sampling

The collecting point was in one river (RW) at the entrance of a WTP that provide water for an average of 2.5 million people. The average of water flow in the studied river is 300 m<sup>3</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, the annual average temperature ranging from 18 to 27 °C, and the average annual rainfall is 1390 mm. The water sample was collected in July of 2018, according to the technical specification requirements for monitoring phenol in surface water described by NBR 9898 (ABNT, 1987) and EPA 528 (EPA, 2000).

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

#### 4.2.2 Physicochemical characterization of the water and flows

The pH, conductivity, alkalinity, turbidity (Hach 2100AN turbidimeter), and color (Hach DR 2800 spectrophotometer) were evaluated in the raw water and in the flows obtained during the operation of the DCMD unit, according to the Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater (APHA, 2012). The Na<sup>+</sup>, NH4<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup> ions concentrations (Ion Chromatograph ICS-1000 - Dionex) and total organic carbon - TOC (Shimadzu TOCV CNP) were measured. Furthermore, total solids and humic substances (APHA, 2012) were verified in the raw water.

#### 4.2.3 Selected compounds and instrumental analysis

Seventeen phenolic compounds were monitored in the raw water and in the flows from the DCMD unit based on the list of EPA priority compounds. They were: 2-chlorophenol, 4-chloro-3-metylphenol, 2-nitrophenol, 2,4-dimethylphenol, 2,4-dichlorophenol, 4,6-trichlorophenol, 4, anitrophenol, bisphenol A, 2-metylphenol, 3-metylphenol, 2,6-dichlorophenol, 2,3,5-trichlorophenol, 2,4,5-trichlorophenol, 2,3,4-trichlorophenol, 2,3,6-trichlorophenol, 2,3,5,6-tetrachlorophenol, 2,3,4,6-tetrachlorophenol, and 3,4,5-trichlorophenol. The characteristics of these compounds can be seen in ANNEX I (p. 125 – 126). Therefore, the methodologies proposed by EPA (528, 3535A, and 8041) were used as basis for identification and quantification of the compounds, while the validation was grounded on ICH (ICH, 2015), ANVISA (ANVISA, 2003), and INMETRO (INMETRO, 2007).

In the solid phase extraction, the C18 / 18% cartridges (500 mg / 6 mL - Applied Separations) were used, conditioned with 5 mL of methanol, after 5 mL of MilliQ (ThermoScientific Smart2Pure 3 UV) water. Then, 1 L of the sample was percolated at pH 2, maintaining constant flow and close to 20 mL min<sup>-1</sup>. The cartridge remained under vacuum for 20 min after finalizing the concentration process for complete removal of moisture and the compounds were eluted using 2 times 1 mL of methanol. The entire extraction procedure was performed with a manifold (Supelco-Visiprep <sup>TM</sup>).

For the stage of identification and quantification, the Shimadzu CGMS-QP2010 SE equipment with the FID as detector, the Zebron ZB-MultiResidue column (30 m x 0.32 mm x 0.50  $\mu$ m), and helium as carrier gas were used. The optimum oven programming was 40 °C for 4 minutes,

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

4 °C min<sup>-1</sup> to 240 °C and finally 240 °C for 5 minutes. The injection volume of the samples was 2  $\mu$ L in splitless mode, with the injector temperature at 275 °C. An automatic sampler (AOC-20i, Shimadzu) was used in all tests, programmed to perform a solvent wash (2 x) before and after each injection, in addition to settle the syringe with the sample (2 x). The FID detector temperature was maintained at 300 °C and an Air / H<sub>2</sub> mixture (400/40 mL min<sup>-1</sup>) was used for the combustion while a N<sub>2</sub> / Air mixture (30 mL min<sup>-1</sup>) was used as gas make-up to scan components through the detector to minimize the bandwidth of compounds.

#### 4.2.4 Prior evaluation of DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds

#### 4.2.4.1 Experimental set-up

The DCMD assays were performed in a semi-pilot unit. Figure 4.1 (p. 104) shows a schematic diagram and a photo of the MD system, which contains a DCMD flat sheet module with three hydrophobic microporous polytetrafloroethylene (PTFE) membrane (total active filtration area of 0.3 m<sup>2</sup>). In the unit were used two diaphragm pumps (one for feed and another for distillate flows, Provitec GA5200 MB), two supply tanks, a balance, two thermometers, an electric heating system, and a cooling system (AquaCooler, Australia) for the permeate. The membrane characteristics are shown in Table 4.1 (p. 105).





Table 4.1: Membrane characteristics based on supplier data								
Membrane	Supplier	Material	Pore size	Porosity	LEP	Bubble Point		
PTFE 023005	Sterlitech Corp.	PTFE	0.2 µm	60 - 80%	> 14.5 psi	> 10 psi		

#### 4.2.4.2 Experimental procedure

The volumes of raw water for feed and distilled water for cooling were 4 L and 8 L respectively. Both streams were recirculated in counter-current at 1.7 L min<sup>-1</sup> up to a recovery rate of approximately 70% and the temperatures during the test were maintained at 60 °C and 25 °C in the feed and permeate respectively. As the configuration is DMCD, the permeate generated was incorporated into the initial distilled water. In the experiments the permeate mass and temperature of the currents were monitored every 5 minutes, while conductivity and pH of the permeate were checked every 10 minutes.

#### 4.2.4.3 Calculations

The permeate flow of the DCMD process was continuously measured by means of a mass balance and the membrane flux was calculated from this value according to Equation 4.1.

$$J = \frac{m_2 - m_1}{(t_2 - t_1) \times A_m}$$
 Equation 4.1

Where J is the permeate flux;  $t_1$  and  $t_2$  are the time;  $m_2 - m_1$  is the increase in the permeate mass (kg) between times  $t_1$  and  $t_2$ ; and  $A_m$  is the membrane area (m<sup>2</sup>).

The permeate recovery rate (RR) was calculated by Equation 4.2.

$$RR = \frac{m_{df} - m_{di}}{m_{fi}}$$
 Equation 4.2

Where  $m_{di}$  and  $m_{df}$  correspond to the mass (kg) of the initial and final distillate, respectively, and  $m_{fi}$  corresponds to the initial feed mass (kg).

The retention of the compounds was calculated using Equation 4.3.

Retention (%) = 
$$\frac{m_f - m_d}{m_f} x \, 100$$
 Equation 4.3

Where  $m_f$  and  $m_d$  represents the mass of the compound in the feed and distillate streams, respectively. The system mass balances were performed to determine if there was loss of specific contaminants during experiments. It was defined by Equation 4.4.

$$M_s = M_i - (C_r * V_r) - (C_d * V_d)$$
Equation 4.4

Where  $M_s$  is mass lost (biodegradation/biotransformation/adsorption);  $M_i$  is total initial mass of given contaminant;  $C_r$  and  $C_d$  represents respectively the solute concentrations in the retentate and distillate streams;  $V_r$  and  $V_d$  are the volumes in the retentate and distillate sides, respectively.

#### 4.2.5 Risk assessment

The potential environmental risks were calculated by hazard quotient (HQ), it is measured by dividing the environmental concentration of the compound found in the research (MEC) by the predicted no effect concentration (PNEC)(EPA, 1986). The value of PNEC was obtained from the ratio between the acute toxicity data (Lethal Concentration 50 (LC50) or Mean Effect Concentration 50 (EC50)) and an assessment factor (AF) of 1000, or from the ratio between the no observed effect concentration (NOEC) data and an AF of 10. The LC50, EC50 and NOEC values used can be seen in the ANNEX II (p. 127 – 130). The lowest PNEC values and the highest MEC were considered in the calculations in order to obtain a worst scenario. The risk was classified into high risk (HQ > 1), medium risk ( $0.1 \le HQ \le 1$ ), low risk ( $0.01 \le HQ < 0.1$ ), and negligible risk (HQ < 0.01) (EMEA, 2006).

Whereas the human health risk was characterized according WHO (2017) by the margin of exposure (MOE) determination. MOE is obtained through the ratio between the safe exposure level (DWEL) and the highest concentration detected in the evaluated environment (MEC). The low risk is implied when MOE value is more than 100 (EPA, 2012). The DWEL can be estimated by tolerable daily intake (TDI), as exposed in Equation 4.5.

106

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

Where  $b_m$  is the body mass (60 kg), f the contribution of water to exposure (10 %), and c the daily water consumption (2 L) (WHO, 2017). The value of TDI was obtained direct from the literature or calculated from the ratio between the non-observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) or the lowest observed adverse effect level (LOAEL), and an assessment factor of 100 and 10000, respectively. The data values used can be seen in the ANNEX III (p. 131 – 133).

# 4.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 4.3.1 Flux and water quality

Table 4.2 (p. 107) describes the characteristics of the raw water used in the membrane filtration process and the permeate produced in the DCMD. For all parameters analyzed the removal was greater than 50% reaching 100% for some parameters. This result was already expected, as MD technology has a high rejection to non-volatile components, such as salts, inorganic compounds and macromolecules (THOMAS et al., 2017). It should be noted, that the removal could be even greater if the recovery rate was lower, since the tests were performed with a high recovery rate (70%). In addition, the temperature of 60 °C used was not enough to reach the volatile point of ions and organic matter. Therefore, most of the time, only water vapor probably was able to pass through the membrane.

Table 4.2. Characteristics of faw water and DCMD permeate							
Parameter	RW	DCMD permeate	DCMD efficiency (%)				
Turbidity (NTU)	14.2	0.338	97.62				
pH	6.19	5.03	-				
UV-Vis 254 nm	0.021	0.0027	87.14				
Perceived color (mg Pt-Co L <sup>-1</sup> )	74	< DL	100				
Real Color (mg Pt-Co L <sup>-1</sup> )	< DL	< DL	-				
TSS (mg $L^{-1}$ )	16	0	100				
TS (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	108	27.6	74.44				
TOC (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	1.99	0.8553	57.02				
Conductivity (µS cm <sup>-2</sup> )	121.3	4.75	96.08				
Alkalinity (mg CaCO <sub>3</sub> L <sup>-1</sup> )	29.3	2.4	91.81				
NT (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	1.37	0.1564	88.58				
Ca (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	21.1	< 2.50	88.15				
Mg (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	6.4	< 1.25	80.47				

 Table 4.2: Characteristics of raw water and DCMD permeate

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

107

Parameter	RW	DCMD permeate	DCMD efficiency (%)
Na (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	5.68	< 1.0	82.39
K (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	< 2.50	< 2.50	-

The lowest removal for TOC can be associated with the interaction of the hydrophobic part of the organic matter with the membrane, whereas the hydrophilic part can bond to the water molecules to diffuse through the membrane (MENG et al., 2014; WANG et al., 2018).

### 4.3.2 DCMD performance

Figure 4.2 (p. 108) shows the permeate flux, the permeate conductivity, and the feed temperature over time for a prior assessment of the DCMD performance in the removal of phenolic compounds in a superficial water at a recovery rate of 70%. It is noted that the temperature variation of the feed remained constant at about 60 °C throughout the test, the flow dropped at the recovery rate of 63%, and despite this the conductivity remained constant. It could indicate the absence of ionic impurities in the permeate.

**Figure 4.2:** Permeate flux and conductivity, feed temperature, flow rate set at 1.7 L min<sup>-1</sup> for DCMD preliminary test on phenols removal



The ratio between the initial and final flows was approximately 0.7, indicating a decrease in the performance of the DMCD, which may have occurred because of fouling during the process, since the permeate conductivity remained constant over the time it can be affirmed that membrane wetting not happened. Therefore, it is recommended to work at a recovery rate equivalent to the point before the flow decay (RR < 63%) to prevent fouling and loss of performance. After the raw water test, the flow was measured with distilled water and it can be seen in Figure 4.3 (p. 109) that the flow decay remained constant, highlighting the need to evaluate a chemical cleaning for the recovery of membrane permeability. As these are preliminary results it is still necessary to evaluate all the fouling mechanisms and the operational parameters to better evaluate the performance of this technology.





#### 4.3.3 DCMD in the removal of phenolic compounds

From Table 4.3 (p. 110) is possible to see that in the collected sample of the river water used in MD feed only three phenolic compounds were identified among the seventeen surveyed, being them: 2-nitrophenol, 2,3,4-trichlorophenol, and bisphenol A. These micropollutants are widely spread in the environment and many studies already report their presence in natural waters (SANTHIA et al., 2012; KUPETA et al., 2018). In a monitoring of phenolic compounds carried out over a year in this river, the 2NP, 234TCP, and BPA were detected in samples of two, seven and four months respectively (Chapter III). The bisphenol A is classified as endocrine disrupter

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

(WEE & ARIS, 2017), while the 2-nitrophenol and 2,3,4-trichlorophenol have a carcinogenic potential (JIN et al., 2012; KUPETA et al., 2018). The bisphenol A and 2-nitrophenol are manufactured chemicals that do not occur naturally in the environment, being therefore the consequence of river pollution.

permetate receivery and prain rog D ratio								
Sample	2-Nitrophenol (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	2,3,4-Tricholophenol (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Bisphenol A (µg L <sup>-1</sup> )					
Feed (Raw water)	1.028	0.509	2.503					
Permeate	0.105	0.087	0.268					
Removal efficiency (%)	89.80	82.91	89.28					
$pK_{\rm H} / \log D$	3.597	1.58	2.379					

**Table 4.3:** Removal of identified phenolic compounds in raw water by DCMD with 70% ofpermeate recovery and  $pK_H / \log D$  ratio

The results regarding to the removal of phenolic compounds from the raw water by the DCMD technology showed a removal efficiency greater than 80% for all compounds identified. Some researchers have reported the MD retention efficiency for different phenols ranging from 54-70% (WIJEKOON et al., 2014) to 99% (HAMZAH & LEO, 2016). It was found in a recent studies of trace organic contaminants removed in water by MD technology, that the rejection could be linked to the contaminant volatility and hydrophobicity (HUO et al., 2013; WIJEKOON et al., 2014; XIE et al., 2014).

The retention by the MD membrane of trace organic contaminants, as phenolic compounds, is governed by the vapor pressure (indicated by Henry's constant, H or,  $pK_H = -\log H$ ) and the water partition coefficient (log D). Wijekoon et al. (2014) in a stand-alone MD system, suggested that a  $pK_H$  / log D ratio of the compound low than < 2.5 led to its poor removal. However, the interpretation of this result is complicated because of mass loss and incomplete mass balances, due to evaporative and sorptive losses during the test and biotransformation (SALLS et al., 2018).

Observing Figure 4.4 (p. 111), taking into account the  $pK_H$  / log D ratio of the studied compounds and the mass losses due to evaporation, adsorption, degradation or biotransformation, the 2-nitrophenol and bisphenol A have this rate higher than 2.5 and they presented the highest removal rates, according to the Wijekoon et al. (2014) results. Although, the 2,3,4-trichlorophenol had the  $pK_H$  / log D ratio less than 2.5 and it also attained a good

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

removal. The 2-nitrophenol ( $pK_H$ =4.893) and 2,3,4-trichlorophenol ( $pK_H$ =5.153) compared to the bisphenol A ( $pK_H$ =8.66) had higher mass losses, probably due to its greater volatility.



**Figure 4.4:** Overall removal of phenolic compounds in DCMD, mass distribution, mass loss and  $pK_H / log D$  ratio

In this sense, predict the behavior of trace organic contaminants in MD technology is still a challenge and the few recent studies (SALLS et al., 2018; ASIF et al., 2018) with this theme show the need of understanding the transport of volatile and semi volatile components present in water treatment.

#### 4.3.4 Risk reduction

The Table 4.4 (p. 112) and Figure 4.5 (p. 113) show the environmental and human health risk reduction by the DCMD processes when compared to the raw water. Observing the ERA for the raw water, the acute risk for 2-nitophenol and bisphenol A were classified as high risk, while 2,3,4-trichlorophenol was medium risk. Although the chronic risk for all compounds was low or negligible risk. Xiong et al. (2014) also found a high risk for bisphenol A in all surface water samples that they analyzed. Already Zhou et al. (2017), with respect to 2-nitrophenol in a river in China, identified a small ERA. Looking to the HRA in the raw water, the high removal of 2,3,4-Trichlorophenol and BPA by the DCMD leads to a consequent reduction of HRA. However, even with the greater retention of 2-nitrophenol by the technology it was not enough

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

to reduce the risk offered by this compound. Therefore, the technology has proven to be efficient in risk reduction for most of the compounds found in raw water.

	Raw water							DCMD permeate	
Compound	ERA					HRA		HRA	
	Acute toxicity		Chronic toxicity		MOE	Classification	MOE	Classification	
	HQ	Classification	HQ	Classification	MOE	Classification	MOE	Classification	
2-Nitrophenol	1.819	High risk	0.015	Low risk	0.0001	High probability of risk	0.001	High probability of risk	
2,3,4-Trichlorophenol	0.254	Medium risk	0.005	Negligible risk	17.692	High probability of risk	103.528	Small probability of risk	
Bisphenol A	1.317	High risk	0.05	Low risk	59.922	High probability of risk	558.728	Small probability of risk	

Table 4.4: Environmental and human health risk assessment of Phenolic compounds in the raw water and DCMD permeate



#### Figure 4.5: Overall risk assessment

# 4.4 CONCLUSION

For all physicochemical parameters analyzed the removal by the DCMD unit was greater than 50% for TOC and reaching values close to100% for turbidity, solids, and ions, as was already expected. Since the MD technology has a high rejection to non-volatile components, such as salts, inorganic compounds and macromolecules.

The permeate flux over time in the MD test showed a dropped of flow, with the ratio between the initial and final flows of approximately 0.7. But the conductivity remained constant indicating the absence of ionic impurities in the permeate. Better studies need to be performed on operational issues to better understand and confirm this flow drop in the recovery rate of 70%. However, it is recommended to work at a recovery rate equivalent to the point before the flow decay (RR < 63%) to prevent fouling and loss of performance. Despite this decrease in permeate flux, the retention rates of the phenolic compounds in the raw water (2-nitrophenol, 2,3,4-Trichlorophenol, and BPA) shown to be of a great efficiency, more than 80% of all compounds were removed by the DCMD system.

In relation to risk assessment the technology has proven to be efficient in human health risk reduction for most of the compounds found in the raw water (2,3,4-Trichlorophenol and BPA).

# REFERENCE

AGHAV, R. M.; KUMAR, S.; MUKHERJEE, S. N. Artificial neural network modeling in competitive adsorption of phenol and resorcinol from water environment using some carbonaceous adsorbents. Journal of Hazardous Materials 188, 67. 2011.

AHMARUZZAMAN, M. Adsorption of phenolic compounds on low-cost adsorbents: a review. Adv. Colloid. Interfac., 143, 2008. 48-67 p.

ALKHUDHIRI, A.; DARWISH, N.; HILAL, N. Membrane distillation: a comprehensive review. Desalination 287, 2012. 2–18 p.

ANSSEN, P. J. C. M.; VAN APELDOORN, M. E.; VAN ENGELEN, J. G. M.; SCHIELEN, P. C. J. I.; WOUTERS, M. F. A. Maximum permissible risk levels for human intake of soil contaminants: fourth series of compounds. 1998.

ANVISA. Guia para validação de métodos analíticos e bioanalíticos. Resolução RE n 899, 29 de maio de 2003. Brazil, 2003.

ASIF, M. B.; HAI, F. I.; KANG J.; MERWE, J. P. VAN; LEUSCH, F. D.L.; PRICE, W. E.; NGHIEM, L. D. Biocatalytic degradation of pharmaceuticals, personal care products, industrial chemicals, steroid hormones and pesticides in a membrane distillation-enzymatic bioreactor. Bioresource Technology, 247, 2018.

ASHOOR, B.B.; MANSOUR, S.; GIWA, A.; DUFOUR, V.; HASAN, S.W. Principles and applications of direct contact membrane distillation (DCMD): A comprehensive review. Desalination 398, 2016. 222–246 p.

ASSOCIAÇÃO BRASILEIRA DE NORMAS TÉCNICAS (ABNT). NBR 9898: Preservação e técnicas de amostragem de efluentes líquidos e corpos receptores. Rio de Janeiro, 1987. 122 p. Available in: <a href="http://licenciadorambiental.com.br/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/NBR9.898-">http://licenciadorambiental.com.br/wp-content/uploads/2015/01/NBR9.898-</a>

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

Coleta-de-Amostras.pdf>. Accessed on: 01 October 2017.

BAARS, A. J.; THEELEN, R. M. C.; JANSSEN, P. J. C. M.; HESSE, J. M.; VAN APELDOORN, M. V.; MEIJERINK, M. V.; ZEILMAKER, M. J. Re-evaluation of human-toxicological maximum permissible risk levels. 2001.

BAKEN, K. A.; SJERPS, R. M. A.; SCHRIKS, M.; VAN WEZEL, A. P. Toxicological risk assessment and prioritization of drinking water relevant contaminants of emerging concern. Environment International, 118, 2018. 293–303 p.

BAPPY, M.; BAHAR, R.; ARIFF, T. Low energy and low cost freshwater production by membrane distillation. IN: 2016 International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management. Kuala Lumpur (2016).

BO, L.; QUAN, X.; WANG, X.; SHEN, S. Preparation and characteristics of carbonsupported platinum catalyst and its application in the removal of phenolic pollutants in aqueous solution by microwaveassisted catalytic oxidation. Journal of Hazardous Materials 157, 2008.

BUSCA, G.; BERARDINELLI, S.; RESINI, C.; ARRIGHI, L. Technologies for the removal of phenol from fluid streams: A short review of recent developments. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 160(2-3), 2008. 265–288 p.

EL-BOURAWI, M.S.; DING, Z.; MA, R.; KHAYET, M. A framework for better understanding membrane distillation separation process. Journal of Membrane Science 285, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.memsci.2006.08.002., 2006. 4–29 p.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 8041 -Phenols by Gas Chromatography: Capillary Column Technique. Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology, Washington, DC. 1985.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Health Effects Assessment for Selected Chlorinated Phenols. Prepared by the Office of Health and Environmental Assessment, Environmental Criteria and Assessment Office, Cincinnati, OH for the Office of Emergency and Remedial Response, Washington, DC. 1986.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Volume I: Human health evaluation manual (Part A). In EPA540/1-86/060 Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund; US Environmental Protection Agency: Washington, DC, USA, 1986.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. o, m, p-Cresol. 90-Day oral subchronic toxicity studies in rats. Office of Solid Waste, Washington, DC. 1986.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Ninety-day gavage study in Albino mice using 2,4- dimethylphenol. Study No. 410-2831, prepared by Dynamac Corporation, Rockville, MD, for the Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Washington, DC. 1989.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 3535A: solid-phase extraction (SPE). United States, January 1998. 1-19 p. Available in: <a href="https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-06/documents/epa-3535a.pdf">https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-06/documents/epa-3535a.pdf</a>>. Accessed on: 02 August 2017.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Method 528. Determination of phenols in drinking water by solid phase extraction and capillary column gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS). Washington, 2000. Available in: <https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/m\_528.pdf>. Accessed on: 07 December 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Priority Pollutant List. 2014. Available in: < https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/priority-pollutant-list-epa.pdf>. Accessed on: 07 December 2018.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. IRIS, EPA. Available in: < http://www.popstoolkit.com/tools/HHRA/TDI\_USEPA.aspx >. Accessed on: 07 January 2019.

EUROPEAN MEDICINES AGENCY (EMEA). Guideline on the environmental risk assessment of medicinal products for human use. Doc. Ref. EMA/CHMP/SWP/4447/00 corr 1\*. London, 2006.

EXON, J. H.; L.D. KOLLER. Toxicity of 2-chlorophenol, 2,4- dichlorophenol and 2,4,6trichlorophenol. In: Water Chlorination: Chemistry, Environmental Impact and Health Effects, Jolley et al., Ed. Vol. 5. 1985.

GARZUZI, M. P.; FREDERICO, E. A.; FILHO, S. S. F.; MOZETO, A. A. remoção de compostos orgânicos naturais no processo convencional de tratamento de água: monitoramento da estação de tratamento de água do alto da boa vista (eta-abv). 200 congresso brasileiro de engenharia sanitária e ambiental. Rio de Janeiro. 1999.

GATTULLO, C. E.; BÄHRS, H.; STEINBERG, C. E.; LOFFREDO, E. Removal of bisphenol A by the freshwater green alga Monoraphidium braunii and the role of natural organic matter. Science of the Total Environment, 416, 2012. 501-506 p.

HAMZAH, N.; LEO, C.P. Fouling prevention in the membrane distillation of phenolic-rich solution using superhydrophobic PVDF membrane incorporated with TiO2 nanoparticles. Separation and Purification Technology, 167, 2016. 79–87 p.

HARMONISED TRIPARTITE GUIDELINE (ICH). Validation of Analytical Procedures: Text and Methodology Q2 (R1). November 2005. 1-17 p. Available in: <http://www.ich.org/fileadmin/Public\_Web\_Site/ICH\_Products/Guidelines/Quality/Q2\_R1/St ep4/Q2\_R1\_\_Guideline.pdf>. Accessed on: 10 Sept. 2017.

HUO, Y.; XIE, Z.; WANG, X.; LI, H.; HOANG, M.; CARUSO, R.A. Methyl orange removal by combined visible-light photocatalysis and membrane distillation, Dyes Pigments 98, 2013. 106–112 p.

INMETRO. Orientação Sobre Validação de Métodos de Ensaios Químicos - DOQ-CGCRE-008. Instituto Nacional de Metrologia e Normalização e Qualidade Industrial. Brazil, 2007.

KHAYET, M.; MATSUURA, T. Membrane distillation: Principles and Applications. Elsevier, 2011.

KOIZUMI, M.; YAMAMOTO, Y.; ITO, Y.; TAKANO, M.; ENAMI, T.; KAMATA, E.; HASEGAWA, R. Comparative study of toxicity of 4-nitrophenol and 2, 4-dinitrophenol in

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

newborn and young rats. The Journal of toxicological sciences, 26(5), 2001. 299-311 p.

KUJAWA, J.; CERNEAUX, S.; KUJAWSKI; W. Removal of hazardous volatile organic compounds from water by vacuum pervaporation with hydrophobic ceramic membranes. Journal of Membrane Science, 474, 2015. 11–19 p.

KUPETA, A. J. K.; NAIDOO, E. B.; OFOMAJA, A. E. Kinetics and equilibrium study of 2nitrophenol adsorption onto polyurethane crosslinked pine cone biomass. Journal of Cleaner Production. 2018.

LADEWIG, V.; JUNGMANN, D.; KÖHLER, H. R.; LICHT, O.; LUDWICHOWSKI, K. U.; SCHIRLING, M.; NAGEL, R. Effects of bisphenol A on Gammarus fossarum and Lumbriculus variegatus in artificial indoor streams. Toxicological and Environ Chemistry, 88(4), 2006. 649-664 p.

JIN, Z.; YANG, DA L.; ZHANG, S. H.; JIAN, X. G. Removal of 2,4-dichlorophenol from wasterwater by vacuum membrane distillation using hydrophobic PPESK hollow hiber membrane. Chinese Chemical Letters, 18, 1543–1547, 2007.

JIN, X.; GAO, J.; ZHA, J.; XU, Y.; WANG, Z.; GIESY, J. P.; RICHARDSON, K. L. A tiered ecological risk assessment of three chlorophenols in Chinese surface waters. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 19(5), 1544–1554, 2011.

MANNA, A.; PAL, P. Solar-driven flash vaporization membrane distillation for arsenic removal from groundwater: Experimental investigation and analysis of performance parameters. Chemical Engineering and Processing: Process Intensification, v. 99, p. 51-57, 2016.

MCCOLLISTER, D. D.; LOCKWOOD, D. T.; ROWE, V. K. Toxicologic information on 2,4,5- trichlorophenol. Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol. 3, 1961. 63-70 p.

MENG, S.; YE, Y.; MANSOURI, J.; CHEN, V. Fouling and crystallisation behaviour of superhydrophobic nano-composite PVDF membranes in direct contact membrane distillation. Journal of Membrane Science, 463, 2014. 102–112 p.

MOHAMMADI, T.; KAZEMI, P. Taguchi optimization approach for phenolic wastewater treatment by vacuum membrane distillation. Desalination and Water Treatment. Volume 52, 2014.

MOERMOND, C. T. A.; HEUGENS, E. H. W. Environmental risk limits for 2,4dichlorophenol. RIVM Report 601714007/2009.

NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE. Bioassay of 2,4,6-trichlorophenol for possible carcinogenicity. Bethesda, MD, 1979 (NCI-CG-TR-155).

NATIONAL TOXICOLOGY PROGRAM (NTP). NTP Technical report on the carcinogenesis bioassay of bisphenol A (CAS No. 80-05-7) in F344 rats and B6C3F1 mice (feed study). NTP80-35. NIH Publ. No. 82-1771. 1982.

QTAISHAT, M. R.; BANAT, F. Desalination by solar powered membrane distillation systems. Desalination 308, 2013. 186–197 p.

RAZA, W.; LEE, J.; RAZA, N.; LUO, Y.; KIM, K.-H.; YANG, J. Removal of phenolic compounds from industrial waste water based on membrane-based technologies. Journal of Industrial and Engineering Chemistry, 2018).

SALLS, K. A.; WONB, D.; KOLODZIEJB, E. P.; CHILDRESSD, A. E.; HIIBELE, S. R. Evaluation of semi-volatile contaminant transport in a novel, gas-tight direct contact membrane distillation system. Desalination, 427, 2018. 35-41 p.

SANTHIA, V. A.; SAKAIA, N.; AHMADA, E. D.; M USTAFAA, A. M. Occurrence of bisphenol A in surface water, drinking water and plasma from Malaysia with exposure assessment from consumption of drinking water. Science of The Total Environment, Volumes 427–428, 15 June 2012. 332-338 p.

STANDARD METHODS FOR THE EXAMINATION OF WATER AND WASTEWATER (APHA). American Public Health Association, Washington, DC, 22<sup>nd</sup> edition, 2012.

TEH, C.M.; MOHAMED, A. R. Roles of titanium dioxide and ion-doped titanium dioxide on

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

photocatalytic degradation of organic pollutants (phenolic compounds and dyes) in aqueous solutions: A review. Journal of Alloys and Compounds 509, 1648. 2011.

THOMAS, N.; MAVUKKANDY, M. O.; LOUTATIDOU, S.; ARAFAT, H. A. Membrane distillation research & implementation: Lessons from the past five decades. Separation and Purification Technology 189, 2017. 108-127 p.

WANG, K.; HOU, D.; WANG, J.; WANG, Z.; TIAN, B.; LIANG, P. Hydrophilic surface coating on hydrophobic PTFE membrane for robust anti-oil-fouling membrane distillation. Applied Surface Science, 450, 2018. 57–65 p.

WEE, S. Y.; ARIS, A. Z. Endocrine disrupting compounds in drinking water supply system and human health risk implication. Environment International, 106, 2017. 207–233 p.

WIJEKOON, K. C.; HAI, F. I.; KANG, J.; PRICE, W. E.; CATH, T. Y.; NGHIEM; L. D. Rejection and fate of trace organic compounds (TrOCs) during membrane distillation. Journal of Membrane Science, 453, 2014. 636–642 p.

XIE, M.; NGHIEM, L. D.; PRICE, W. E.; ELIMELECH, M. Relating rejection of trace organic contaminants to membrane properties in forward osmosis: measurements, modelling and implications, Water Res. 49, 2014. 265–274 p.

XIONG, J.; AN, T.; ZHANG, C.; LI, G. Pollution profiles and risk assessment of PBDEs and phenolic brominated flame retardants in water environments within a typical electronic waste dismantling region. Environmental Geochemistry and Health, 37(3), 2014. 457–473 p.

ZHOU, M.; ZHANG, J.; SUN, C. Occurrence, Ecological and Human Health Risks, and Seasonal Variations of Phenolic Compounds in Surface Water and Sediment of a Potential Polluted River Basin in China. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 14(10), 2017.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

# **CHAPTER V**

# Final considerations
## 5.1 MAIN RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS

In this research was developed and validate an analytical methodology for the identification and quantification of phenolic compounds in aqueous matrix at trace concentration, in order to investigated the occurrence of seventeen phenolic compounds in a surface water and a treated water by a conventional water treatment plant (WTP) in one year. In addition, the environmental (ERA) and human health risk (HRA) of these compounds in the raw water, and its reduction by conventional and direct contact membrane distillation (DCMD) processes were also evaluated.

In Chapter II, the methodology for the identify and quantify of a variety of 17 phenolic compounds was done using solid phase extraction (SFE) (C<sub>18</sub> cartridge) and gas chromatography with FID. For the methodology validation, the selectivity, linearity, detection and quantification limits, sensitivity, precision, accuracy, resolution, matrix effect and peak quality were considered. In the recovery grade trials for the four solvent tested, methanol had a better performance and was used throughout all analyzes. With respect to the influence of the matrix on the efficiency of SPE, a lower recovery of the compounds was noted in the raw water compared with the treated water, but all samples had the recover higher than 50%. It was also possible shown in this chapter the presence of different phenolic compounds in three different points of the same river belonging to an important national watershed and in the water from the entrance and exit of a treatment station that serves a large population. In between the compounds analyzed, 2-nitrophenol and bisphenol A appeared in all samples. The presence of different chlorophenols in the analyzed treated water (24DCP, 245TCP, 345TCP) was also observed.

Chapter III provided a monitoring of phenolic compounds in a river and in a treated water by a conventional water treatment plant (WTP) around a year in Brazil. Furthermore, the environmental risk (hazard quotient (HQ)) and the human health risk (margin of exposure (MOE)) were calculated for the compounds. The results indicated that sixteen phenolic compounds were detected at some point in the samplings between the seventeen investigated compounds. The most detected compounds in the studied raw water were 234TCP, 24DMP, and 4NP, and in the treated water were 4NP and BPA. Concerning to the concentration variation of the phenolic compounds in the surface water during the monitoring year, the highest values of total concentration were related to the months in which there was less precipitation,

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

demonstrating that the presence of this micropollutants are subject to seasonality. From the treat water results were observed that the efficiency of the conventional treatment process of the WTP to eliminate the phenols did not show a logic in the removal or increase of the compounds, since in some samples the phenolic compounds were totally removed and in others their increase or formation occurred. Regarding to the risk assessments, most of the evaluated compounds were highly toxic to any trophic level and posed a significant human health risk. Subsequently the risk reduction of phenolics using conventional WTP was low.

Finally, in Chapter IV, the performance of DCMD as an alternative technology for the removal of phenolic compounds in water was pre evaluated. Being demonstrated that still are many challenges to better understand the use of this technology in the retention of volatile and semi volatile compounds in trace concentrations. The permeate flux over time in the MD test showed a dropped of flow, with the ratio between the initial and final flows of approximately 0.7. It was recommended work with RR<63% to avoid problems with fouling. But the conductivity remained constant indicating the absence of ionic impurities in the permeate. Despite this decrease in permeate flux, the retention rates of the phenolic compounds in the raw water (2-nitrophenol, 2,3,4-trichlorophenol, and BPA) was more than 80%. The reduction of risk was also assessed proving that the technology is efficient.

Based on this work, it was possible to confirm that is important to establish sensitive and reliable analytical method that allow the determination of a wide range of phenolic compounds in water at the low levels of concentration, since this micropollutants are a reality in surface waters and conventional water treatments have not been able to remove them, thus raising in drinking water. The identification methods associated with risk analysis are essential tools for the management and the establishment of standards for these pollutants that are still often neglected. It is also necessary to think critically about the complexity of the water which is arriving at the water treatment plants and the importance of alternative technologies, as MD, researches for a future water treatment scenario.

# ANNEX

Compounds	Retention Time (minutes)	Abbreviation	CAS	Molar mass	Vapor pressure at 25 ° C (mmHg) <sup>ab</sup>	Solubility in Water at 25 °C (mg L <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>ab</sup>	pKa <sup>c</sup>	Log K <sub>ow</sub> <sup>a</sup>	Log D <sup>c</sup> at pH 7	Molecular formula	Molecular structure
2-chlorophenol	8.253	2CP	95-57-8	128.56	2.53	28500	8.49	2.15	2.21	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> ClO	OH
2-methylphenol	10.098	2MP	95-48-7	108.05	0.29	22200	10.29	2.09	2.09	C7H8O	OH CH3
3-methylphenol	10.899	3MP	108-39-4	108.05	0.2	21500	10.1	2.09	2.09	$C_7H_8O$	но-СН3
2-nitrophenol	13.417	2NP	88-75-5	139.02	0.113	2503.98	7.23	1.36	1.36	$C_6H_5NO_3$	
2,4-dimethylphenol	14.241	24DMP	105-67-9	122.07	0.102	7867.55	10.6	2.36	2.36	$C_8H_{10}O$	OH N°
2,4-dichlorophenol	15.519	24DCP	120-83-2	161.96	0.09	4498.72	7.89	3.05	3.05	$C_6H_4Cl_2O$	HO CI CI
2,6-dichlorophenol	18.583	26DCP	87-65-0	161.96	0.0889	1900	6.79	2.33	2.33	$C_6H_4C_{12}O$	
4-chloro-3-metylphenol	20.055	4C3MP	59-50-7	142.01	0.05	3835.46	9.55	2.83	2.83	C7H7ClO	сі с
2,3,5-trichlorophenol	20.735	235TCP	933-78-8	195.92	0.022	90.09	6.45	2.84	2.84	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>3</sub> Cl <sub>3</sub> O	

**ANNEX I:** Compounds analyzed in the process of identification and quantification

Compounds	Retention Time (minutes)	Abbreviation	CAS	Molar mass	Vapor pressure at 25 ° C (mmHg) <sup>ab</sup>	Solubility in Water at 25 °C (mg L <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>ab</sup>	pKa <sup>c</sup>	Log K <sub>ow</sub> <sup>a</sup>	Log D <sup>c</sup> at pH 7	Molecular formula	Molecular structure
2,4,6- trichlorophenol	20.991	246TCP	88-06-2	195.92	0.008	799.63	6.23	2.78	2.78	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>3</sub> Cl <sub>3</sub> O	
2,4,5- trichlorophenol	21.288	245TCP	95-95-4	195.92	0.0075	114.1	7.43	3.24	3.24	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>3</sub> Cl <sub>3</sub> O	
2,3,4- trichlorophenol	21.914	234TCP	15950-99- 0	195.92	0.00156	97.46	7.1	3.26	3.26	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>3</sub> Cl <sub>3</sub> O	
4-nitrophenol	26.709	4NP	100-02-7	139.02	0.0000979	11601.77	7.15	1.31	1.31	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>5</sub> NO <sub>3</sub>	о́ N°ОН
2,3,5,6-tetrachlorophenol	27.152	2356TCP	935-95-5	229.88	0.000168	54.9	5.14	2.01	2.01	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>4</sub> O	
2,3,4,6- tetrachlorophenol	27.417	2346TCP	58-90-2	231.881	0.000666	23	5.22	4.45	2.56	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>2</sub> Cl <sub>4</sub> O	
3,4,5- trichlorophenol	29.331	345TCP	609-19-8	195.92	0.000496	64.49	7.84	3.68	3.68	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>3</sub> Cl <sub>3</sub> O	С
4,4'-(propane-2,2- diyl)diphenol (bisphenol A)	43.964	BPA	80-05-7	228.11	0.000000227	120	9.6	3.63	3.63	$C_{15}H_{16}O_2$	

Source: <sup>a</sup>Chemspider (2018); <sup>b</sup>EPA (2018); <sup>c</sup>PubChem (2018).

Compounds	Trophic level	Specie	EC50	LC50	Value (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference	Specie	NOEC	Value (mg L <sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> )	Reference
	Algae	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Growth - 4 d		70	SHIGEOKA et al., 1988	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Population/ Physiology - 2 d	4.93	CHEN & LIN, 2006
2-chlorophenol	Crustacean	Daphnia carinata	Intoxication - 1 d		25	SHIGEOKA et al., 1988	Daphnia magna	Reproduction - 21 d	0.5	KUHN et al., 1988
	Fish	Tilapia zillii	Mortality - 2 d		6.549	YEN et al., 2002	Pimephales promelas	Mortality - 30 d post-hatch	4	LEBLANC, 1984
	Algae	Selenastrum sp.	Population - 3 d		100	SLOOFF, 1982	Scenedesmus quadricauda	Growth - 8 d	11	BRINGMANN & KUEHN, 1979
2-methylphenol	Crustacean	Daphnia magna	Intoxication/Immobile - 1 d		17.9512234	DEVOLLERS, 1988	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Fish	Oncorhynchus mykiss		Mortality - 2 d	13	SLOOFF, 1983	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Algae	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Population - 2 d		1.08	TSAI & CHEN, 2007	Chlorella zofingiensis	Assimilation efficiency - 2d	0.695553	WEBER et al., 1984
2-nitrophenol	Crustacean	Daphnia magna		Mortality - 2 d	13.17	KIM et al., 2006	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Fish	Cyprinus carpio		Mortality - >2 d	0.565	YEN et al., 2002	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
2.4	Algae	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Population - 2 d		13.5	TSAI & CHEN, 2007	Chlorella pyrenoidosa	Biochemistry/Chlorophyll - 3 d	50	HUANG & GLOYNA, 1968
2,4- dimethylphenol	Crustacean	Daphnia magna	Intoxication/Immobile - 1 d		11.7280128	DEVILLERS, 1988	Ceriodaphnia dubia	Mortality - 7 d	3.41	SPEHAR, 1987
	Fish	Pimephales promelas		Mortality - 4 d	18.1	BRODERIUS et al., 1995	Pimephales promelas	Growth/lenght - 32 d	0.398	RUSSOM, 199
2,4-dichlorophenol	Algae	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Population - 3 d		3586.0704	ANDREOZZI et al., 2011	Chlorella vulgaris	Population - 3 d	<0.73	GEIGER et al. 2016

#### ANNEX II: EC50, LC50, and NOEC values

Compounds	Trophic level	Specie	EC50	LC50	Value (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference	Specie	NOEC	Value (mg L <sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> )	Reference
	Crustacean	Daphnia magna	Behavior/swimming - 0.75 d		1.5	BAHRNDORFF et al., 2016	Macrobrachium superbum	Mortality - 21 d	0.05	JIN et al., 2011
	Fish	Danio rerio	Development - 4 d		2.3	STENGEL et al., 2017	Danio rerio	Enzyme(s)/Acetylcholinesterase - 4 d	0.4	STENGEL et al., 2017
	Algae	Chlorella vulgaris	Growth - 4 d		9.7	SHIGEOKA et al., 1988	Dunaliella tertiolecta	Growth - 3d	20	ERTURK & SAÇAN, 2012
2,6-dichlorophenol	Crustacean	Daphnia magna	Intoxication/Immobile - 1 d		6	KUHN et al., 1989	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Fish	Tilapia zillii		Mortality - >2 d	1.732	YEN et al., 2002	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Algae	Chlorella pyrenoidosa	Population - 3 d		15	RAMOS et al., 1999	Chlorella pyrenoidosa	Population - 3 d	1.9	RAMOS et al., 1999
4-chloro-3-	Crustacean	Daphnia magna	Intoxication/Immobile - 2 d		1.5	RAMOS et al., 1998	Daphnia magna	Reproduction - 21 d	1.3	KUHN et al., 1988
meuryiphenor	Fish	Lepomis macrochirus	Physiology - 1.1388d		100	BABICH & BORENFREUND, 1987	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Algae	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	2,26 - 3d			ARUOJA et al., 2011	Macrophyt	n.r.	16	NIPHE, 2001
2,3,5- trichlorophenol	Crustacean	Daphnia magna	Intoxication - 1d		2.28	DEVILLERS & CHAMBON, 1986	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Fish	Tilapia zillii		Mortality ->2d	1.29	YEN et al., 2002	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
2,4,6- trichlorophenol	Algae	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Growth - 4d	/ 24	3.5	SHIGEOKA et al., 1988	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Population - 2d	< 0.5	CHEN & LIN, 2006
	Crustacean	Ceriodaphnia dubia	Behavior - 0.0417d		4.2	BITTON et al., 1996	Daphnia magna	Behavior - 0.1458d	15	MARTINS et al., 2007
	Fish	Oryzias latipes	Mortality - 15d		2.6	SHIGEOKA et al., 1988	Danio rerio	Genetic - 1d	5	YIN et al., 2009

Compounds	Trophic level	Specie	EC50	LC50	Value (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference	Specie	NOEC	Value (mg L <sup>-</sup> 1)	Reference
	Algae	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Population - 3d		1.57	EPA, 1978	Chlorella pyrenoidosa	Biochemistry - 3d	1	HUANG & GLOYNA, 1968
2,4,5- trichlorophenol	Crustacean	Daphnia magna	Intoxication - 1d		2.08	DEVILLERS & CHAMBON, 1986	Daphnia magna	Mortality - 2d	0.78	LEBLANC, 1980
	Fish	Poeciliopsis lucida	Cells -1d		43	FENT & HUNN, 1996	Pimephales promelas	Mortality - 7d	0.361	NORBERG- KING, 1989
2.3.4-	Algae	Selenastrum capricornutum	Growth - 4d		2	WILKINSON et al., 1999	Dunaliella tertiolecta	Growth - 3d	1	ERTURK & SAÇAN, 2012
trichlorophenol	Crustacean	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Fish	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Algae	Scenedesmus abundans	Growth - 4d		32	GEYER et al., 1985	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Population - 4d	0.3	EPA, 1978
4-nitrophenol	Crustacean	Daphnia magna	Intoxication - 2d		6	EPA, 2000	Daphnia magna	Mortality - 2d	13	LEBLANC, 1980
	Fish	Poeciliopsis lucida	Genetics - 1d		556	FENT & HUNN, 1996	Cyprinodon variegatus	Mortality - 7d	10.6	LINTON et al., 1994
	Algae	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Population - 3d		3.31	EPA, 1978	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Population - 4d	0.6	EPA, 1978
2,3,5,6- tetrachlorophenol	Crustacean	Daphnia magna		Mortality 2.5	2.5	LEBLANC, 1980	Daphnia magna	Mortality - 2d	0.01	LEBLANC, 1980
	Fish	Cyprinodon variegatus		Mortality - 3d	2	HEITMULLER et al., 1981	Cyprinodon variegatus	Mortality 4d	1	HEITMULLER, 1981
2,3,4,6-	Algae	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Growth - 4 d		1.3	SHIGEOKA et al., 1988	Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata	Population - 2d	< 0.1	CHEN & LIN, 2006
tetrachlorophenol	Crustacean	Daphnia carinata	Population - 7d		0.5	LIBER et al., 1992	Daphnia magna	Mortality - 21d	0.25	LIBER & SOLOMON, 1994

Compounds	Trophic level	Specie	EC50	LC50	Value (mg L <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference	Specie	NOEC	Value (mg L <sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> )	Reference
	Fish	Oryzias latipes		Mortality - 2 d	1.27	SMITH et al., 1991	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Algae	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
3,4,5- trichlorophenol BPA	Crustacean	Nitocra spinipes	Growth - 2d		0.4	NEILSON et al., 1990	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Fish	Platichthys flesus		Mortality - 4d	2.31	SMITH et al., 1994	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.	n.r.
	Algae	Chlorella pyrenoidosa	Population - 2d		46.04	ZHANG et al., 2014	Chlorolobion braunii	Cells size - 4d	4	GATTULLO et al., 2012
	Crustacean	Gammarus fossarum	Intoxication - 4d		1.9	PLAHUTA et al., 2015	Gammarus fossarum	Mortality - 103d	0.5	LADEWIG et al., 2006
	Fish	Rivulus marmoratus		Mortality - 4d	3.5	RHEE et al., 2011	Rivulus marmoratus	Genetic	0.6	SEO et al., 2006

n.r.: not reported

Compounds	NOAEL	LOAEL	Value (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	Value (ug kg <sup>-1</sup> bw day <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference	TDI	Value (ug kg <sup>-1</sup> bw day <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference
2-chlorophenol	Reproductive effects - 10 d			5	EXON & KOLLER, 1985	Calculated/effects on the immune system	3*	MOERMOND & HEUGENS, 2009; EPA, 1986; BAARS et al., 2001
2-methylphenol	Decreased body weights - 90 d			50	EPA, 1986	n.r.	50	EPA, 2019
2-nitrophenol	Nasal lesions - 28 d			0.005	EPA, 2007	n.r.		
2,4- dimethylphenol	Clinical signs/lethargy - 90 d			50	EPA, 1989	Calculated/effects on the immune system	20	EPA, 2019
2,4-dichlorophenol	Decreased delayed hypersensitivity response - 126 d		0.3		EXON & KOLLER, 1985	Calculated/effects on the immune system	3	EPA, 1986
2,6-dichlorophenol						Calculated/effects on the immune system	3*	MOERMOND & HEUGENS, 2009; EPA, 1986; BAARS et al., 2001
4-chloro-3- methylphenol	Growth and kidneys - 28 d			30000	JANSSEN et al., 1998	Growth and kidneys - 28d	300	JANSSEN et al., 1998
2,3,5- trichlorophenol						Calculated/effects on the immune system	3*	MOERMOND & HEUGENS, 2009; EPA, 1986; BAARS et al., 2001

## ANNEX III: NOAEL, LOAEL, and TDI values

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

132

Compounds	NOAEL	LOAEL	Value (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	Value (ug kg <sup>-1</sup> bw day <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference	TDI	Value (ug kg <sup>-1</sup> bw day <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference
2,4,6- trichlorophenol	Weight - 3 d			0.3	NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE, 1979	Calculated/effects on the immune system	3*	MOERMOND & HEUGENS, 2009; EPA, 1986; BAARS et al., 2001
2,4,5- trichlorophenol	Behavior, mortality, food consumption, growth, body and organ weights, and histopathology - 98 d		1000		MCCOLLISTER et al., 1961	Calculated/effects on the immune system	3*	MOERMOND & HEUGENS, 2009; EPA, 1986; BAARS et al., 2001
2,3,4- trichlorophenol						Calculated/effects on the immune system	3*	MOERMOND & HEUGENS, 2009; EPA, 1986: BAARS et al., 2001
4-nitrophenol	Body weight changes - 18 d			110000	KOIZUMI et al., 2001.			,
2,3,5,6- tetrachlorophenol	C					Calculated/effects on the immune system	3*	MOERMOND & HEUGENS, 2009; EPA, 1986; BAARS et al., 2001
2,3,4,6- tetrachlorophenol	Increased liver weights and centrilobular hypertrophy - 21d			25	EPA, 1986	Calculated/effects on the immune system	3*	MOERMOND & HEUGENS, 2009; EPA, 1986; BAARS et al., 2001
3,4,5- trichlorophenol	210					Calculated/effects on the immune system	3*	MOERMOND & HEUGENS, 2009; EPA, 1986; BAARS et al., 2001
BPA		Rat Chronic	1000		NTP, 1982	Genetics- 3d	50	THARP et al., 2012

133

Compounds	NOAEL	LOAEL (1	Value (mg kg <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	Value (ug kg <sup>-1</sup> bw day <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference	TDI	Value (ug kg <sup>-1</sup> bw day <sup>-1</sup> )	Reference
		Oral						
		Bioassay						
* The TDI for	2,4-dichloroph	enol of 3 µg kg <sup>-1</sup>	<sup>1</sup> bw day <sup>-1</sup> (EPA	, 1986) was considered to	be valid for all mono-, di-,	tri-, and tetrachlorog	phenol compounds (Baars et al., 2	2001); n.r.: not
				re	ported.			

## REFERENCE

ANDREOZZI, R.; DI SOMMA, I.; MAROTTA, R.; PINTO, G.; POLLIO, A.; SPASIANO, D. Oxidation of 2,4-Dichlorophenol and 3,4-Dichlorophenol by Means of Fe(III)-Homogeneous Photocatalysis and Algal Toxicity Assessment of the Treated Solutions. Water Res.45(5), 2011. 2038-2048 p.

ARUOJA, V.; SIHTMÄE, M.; DUBOURGUIER, H. C.; KAHRU, A. Toxicity of 58 substituted anilines and phenols to algae Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata and bacteria Vibrio fischeri: comparison with published data and QSARs. Chemosphere, 84(10), 2011. 1310-1320 p.

BABICH, H.; BORENFREUND, E. In vitro cytotoxicity of organic pollutants to Bluegil Sunfish (BF-2) cells. Environmental Research, 42(1), 1987. 229-237 p.

BAHRNDORFF, S.; MICHAELSEN, T. Y.; JENSEN, A.; MARCUSSEN, L.F.; NIELSEN, M. E.; ROSLEV, P. Automated Swimming Activity Monitor for Examining Temporal Patterns of Toxicant Effects on Individual Daphnia magna. J. Appl. Toxicol.36(7), 2016. 896-902 p.

BITTON, G.; RHODES, K.; KOOPMAN, B. Ceriofast<sup>TM</sup>: an acute toxicity test based on Ceriodaphnia dubia feeding behavior. Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 15(2), 1996. 123-125 p.

BRINGMANN, G.; KUEHN, R. Haustechnik-Bauphysik- Umwelttechnik 100(8), 1979. 249-252 p.

BRODERIUS, S. J.; KAHL, M. D.; HOGLUND, M.D. Use of Joint Toxic Response to Define the Primary Mode of Toxic Action for Diverse Industrial Organic Chemicals. Environ. Toxicol. Chem.14(9), 1995. 1591-1605 p.

CHEN, C. Y. LIN, J. H. Toxicity of chlorophenols to Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata under air-tight test environment. Chemosphere, 2006 – Elsevier.

CHEMSPIDER. Search and share chemistry. Available in: <a href="http://www.chemspider.com/">http://www.chemspider.com/</a>. Accessed on: 07 December 2018.

DEVILLERS, J.; CHAMBON, P. Acute toxicity and QSAR of chlorophenols on Daphnia magna. Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology, 37(1), 1986. 599-605 p.

DEVILLERS, J. Acute Toxicity of Cresols, Xylenols, and Trimethylphenols to Daphnia magna Straus 1820. Sci. Total Environ.76(1), 1988. 79-83 p.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) – US. Indepth studies on health and environmental impacts of selected water pollutants. 1978.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - US. Pesticide Ecotoxicity Database (Formerly: Environmental Effects Database [EEDB]). 2000.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY (EPA) - UNITED STATES. Chemistry dashboard. Available in: <a href="https://comptox.epa.gov/dashboard">https://comptox.epa.gov/dashboard</a>. Accessed on: 07 December 2018.

ERTÜRK, M. D.; SAÇAN, M. T. First toxicity data of chlorophenols on marine alga Dunaliella tertiolecta: correlation of marine algal toxicity with hydrophobicity and interspecies toxicity relationships. Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 31(5), 2012. 1113-1120 p.

FENT, K.; HUNN, J. Cytotoxicity of organic environmental chemicals to fish liver cells (PLHC-1). Marine Environmental Research, 42(1-4), 1996. 377-382 p.

GEIGER, E.; HORNEK-GAUSTERER, R.; SACAN, M. T. Single and Mixture Toxicity of Pharmaceuticals and Chlorophenols to Freshwater Algae Chlorella vulgaris. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.129:189-198. 2016.

GEYER, H.; SCHEUNERT, I.; KORTE, F. The effects of organic environmental chemicals on the growth of the alga Scenedesmus subspicatus: a contribution to environmental biology. Chemosphere, 14(9), 1985. 1355-1369 p.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

HEITMULLER, P. T.; HOLLISTER, T. A.; PARRISH, P. R. Acute toxicity of 54 industrial chemicals to sheepshead minnows (Cyprinodon variegatus). Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology. 1981 Jul 1;27(1). 596-604 p.

HUANG, J. C.; GLOYNA, E. F. Effect of organic compounds on photosynthetic oxygenation— I. Chlorophyll destruction and suppression of photosynthetic oxygen production. Water Research, 2(5), 1968. 347-366 p.

JIN, X.; ZHA, J.; XU, Y.; WANG, Z.; KUMARAN, S. S. Derivation of Aquatic Predicted No-Effect Concentration (PNEC) for 2,4-Dichlorophenol: Comparing Native Species Data with Non-Native Species Data. Chemosphere84(10), 2011. 1506-1511 p.

KIM, K.T.; LEE, Y. G.; KIM, S. D. Combined Toxicity of Copper and Phenol Derivatives to Daphnia magna: Effect of Complexation Reaction. Environ. Int.32(4), 2006. 487-492 p.

KUHN, R.; PATTARD, M.; PERNAK, K. D.; WINTER, A. Results of the Harmful Effects of Water Pollutants to Daphnia magna in the 21 Day Reproduction Test. Water Res.23(4). 1988. 501-510 p.

KUHN, R.; PATTARD, M.; PERNAK, K. D.; WINTER, A. Results of the Harmful Effects of Selected Water Pollutants (Anilines, Phenols, Aliphatic Compounds) to Daphnia magna. Water Res.23(4), 1989. 495-499 p.

LEBLANC, G. A. Acute toxicity of priority pollutants to water flea (Daphnia magna). Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology, 24(1), 1980. 684-691 p.

LEBLANC, G. A. Comparative Structure-Toxicity Relationships Between Acute and Chronic Effects to Aquatic Organisms. In: K.L.E.Kaiser (Ed.), QSAR in Environmental Toxicology, Dordrecht, Holland. 1984. 235-260 p.

LIBER, K.; KAUSHIK, N. K.; SOLOMON, K. R.; CAREY, J. H. Experimental designs for aquatic mesocosm studies: a comparison of the "anova" and "regression" design for assessing the impact of tetrachlorophenol on zooplankton populations in limnocorrals. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 11(1), 1992. 61-77 p.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

LIBER, K.; SOLOMON, K. R. Acute and chronic toxicity of 2, 3, 4, 6-tetrachlorophenol and pentachlorophenol to Daphnia and rotifers. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 26(2), 1994. 212-221 p.

LINTON, T. K.; MAYER, F. L.; SIMON, T. L.; MALONE, J. A.; MARKING, L. L. Salinity and temperature effects on chronic toxicity of 2, 4-dinitrophenol and 4-nitrophenol to sheepshead minnows (Cyprinodon variegatus). Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 13(1), 1994. 85-92 p.

MARTINS, J.; SOARES, M. L.; SAKER, M. L.; OLIVA TELES, L.; VASCONCELOS, V. M. Phototactic behavior in Daphnia magna Straus as an indicator of toxicants in the aquatic environment. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety, 67(3), 2007. 417-422 p.

NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF PUBLIC HEALTH AND THE ENVIRONMENT (NIPHE). Ecotoxicological Serious Risk Concentrations for soil, sediment and (ground)water: updated proposals for first series of compounds. Netherlands, April 2001. 103 p.

NEILSON, A. H.; ALLARD, A. S.; FISCHER, S.; MALMBERG, M.; VIKTOR, T. Incorporation of a subacute test with zebra fish into a hierarchical system for evaluating the effect of toxicants in the aquatic environment. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety, 20(1), 1990. 82-97 p.

NORBERG-KING, T. J. An evaluation of the fathead minnow seven-day subchronic test for estimating chronic toxicity. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 8(11), 1989. 1075-1089 p.

PLAHUTA, M.; TIŠLER, T.; PINTAR, A.; TOMAN, M. J. Adverse effects of bisphenol A on water louse (Asellus aquaticus). Ecotoxicology and environmental safety, 117, 2015. 81-88 p.

PUBCHEM. Explore chemistry. Available in: <a href="https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/search/">https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/search/</a>. Accessed on: 07 December 2018. RAMOS, E. U.; VERMEER, C.; VAES, W. H. J.; HERMENS, J. L. M. Acute Toxicity of Polar Narcotics to Three Aquatic Species (Daphnia magna, Poecilia reticulata and Lymnaea stagnalis) and Its Relation to Hydrophobicity. Chemosphere37(4): 633-650. 1998.

RAMOS, E. U.; VAES, W. H. J.; MAYER, P.; HERMENS, J. L. M. Algal Growth Inhibition of Chlorella pyrenoidosa by Polar Narcotic Pollutants: Toxic Cell Concentrations and QSAR Modeling. Aquat. Toxicol.46(1): 1-10. 1999.

RUSSOM, C. L. Acute and Early Life Stage Toxicity Data. June 21 Memo from U.S.EPA, Duluth, MN.to R.Spehar U.S.EPA, Duluth, MN:41 p. 1993.

SEO, J. S.; LEE, Y. M.; JUNG, S. O.; KIM, I. C.; YOON, Y. D.; LEE, J. S. Nonylphenol modulates expression of androgen receptor and estrogen receptor genes differently in gender types of the hermaphroditic fish Rivulus marmoratus. Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 346(1), 2006. 213-223 p.

SHIGEOKA, T.; YAMAGATA, T.; MINODA, T.; YAMAUCHI, F. Acute toxicity and hatching inhibition of chlorophenols to Japanese medaka, Oryzias latipes and structure-activity relationships. EISEI KAGAKU, 1988.

SLOOFF, W. A comparative study on the short-term effects of 15 chemicals on fresh water organisms of different trophic levels. RID-Mededelingen (Netherlands). no. 82-2., 1982.

SLOOFF, W.; CANTON, J. H.; HERMENS, J. L. M. Comparison of the susceptibility of 22 freshwater species to 15 chemical compounds. I.(Sub) acute toxicity test. Aquatic toxicology – Elsevier, 1983.

SMITH, A. D.; BHARATH, A.; MALLARD, C.; ORR, D.; SMITH, K.; SUTTON, J. A.; OZBURN, G. W. The acute and chronic toxicity of ten chlorinated organic compounds to the American flagfish (Jordanella floridae). Archives of environmental contamination and toxicology, 20(1), 1991. 94-102 p.

SPEHAR, R. L. Criteria Document Data. Memo to C.Stephan, U.S.EPA, Duluth, MN:24 p. 1987.

Programa de Pós-graduação em Saneamento, Meio Ambiente e Recursos Hídricos da UFMG

STENGEL, D.; WAHBY, S.; BRAUNBECK, T. In Search of a Comprehensible Set of Endpoints for the Routine Monitoring of Neurotoxicity in Vertebrates: Sensory Perception and Nerve Transmission in Zebrafish (Danio rerio) Embryos. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. Int.12:19 p. 2017.

TSAI, K.P.; CHEN, C. Y. An Algal Toxicity Database of Organic Toxicants Derived by a Closed-System Technique. Environ. Toxicol. Chem.26(9), 2007. 1931-1939 p.

WEBER, A.; CHRISTLIEB, T.; IRMER, U. Die Kombination eines Unkomplizierten Chemikalientoxizitatstests mit einem Multi-Spezies-Testsystem zur Erfassung Synergistischer und Sublethaler Effekte in Aquatischen Okosystemen. Forschungsbericht 03 7293, Bundesminister fur Forschung und Technologie. 1984.

WILKINSON, K; ELLIS, R.; FAINT, S.; HETHERINGTON J.; SKULL, A. The dictionary of substances and their effects. Second edition. Vol. 7. The royal society of chemistry, UK, 1999. 392 p.

YEN, J. H.; LIN, K. H.; WANG, Y.S. Acute Lethal Toxicity of Environmental Pollutants to Aquatic Organisms. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 52(2), 2002. 113-116 p.

YIN, D.; ZHU, H.; HU, P.; ZHAO, Q. Genotoxic effect of 2, 4, 6-trichlorophenol on P53 gene in zebrafish liver. Environmental toxicology and chemistry, 28(3), 2009. 603-608 p.

ZHANG, W.; XIONG, B.; SUN, W. F.; AN, S.; LIN, K. F.; GUO, M. J.; CUI, X. H. Acute and chronic toxic effects of bisphenol A on Chlorella pyrenoidosa and Scenedesmus obliquus. Environmental toxicology, 29(6), 2014. 714-722 p.